Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

Volume 11 • Number 7 • July 2012

Original Articles

Intrathoracic latissimus dorsi muscle transposition: a reliable technique for prevention of bronchopleural fistula developing after extrapleural pneumonectomy and external beam radiotherapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma Maged M. Elshafiey, Hisham A. El-hossieny, Ismail A. Mourad 373

Empirical studies about quercetin increasing chemosensitivity on human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549 Xuejun Zhan, Runxiang Zhang, Yanping Xu, Shuhua Yang, Daze Xie, Liwei Tan 380

Effect of radical surgery combined with pre- or postoperative radiotherapy in treatment of resectable rectal cancer Ehab Atif, Hanem Sakr, Saleh Teama, Dalia Zayed 384

Association between polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and human rectal tumor or liver cancer Guohong Jiang, Limin Lun, Liyuan Cong 391

Radiobiological effect of abdominal X-ray hypo-fraction irradiation on Wistar rats liver Peng Qi, Yongheng An, Hongsheng Yu, Xinjia He 395 EMBASE收录期刊 Index Copernicus收录期刊 SpringerLink收录期刊 中国科技论文统计源期刊 (中国科技核心期刊) 中国学术期刊综合评价数据库统计源期刊 万方数据-数字化期刊群收录期刊 中国期刊方阵双效期刊 中国抗癌协会系列期刊 CSCO团体会员期刊





ISSN 1610-1979 (Paper) 1613-9089 (Online) CN 42-1654/R

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

Volume 11 • Number 7 • July 2012





🖄 Springer

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

July 2012 Volume 11 Number 7

Contents

Original Articles

Intrathoracic latissimus dorsi muscle transposition: a reliable technique for prevention of bronchopleural fistula developing after extrapleural pneumonectomy and external beam radiotherapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma *Maged M. Elshafiey, Hisham A. El-hossieny, Ismail A. Mourad* 373

Empirical studies about quercetin increasing chemosensitivity on human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549

Xuejun Zhan, Runxiang Zhang, Yanping Xu, Shuhua Yang, Daze Xie, Liwei Tan 380

Effect of radical surgery combined with pre- or postoperative radiotherapy in treatment of resectable rectal cancer

Ehab Atif, Hanem Sakr, Saleh Teama, Dalia Zayed 384

Association between polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and human rectal tumor or liver cancer *Guohong Jiang, Limin Lun, Liyuan Cong* 391

Radiobiological effect of abdominal X-ray hypo-fraction irradiation on Wistar rats liver *Peng Qi, Yongheng An, Hongsheng Yu, Xinjia He* 395

Comparative analysis of therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stages postoperative patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma Li Zhao, Shuyao Zuo, Guoming Wang 399

Clinical outcome analysis of 98 elderly women with early-stage breast cancer undergoing modified radical mastectomy or simple mastectomy *Zhilong Jia, Baoxia Su* 403

Clinical significance of the negative lymph node count after the axillary dissection of breast cancer patients

Yufeng Yao, Jinhai Tang, Jianwei Qin, Jianping Gong 407

Recent achievements and acute toxicity after TP concurrent chemoradiotherapy for the advanced cervical cancer

Qinghua Ke, Shiqiong Zhou, Wei Du, Yong Lei, Min Huang, Fei Luo, Jiyuan Yang 411

Hematologic toxicity of gemcitabine: a comparison between fixed-dose rate infusion and thirty-minute infusion in the treatment of malignancy *Chunyan Li, Li Chu (Co-first author), Hui Han, Xi Liu, Yuping Shen, Mantang Qiu, Qing Xu* 414

Clinical application of OxyContin hydrochloride controlled release tablets in treatment of pain suffered from advanced cancer *Wenwu Wang, Xuenong OuYang, Zongyang Yu, Zhangshu Chen* 419

Case Reports

Right iliac fossa abscess as first manifestation of perforated adenocarcinoma of sigmoid: a rare case report

Mohammad Hossein Hajisadeghizadeh, Hamid Reza Soltani. G, Seyed Mohammad Reza Mortazavizadeh, Fatemeh Akhiri A 422

Adamantinoma of the pelvic bone, a difficult diagnosis with fatal outcome Binesh F, Abrisham J, Sobhan M, Navabii H, Vahidfar MR, Ashrafi K 425

Activities Report

Cancer Pain Master Class for China, 2012 was held in Beijing, Guangzhou and Shanghai 429

Information

Contribution Invitation of Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology 430

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

Honorary Editors-in-Chief

W.-W. Höpker (Hamburg) Mengchao Wu (Shanghai) Yan Sun (Beijing) Editors-in-Chief Anmin Chen (Wuhan) Shiving Yu (Wuhan) Anthony D. Ho (Heidelberg) Administrative Associate Editor-in-Chief Shukui Qin (Nanjing) Associate Editors-in-Chief Yilong Wu (Guangzhou) Hanxiang An (Marburg) Ping Zou (Wuhan) Steering Committees of Specialists Datong Chu (Beijing) Feili Gong (Wuhan) Zhongzhen Guan (Guangzhou) Junyuan Guo (Wuhan) Xishan Hao (Tianjin) Guoliang Jiang (Shanghai) Meilin Liao (Shanghai) Yunyi Liu (Hongkong) Shuyou Peng (Hangzhou) Wenjiang Shen (Beijing) Zhenzhou Shen (Shanghai) Santai Song (Beijing) Zhaoyou Tang (Shanghai) Hongyang Wang (Shanghai) Pengzhi Wang (Tianjin) Zaide Wu (Wuhan) Jiamei Yang (Shanghai) Zihao Yu (Beijing) Yixin Zeng (Guangzhou) Shu Zheng (Hangzhou)

Editorial Board

Norbert Arnold (Kiel) Gunther Bastert (Heidelberg) Matthias W. Beckmann (Erlangen) H. J. Biersack (Bonn) Hubert E. Blum (Freiburg)

Markus W. Büchler (Heidelberg) Joe Y. Chang (Houston) Charles S. Cleeland (Houston) Jörg F. Debatin (Heidelberg) Joachim W. Dudenhausen (Berlin) Gerhard Ehninger (Dresden) Reg Gorczynski (Toronto) Adolf Grünert (Ulm) A. R. Hanauske (Hamburg) Ch. Herfarth (Heidelberg) Dieter Hoelzer (Frankfurt) W. Hohenberger (Erlangen) Arnulf H. Hölscher (Cologne) Ulrich T. Hopt (Freiburg) Karl-Walter Jauch (Munich) Gary A. Levy (Toronto) Guojun Li (Houston) Lei Li (Houston) Zhongxing Liao (Houston) Dolores J. Schendel (Munich) Helmut K. Seitz (Heidelberg) J. R. Siewert (Heidelberg) Katherine A. Siminovitch (Toronto) Christof von Kalle (Heidelberg) Xin Shelley Wang (Houston) Qingyi Wei (Houston) Jingyi Zhang (Toronto) Sanjun Cai (Shanghai) Xiaoping Chen (Wuhan) Yuan Chen (Wuhan) Ying Cheng (Changchun) Zhonghua Chen (Wuhan) Ruifang Fan (Lanzhou) Weijian Feng (Beijing) Xiaolong Fu (Shanghai) Jianping Gong (Wuhan) Benli Han (Chongqing) Jian Hou (Shanghai) Daoyu Hu (Wuhan) Xichun Hu (Shanghai) Huigiang Huang (Guangzhou) Tao Huang (Wuhan) Zhiqiang Huang (Beijing) Jiafu Ji (Beijing)

Wengi Jiang (Guangzhou) Zefei Jiang (Beijing) Changshu Ke (Wuhan) Jinyi Lang (Chengdu) Kaijian Lei (Yibin) Ting Lei (Wuhan) Jin Li (Shanghai) Shenjiang Li (Tai'an) Shuling Li (Tianjin) Yexiong Li (Beijing) Ziting Li (Shanghai) Zhiyong Li (Dalian) Liu Wei (Shijiazhuang) Shun Lu (Shanghai) Lu You (Chengdu) Rongcheng Luo (Guangzhou) Ding Ma (Wuhan) Hongbing Ma (Xi'an) Jun Ma (Harbin) Shenglin Ma (Hangzhou) Huaging Min (Guangzhou) Xiaohui Niu (Beijing) Jun Ren (Beijing) Guanxin Shen (Wuhan) Lin Shen (Beijing) Zhixiang Shen (Shanghai) Qijia Shi (Wuhan) Yuankai Shi (Beijing) Yinggiang Shi (Shanghai) Lili Tang (Beijing) Dongmin Wang (Beijing) Guobin Wang (Wuhan) Huaging Wang (Tianjin) Lvhua Wang (Beijing) (Wuhan) Shixuan Wang Wenwu Wang (Fuzhou) Yuquan Wei (Chengdu) Gang Wu (Wuhan) Jianlin Wu (Dalian) Lingving Wu (Beijing) Liangping Xia (Guangzhou) Xiaodong Xie (Shenyang) Jianping Xiong (Nanchang) Binghe Xu (Beijing)

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

Ximing Xu (Wuhan) Yongjian Xu (Wuhan) Lvnan Yan (Chengdu) Baoming Yu (Shanghai) Ding Yu (Wuhan) Hongsheng Yu (Qingdao) Xiuchun Yu (Jinan) Guangjin Yuan (Huai'an) Li Zhang (Guangzhou) Lin Zhang (Wuhan) Qunhua Zhang (Shanghai) Qingyuan Zhang (Harbin) Yicheng Zhang (Wuhan) Yongxue Zhang (Wuhan) Xiuyi Zhi (Beijing) Caicun Zhou (Shanghai) Jianfeng Zhou (Wuhan) Liqiang Zhou (Beijing) Qinghua Zhou (Chengdu) Yunfeng Zhou (Wuhan) Guangying Zhu (Beijing) Jun Zhu (Beijing) Managing Directors Weiguo Dong Jun Xia Executive Editors Jun Xia Yening Wang Jing Chen Qiang Wu Typesetting Editor Wenge Wang

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology (《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》) 被EMBASE和Index Copernicus收录

《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》通过严格评审,于2010年被EMBASE和Index Copernicus收录。

EMBASE是由Elsevier公司出品,Excerpta Medica(荷兰《医学文摘》)的在线版本。涵盖70个国家/地区出版的3800多种期刊,覆盖各种疾病和药物的信息。

Index Copernicus (波兰《哥白尼索引》)是由Medical Science International (国际医学)创办的医药学、生物 学国际检索系统,以收集生物学、医药学内容为主。近年来逐步扩大收录的学科范围,同时收集数学、物理、 化学、地学等科学信息,成为世界性门户。每年,《哥白尼索引》根据期刊"科学质量"、"编辑质量"、"国际影响 力"、"按时发行"和"印刷质量"等评价标准对其收录期刊进行多参数的质量评价。

《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》进入EMBASE和Index Copernicus数据库,是对期刊整体水平的肯定。我们将以此为 契机,不断开拓进取,努力提高期刊影响力,更好地为肿瘤学研究人员服务!

自创刊以来,本刊已先后被SpringerLink数据库,中信所科技核心数据库,中国期刊全文数据库、万方数据 资源系统数字化期刊群、维普资讯网科技期刊数据库、中国学术期刊综合评价数据库、EMBASE、Index Copernicus等国内外重要检索系统收录。

在此,我们衷心感谢广大编委、作者、读者对本刊的大力支持,并欢迎国内外从事肿瘤学及其相关领域研究的科研工作者踊跃向本刊投递高质量的稿件。我们愿意竭尽所能为您服务,共同搭建一个与全世界科研工作者相 互交流的平台,使您的科研事业更上一级台阶!

Intrathoracic latissimus dorsi muscle transposition: a reliable technique for prevention of bronchopleural fistula developing after extrapleural pneumonectomy and external beam radiotherapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma

Maged M. Elshafiey¹, Hisham A. El-hossieny², Ismail A. Mourad¹

¹ Department of Surgical Oncology, National Cancer Institute, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt
 ² Department of Radiation Therapy, National Cancer Institute, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Received: 27 March 2012 / Revised: 20 April 2012 / Accepted: 25 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* Bronchopleural fistula (BPF) is a life threatening complication after pneumonectomy. Extra thoracic skeletal muscle transposition especially latissimus dorsi muscle flap (LDMF) had been used to prevent this complication. The aim of this study was to assess the effectiveness of LDMF in preventing BPF developing after extrapleural pneumonectomy (EPP) and external radiation therapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma (MPM). *Methods:* Between May 1999 and Dec. 2008, 37 patients with MPM were operated upon by EPP using LDMF prophylactically to reinforce the bronchial stump, and then received external radiation therapy with or without postoperative chemotherapy. *Results:* The mean age of all patients was 46.7 (range 26–57) years. Twenty five patients were males and 12 patients were females. Twenty three patients had MPM of the right side and 14 patients had MPM of the left side. The peri-operative mortality was 2.7% and only few flap related postoperative morbidity were reported in the form of minor seroma and subcutaneous surgical emphysema. The median follow up was 17 (range 9–43) months. All cases completed their postoperative external radiation therapy with no reported cases of early or late BPF. *Conclusion:* Intrathoracic pedicled LDMF transposition is proved to be effective in prevention of BPF developing after EPP and external radiation therapy in MPM and it is advised to be a routine step in EPP in these cases and to use more sophisticated technique of postoperative external beam radiotherapy (3D conformal or IMRT) to minimize this complication.

Key words malignant pleural mesothelioma (MPM); extrapleural pneumonectomy (EPP); latissimus dorsi muscle flap (LDMF); bronchopleural fistula (BPF)

Single modality treatment for malignant pleural mesothelioma (MPM), whether chemotherapy, radiation therapy or surgery was unable to prolong life by more than several months at best thus combined modality approaches were advised to improve the efficacy of treatment ^[1, 2]. The best results were achieved by combination of extrapleural pneumonectomy (EPP) with sequential postoperative chemotherapy and external radiation therapy. Patients who had epithelial mesothelioma and no mediastinal lymph node involvement at resection had a remarkable 5-year survival rate of 39% when treated with this combination of treatment modalities ^[1, 3, 4]. Pa-

Correspondence to: Hisham A. El-hossieny. Email: hishamelhossieny@yahoo.com tients with sarcomatous tumors or tumors with mixed histologic findings had 2- and 5-year survival rates of 20% and 0%, respectively.

We started to treat MPM by EPP in our institute (Department of Surgical Oncology, National Cancer Institute, Cairo University, Egypt) since 1996^[5]. In 1997 we started a protocol to treat MPM with EPP followed by external beam radiation therapy. The incidence of bronchopleural fistula (BPF) was high (33.3%) after this combination of treatment with high mortality rate of this complication (75%), so we did a modification of the technique of the operation to preserve the latissimus dorsi muscle during thoracotomy and use it as a pedicled flap to cover the bronchial stump. We prospectively followed up these cases to assess the effectiveness of this technique to prevent the development of early or late BPF after EPP followed by external beam radiation therapy, there were several approaches to integrate external beam radiotherapy postoperatively but the approach with the highest local control rate was that using high dose of irradiation reaching 50–54 Gy.

Patients and methods

The criteria determining eligibility for EPP in our study included: Age < 65 years, good performance state (PS) grade 1 according to Eastern Co-operative Oncology Group (ECOG) scale system, but stage I MPM determined by chest CT scan, forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1) greater than 2 L or predicted post-operative FEV1 greater than 1 L, preoperative partial pressure of $CO_2 < 45$ mmHg or a room air O_2 partial pressure > 55 mmHg, normal echocardiogram, normal kidney and hepatic functions and no previous pleural surgery e.g. partial pleurectomy.

Surgical technique

Our technique of EPP was similar to that described by Sugarbaker et al [6] but with some modifications. In the first of our study we used the standard posterolateral thoracotomy incision. At first we used to preserve the serratus anterior muscle but we cut the latissimus dorsi muscle. Later on we preserved both muscles. The anterior border of the latissimus dorsi muscle was identified. Superior and inferior subcutaneous flaps were raised superficial to the muscle fascia extending to its anterior and posterior borders. Dissection was started caudally to detach the muscle from its origin to ensure adequate length for proper tension free insertion within the thoracic cavity as excessive amount of shortening may occur once the muscle was released from its origin, then dissection was done towards the insertion of the muscle to identify the vascular pedicle of the flap and if effective length was needed the arc of rotation of the muscle was increased by cutting the muscle insertion. The thoracodorsal nerve was cut to avoid contraction of the muscle and traction on the bronchial stump. The muscle was then wrapped in a moist laparotomy pad to be used for transposition later on. The average time for harvesting the entire flap was approximately 30 min.

Closure of the bronchial stump was done manually in all cases. Long bronchial stumps were avoided. We put an atraumatic clamp distal to the line of division. The bronchus was sharply divided and bleeding on the divided margin was managed either by ligation or clip application of the bronchial arteries avoiding the use of diathermy electrocoagulation. The membranous wall was approximated to the cartilaginous wall with interrupted Prolene 3–0 avoiding tying of any sutures along the lateral side of the bronchus. The bronchial stump was submersed into warm physiologic saline to detect possible air leaks that were secured with additional interrupted sutures.

Systematic mediastinal lymph node dissection or sampling was performed in all cases. Paraesophageal, peri-diaphragmatic, and subcarinal nodal stations were examined for tumors located on the right or left side. Paratracheal nodes were examined for right-sided tumors, whereas aorto-pulmonary window and para-aortic nodes were examined for left sided tumors. The median number of dissected mediastinal lymph nodes was 9 (range: 3-24 nodes), while the median number of dissected hilar lymph nodes was 5 (range: 2-10 nodes). Mediastinal and/or hilar nodes were positive in 21 cases. Hilar nodes were positive in 8 cases. In one patient only the hilar nodes were positive while in the other 7 cases both hilar and mediastinal nodes were positive. The median number of positive mediastinal nodes was 2 (range: 1-7 nodes) and the median number of positive hilar nodes was 2 (range: 1–3 nodes).

At the completion of the EPP, counter incision was used to make a window in the 3rd intercostal space to transpose the latissimus dorsi muscle flap (LDMF) into the thoracic cavity taking care not to twist or apply undue tension on the vascular pedicle. The muscle was loosely tacked to cover the bronchial stump with several interrupted 3–0 vicryl sutures. The muscle donor site was closed into layers over two large pore (18 Fr) closed suction drains. Drains were frequently removed after 5–8 days. We routinely used one intercostal chest tube which was usually removed after 48 hours (Fig. 1).

Postoperative management

Postoperatively, patients were managed in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU). They were monitored for vital signs, respiratory rate, and oxygen saturation by continuous oximetry. Patients were placed on bed rest for 48 hours to facilitate mediastinal stabilization. The thoracic epidural catheter was used for the first 3 to 5 days to control pain and to help prevent atelectasis that may lead to respiratory compromise. A fluid restriction was enforced to prevent pulmonary edema. Desaturation of oxygen levels was treated with a combination of diuresis, chest physiotherapy, and bronchoscopy if required. Daily chest radiographs were routinely performed. To prevent aspiration, oral intake was not begun until there was clear evidence of gastric function (Fig. 2).

Management of BPF

If BPF was suspected a thoracic CT-scan and bronchoscopy were performed. Cultures from postpneumonectomy cavity & sputum were taken. Closed chest tube drainage was immediately performed. A 36 Fr chest tube was put and re-exploration was done once diagnosis was confirmed. Re-exploration was done through the previous thoracotomy incision followed by debridement and



Fig. 1 (a) Latissimus muscle was preserved during the posterolateral thoracotomy; (b) Latissimus muscle flap was retracted cephalad and a window was formed in the 3rd intercostal space; (c) Operative view after left EPP showing: 1, hilar structures; 2, descending aorta; (d) The latissimus muscle flap was passed through the window and used to cover the bronchial stump; (e) Costal surface of the left EPP specimen showing en-block resection with the previous biopsy scar; (f) Mediastinal surface of the same specimen showing: 1, hilar structures (opened main bronchus and tied pulmonary vessels); 2, diaphragmatic muscle

identification of the BPF. Trimming of the edge of the bronchial stump was done with closure with multiple interrupted 3–0 Prolene sutures augmented with pedicled serratus anterior muscle flap. A chest wall window was performed after resection of 2 segments of adjacent ribs.

Postoperative radiotherapy

Postoperative radiotherapy was administered 4–6 weeks after EPP. A dose of 5000 cGy was given to the tumor bed and ipsilateral supraclavicular area divided into 25 fractions in 5 weeks (200 cGy/fraction) using 6 MV photon beam, and separate electron beam field was used in 22 cases to a dose of 50 Gy over 25 fractions over 5 weeks using energy ranging from 6 to 12 Mev to include the remaining part of the scare which was not included in the photon field.

Field margins

Upper border: C7–D1 to cover the supraclavicular area. Lower border: 2 cm below level of left cupola of the dia-



Fig. 2 (a) Check film for left hemi thora plane; (b) Anterior projection of a typical field encompassing the right hemithorax

phragm in left sided lesions. On right sided lesions, liver was shielded from the start and the cupola of the diaphragm was irradiated by electrons after calculating the depth with CT scan. Medial border: Off cord i.e. 0.5–1 cm towards the surgery site to avoid spinal cord irradiation except in cases with positive mediastinal lymph nodes in which the mediastinum was irradiated and the cord dose was kept at 4000 cGy in 4 weeks. Lateral border: Lateral border encompassed the thoracic cage with a margin of 1 cm. An added separate electron beam field was used for the operative scar or drain sites.

Postoperative chemotherapy

It was started within 12–14 weeks after surgery in 23 patients were given every 3 weeks for 6 cycles, 15 patients received holoxan and adriamycin, and 8 received gem and cisplat.

Results

We started surgical treatment of MPM in our Institute since 1996. Between Jan. 1996 and May 1999, 43 patients fulfilled our criteria of EPP however EPP was done only in 29 patients (Group A). Six patients refused the operation and in 11 patients the tumor was limited and could be completely excised with less radical procedures. The perioperative mortality (within 30 days postoperatively) in Group A was 13.8% (4/29). The causes of intraoperative and early postoperative mortality were excessive intraoperative bleeding (2 cases), cardiac herniation (1 case), pneumonia of the other lung (1 case). One case developed BPF 6 weeks after right EPP and the patient developed severe aspiration pneumonia. Chest tube was inserted but the patient developed respiratory failure and put on mechanical ventilation and with selective intubation of the left lung and the patient died after 5 days. Other major complications were encountered in 4 patients but could be managed properly. Three cases developed atrial arrhythmia while one case developed BPF. The latter case presented with BPF after 8 weeks from left EPP. Chest tube was inserted then re-exploration was done with proper debridement of the necrotic tissues and Prolen mesh re-

Table 1 Incidence of BPF after EPP in relation to side of tumor and postoperative radiotherapy
--

	Frequency of G	roup A (13 cases + 12 cases)	Frequency of Group B (36 cases)
	EPP alone*	EPP + external radiotherapy	EPP with pedicled LDMF + external radiotherapy
Right-sided tumor	9	9	22
Right BPF (n)	1	4	0
BPF (%)	11.1	44.4	0
Left-sided tumor	4	3	14
Left BPF (n)	1	0	0
BPF (%)	25	0	0
Total (n)	13*	12	36**

* EPP alone was done in 17 cases. Four cases with early perioperative mortality (within one week) were excluded; ** EPP with pedicled LDMF was done in 37 cases. One case died in the early postoperative period and did not receive postoperative radiotherapy excluded; i. e. The total number of patients who received postoperative external beam radiotherapy was 48 cases

moval then bronchial closure was done with reinforcement with serratus anterior muscle flap. In 12 patients of Group A, external beam radiation therapy was given after EPP. The incidence of BPF after EPP alone and after EPP and radiotherapy was presented in Table 1.

The overall incidence of BPF in Group A was 24% (6/25) after excluding the 4 cases that died intraoperatively or in the early postoperative period. While the incidence of BPF was 15.4% after EPP alone (2/13) it was 44.4% in the group that undergone right EPP and postoperative external radiation therapy (4/9). In these 4 cases chest tubes were immediately inserted and proper antibiotics were given. One patient developed severe pneumonia and died while the remaining 3 patients were re-explored with reclosure of the bronchial stump and reinforcement with pedicled serratus anterior muscle flaps. Only one patient survived while the other 2 patients developed respiratory failure and were put on ventilatory support. They died 2 and 5 days after the re-exploration. To avoid this fatal complication we modified our surgical technique with preservation of the latissimus dorsi muscle during thoracotomy then using it as a pedicled flap to cover the bronchial stump as a prophylactic measure of BPF. Between May 1999 and December 2008, 37 patients underwent EPP using this modification (Group B). One patient developed postoperative pulmonary edema and pneumonia of the contralateral lung and died on the 8th postoperative day. The remaining 36 cases developed only minor flap related complications in the form of minor seroma and subcutaneous surgical emphysema in 8 cases. The alive 36 cases in Group B received postoperative radiotherapy and 23 patients received postoperative chemotherapy. The median follow up of our cases in Group B was 17 (range 9-43) months. All cases completed their postoperative external radiation therapy with no reported cases of early or late BPF.

Regarding radiotherapy induced acute toxicity it was found that all patients developed grades 2–3 oesophagitis which was easily managed and 80% of patients developed dry skin desquamation while 20% developed wet desquamation of the skin included in the radiation fields which was treated easily without delay.

Discussion

Pleural mesothelioma is a rare fatal disease which is mainly related to asbestos exposure ^[7–9]. The majority of MPM cases in our study (92.5%) were born or living in Elmaasara, Shobra Elkhema, Elhwamdia, and Hadayek Helwan. The above data are explained by the fact that these areas lie in the vicinity of factories that were using asbestos in industry till the early years in the last decade in our country. Although the Egyptian Minister of Foreign Trade and Industry prohibited the import and manufacture of all types of asbestos and asbestos materials in 2006 ^[10], we expect to face many new cases with MPM for further 30–40 years (the latency period between exposure to asbestos and developing the disease). So the trials to reach the best management of this fatal disease should not be stopped.

Multimodality therapy is still the hope in the management of MPM. Chemotherapy and radiation therapy alone cannot deal with the bulk of the disease, although they may play a role as adjuvant therapy. EPP facilitates giving postoperative radiation therapy at high doses especially if done with our new technique using pedicled LDMF.

The mortality rates following EPP were unacceptably high in the 1970s, with a 31% mortality reported by Butchart *et al* ^[11]. In a prospective multi-institutional study, the mortality rate was 15% ^[12]. However, single institution retrospective studies in which patients had been carefully selected reported lower mortality rates. Rusch and Venkatraman ^[13] reported a perioperative mortality of 6% (3/50) after EPP and Grondin and Sugarbaker ^[14] reported a perioperative mortality of 3.8% (7/183) after EPP. In our study the perioperative mortality rate in the 1st 29 patients (Group A) was high 13.8% (4/29). The causes were theoretically preventable including 2 cases of intraoperative hemorrhage, one case of left cardiac herniation and one case of pneumonia of the other lung. The perioperative mortality in the following 37 patients (Group B) was 2.7% with only one mortality in the early postoperative period due to pulmonary edema and chest infection of the contra-lateral lung.

Good monitoring of patients during EPP is mandatory with adequate blood replacement when indicated to avoid irreversible shock. At first we used to repair large pericardial defects on the right side only but later on we repaired large pericardial defects whether on the right or left sides by a permeable mesh. It is reported in the literature that cardiac herniation is rare in the left side and that there is no need to repair large left pericardial defects. However, we lost a patient because of cardiac herniation on the left side which occurred immediately postoperatively. Upon turning the patient on his back sudden arrest occurred. Immediate re-exploration was done, the patient was resuscitated, and the pericardial defect was repaired with Prolene mesh. Unfortunately the patient did not recover and died 3 hours after the operation. Patients should be examined carefully preoperatively for the possibility of mitral valve disease. Fluid balance should be monitored carefully intraoperatively, and in the postoperative period to avoid the risk of pulmonary edema.

BPF is a life threatening septic and ventilatory catastrophe after pneumonectomy. The reported incidence of postoperative BPF varied from 0.8% to 28% [15-21]. The reported incidence of BPF after EPP in MPM was 3%–20% ^[22]. Many risk factors are claimed to increase the incidence of BPF after pneumonectomy including, right sided pneumonectomy, preoperative chemotherapy and/ or radiotherapy, postoperative radiotherapy, preoperative infection, postoperative mechanical ventilation, postoperative pneumonia, presence of underlying lung diseases, poor predicted post-pneumonectomy forced expiratory volume in 1 second, long bronchial stump, extended resection, disrupted bronchial blood supply, tumor at bronchial stump margin, chronic malnutrition, perioperative transfusion, insulin dependent diabetes and old age [16-21, 23-25]

In our study the overall incidence of BPF in the group that undergone EPP without LDMF (Group A) was 24% (6/25) after excluding the 4 cases that died intraoperatively or in the immediate postoperative period. While the incidence of BPF was 15.4% after EPP alone (2/13) it was 44.4% in the group that undergone right EPP and postoperative external radiation therapy (4/9). In the group that undergone EPP with prophylactic LDMF (Group B), apart from the case that died in the early postoperative external radiation therapy with no reported cases of early or late BPF. Many years ago, Sweet ^[26] emphasizes the principles of bronchial closure including minimal bronchial trauma, preservation of blood supply to the cut end and adequate tissue reinforcement of the bronchial suture line. There is still controversy about the best type of bronchial closure whether to use the manual or mechanical method. Some surgeons report a low percentage of fistulas developed by manual closure [18], while others reported that mechanical staplers were superior to manual closure ^[23]. Manual closure may be at least as good as stapled closure [24, 27] but more important, it can always be performed in cases when stapled closure is difficult or should be avoided ^{[27,} ^{28]}. The stapler is difficult to apply when the bronchial wall is hard due to calcification of the cartilage or when massive hilar lymphadenopathy co-exist [29] and it is contraindicated when the bronchus is thickened, inflamed or of insufficient length [28]. In our study all cases of bronchial closure was done by manual closure using interrupted Prolene 3/0 sutures. Sweet principles of bronchial closure were respected ^[26]. Using the LDMF as reinforcement to the bronchial stump suture line in Group B was effective in preventing early or late BPF in all cases.

The occurrence of BPF is still associated with high mortality rates ranging from 25% to 71.2% and the most common cause of death is aspiration pneumonia with subsequent acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) ^[17, 19, 24]. Mortality of BPF is higher after right pneumonectomy 44% than left pneumonectomy 33% ^[20]. Postoperative BPF is divided into early and late according to the time of occurrence. Early BPF occurs within a month after the operation ^[21]. Early BPF is more dangerous than late BPF. The incidence of aspiration pneumonia declines sharply if BPF occurs more than 3 months after operation. Formation of fibrothorax apparently represents a natural protection against fistula formation and subsequent fatal aspiration pneumonia ^[24, 30]. In our study BPF developed in 6 patients with high mortality rate of 66.6% (4/6).

To prevent postpneumonectomy BPF, coverage of the bronchial stump is recommended in patients with possible risk factors especially for patients treated with neoadjuvant and/ or adjuvant chemotherapy or radiochemotherapy ^[15, 27, 31]. There is still controversy about the indications and different techniques of bronchial stump coverage to prevent postoperative BPF. Many surgeons prefer to cover all stumps after right pneumonectomies ^[23, 24]. In left sided pneumonectomies the bronchial stump retracts and is covered by the aorta and surrounding tissues thus some surgeons recommend to leave the left side stump uncovered except for high risk patients where closure of the bronchus was performed manually ^[23], however, others advocate the need for routine coverage on the left side as well ^[18, 32].

A great variety of tissues has been used for bronchial stump reinforcement using both intra- or extra-thoracic tissues. Intra-thoracic tissues include the parietal pleura, pericardium, intercostal muscles and diaphragmatic flaps ^[15, 33–35]. Intrathoracic transposition of an extrathoracic muscle to buttress repair of BPF was first described in 1911 by Abrashanoff^[36]. For many decades following, extrathoracic muscle flap transposition has been utilized to obliterate potential pleural space problems especially of chronic infections and to reinforce bronchial stumps for prevention or treatment of BPF. The chest wall skeletal muscles most frequently used have been latissimus dorsi, serratus anterior and pectoralis major muscles ^[25, 37-40]. Other extrathoracic pedicled flaps included the pedicled rectus abdominis muscle and the pedicled omentum ^[37, 41].

In MPM some flaps are not suitable for bronchial stump reinforcement. Pleura is involved by the tumor and resected. The pericardium may be also involved by the tumor and may be resected. Extrapleural dissection preserving an intact well vascularized intercostal muscle flap is problematic. The azygos vein flap was used in 3 cases out of the 5 cases of right EPP who developed BPF in our study and not effective in preventing the development of BPF. The pedicled LDMF is the most commonly used chest wall skeletal muscle as it can be sacrificed without affecting much the patient's shoulder or arm function while serratus anterior and pectoralis major muscles are not entirely expendable. Sacrificing the serratus anterior muscle will lead to winging of the scapula and inability to elevate the arm above the horizontal plane [38] while sacrificing the pectoralis major muscle will lead to loss of the anterior axillary fold and subsequent contour deformity of the chest wall [38]. The pedicled rectus abdominis and omentum are less suitable than the pedicled LDMF because they require separate abdominal wound and may lead to hernia formation, deformity of the abdominal wall or abdominal spread of the tumor.

Although BPF is more common after right EPP, we routinely used the prophylactic pedicled LDMF for augmentation of the bronchial stump after right or left EPP considering the minor complications of this technique and the difficult management of BPF with high fatality rate.

Conclusions

EPP can be done safely with low mortality and morbidity in selected patients. Old aged patients, those with cardiac problems, and those with poor respiratory functions which do not improve after intercostal tube is put, should be excluded of EPP. A main item in the safety of EPP is the co-operation between anesthetic and surgical teams. The postoperative period is critical and patients should be closely monitored and if complications develop they should be properly managed. Prophylactic pedicled LDMF after EPP is a safe reliable technique to prevent BPF with minor complications, also it is recommended to use more sophisticated technique of external beam radiotherapy (3D conformal or IMRT) for proper shielding for the bronchial stump to minimize this complication also to allow safe completeness of adjuvant radiotherapy.

References

- Sugarbaker DJ, Jaklitsch MT, Liptay MJ. Mesothelioma and radical multimodality therapy: who benefits? Chest, 1995, 107: 345S–350S.
- Keller SM. Adjuvant therapy for malignant pleural mesothelioma. Chest Surg Clin N Am, 1994, 4: 127–135.
- Sugarbaker DJ, Heher EC, Lee TH, et al. Extrapleural pneumonectomy, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy in the treatment of diffuse malignant pleural mesothelioma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 1991, 102: 10–14.
- Sugarbaker DJ, Norberto JJ. Multimodality management of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Chest, 1998, 113: 615–65S.
- Mourad I. Extrapleural pneumonectomy in the treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Sc J Az Med Fac (Girls), 2001, 21: 675–691.
- Sugarbaker DJ, Mentzer SJ, Strauss G. Extrapleural pneumonectomy in the treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Ann Thorac Surg, 1992, 54: 941–946.
- Selikoff IJ, Churg J, Hammond EC. Relation between exposure to asbestos and mesothelioma. N Engl J Med, 1965, 272: 560–565.
- Marinaccio A, Binazzi A, Marzio DD, *et al.* Pleural malignant mesothelioma epidemic: incidence, modalities of asbestos exposure and occupations involved from the Italian National Register. Int J Cancer, 2012, 130: 2146–2154.
- Gaafar RM, Eldin NH. Epidemic of mesothelioma in Egypt. Lung Cancer, 2005, 49 Suppl 1: S17–S20.
- Gaafar RM. Asbestos and mesothelioma in Egypt. Affiliat J Thorac Oncol, 2007, 2: S597.
- Butchart EG, Ashcroft T, Barnsley WC, et al. Pleuropneumonectomy in the management of diffuse malignant mesothelioma of the pleura. Experience with 29 patients. Thorax, 1976, 31: 15–24.
- Rusch VW, Piantadosi S, Holmes EC. The role of extrapleural pneumonectomy in malignant pleural mesothelioma. A Lung Cancer Study Group trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 1991, 102: 1–9.
- Rusch VW, Venkatraman E. The importance of surgical staging in the treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 1996, 111: 815–825.
- Grondin SC, Sugarbaker DJ. Pleuropneumonectomy in the treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Chest, 1999, 116: 450S–454S.
- Lindner M, Hapfelmeier A, Morresi-Hauf A, et al. Bronchial stump coverage and postpneumonectomy bronchopleural fistula. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann, 2010, 18: 443–449.
- Cerfolio RJ. The incidence, etiology, and prevention of postresectional bronchopleural fistula. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 2001, 13: 3–7.
- Sirbu H, Busch T, Aleksic I, et al. Bronchopleural fistula in the surgery of non-small cell lung cancer: incidence, risk factors, and management. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 2001, 7: 330–336.
- Hubaut JJ, Baron O, Al Habash O, *et al.* Closure of the bronchial stump by manual suture and incidence of bronchopleural fistula in a series of 209 pneumonectomies for lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 1999, 16: 418–423.
- Haraguchi S, Koizumi K, Hioki M, *et al.* Analysis of risk factors for postpneumonectomy bronchopleural fistulas in patients with lung cancer. J Nihon Med Sch, 2006, 73: 314–319.
- Johnston M, Waddell TK, Pierre A, et al. Risk of a right pneumonectomy: role of bronchopleural fistula. Ann Thorac Surg, 2005, 79:

Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, July 2012, Vol. 11, No. 7

379

433-437.

- Algar FJ, Alvarez A, Aranda JL, et al. Prediction of early bronchopleural fistula after pneumonectomy: a multivariate analysis. Ann Thorac Surg, 2001, 72: 1662–1667.
- Antman KH, Schiff PB, Pass HI. Benign and malignant mesothelioma. In: Cancer principles & practice of oncology, 5th ed., edited by DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers. 1997.
- Panagopoulos ND, Apostolakis E, Koletsis E, et al. Low incidence of bronchopleural fistula after pneumonectomy for lung cancer. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg, 2009, 9: 571–575.
- Asamura H, Naruke T, Tsuchiya R, et al. Bronchopleural fistulas associated with lung cancer operations. Univariate and multivariate analysis of risk factors, management, and outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 1992, 104: 1456–1464.
- Mourad I. Latissimus dorsi muscle transposition in prevention of bronchopleural fistula after high risk lung resection. Minoufia Med J, 2008, 21: 219–222.
- Sweet R. Closure of the bronchial stump following lobectomy or pneumonectomy. Surgery, 1945, 18: 82–84.
- Wright CD, Wain JC, Mathisen DJ, et al. Postpneumonectomy bronchopleural fistula after sutured bronchial closure: incidence, risk factors, and management. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 1996, 112: 1367–1371.
- Vester SR, Faber LP, Kittle CF, *et al.* Bronchopleural fistula after stapled closure of bronchus. Ann Thorac Surg, 1991, 52: 1253–1257.
- Asamura H, Kondo H, Tsuchiya R. Management of the bronchial stump in pulmonary resections: a review of 533 consecutive recent bronchial closures. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 2000, 17: 106–110.
- Hollaus PH, Lax F, El-Nashef BB, et al. Natural history of bronchopleural fistula after pneumonectomy: a review of 96 cases. Ann Thorac Surg, 1997, 63: 1391–1396.
- 31. Deschamps C, Pairolero PC, Allen MS, et al. Management of postpneumonectomy empyema and bronchopleural fistula. Chest Surg

Clin N Am, 1996, 6: 519–527.

- Klepetko W, Taghavi S, Pereszlenyi A, *et al.* Impact of different coverage techniques on incidence of postpneumonectomy stump fistula. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 1999, 15: 758–763.
- Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS, Yamamuro M. Intercostal muscle flap to buttress the bronchus at risk and the thoracic esophageal-gastric anastomosis. Ann Thorac Surg, 2005, 80: 1017–1020.
- Lardinois D, Horsch A, Krueger T, *et al.* Mediastinal reinforcement after induction therapy and pneumonectomy: comparison of intercostal muscle versus diaphragm flaps. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 2002, 21: 74–78.
- Taghavi S, Marta GM, Lang G, *et al.* Bronchial stump coverage with a pedicled pericardial flap: an effective method for prevention of postpneumonectomy bronchopleural fistula. Ann Thorac Surg, 2005, 79: 284–288.
- Abrashanoff X. Plastische methode des schliessung von fistelgangen, welche von inneren organen kommen [in German]. Zentralbl Chir, 1911, 38: 186–191.
- Dosios T, Papadopoulos O, Mantas D, et al. Pedicled myocutaneous and muscle flaps in the management of complicated cardiothoracic problems. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg, 2003, 37: 220–224.
- Harris SU, Nahai F. Intrathoracic muscle transposition. Surgical anatomy and techniques of harvest. Chest Surg Clin N Am, 1996, 6: 501–518.
- Widmer MK, Krueger T, Lardinois D, et al. A comparative evaluation of intrathoracic latissimus dorsi and serratus anterior muscle transposition. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 2000, 18: 435–439.
- Abolhoda A, Bui TD, Milliken JC, *et al.* Pedicled latissimus dorsi muscle flap: routine use in high-risk thoracic surgery. Tex Heart Inst J, 2009, 36: 298–302.
- Chichevatov D, Gorshenev A. Omentoplasty in treatment of early bronchopleural fistulas after pneumonectomy. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann, 2005, 13: 211–216.

Empirical studies about quercetin increasing chemosensitivity on human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549*

Xuejun Zhan¹, Runxiang Zhang², Yanping Xu¹, Shuhua Yang¹, Daze Xie¹, Liwei Tan¹

¹ Key Laboratory of Biological Medical, Jiangxi Institute of Medical Science, Nanchang 330006, China
 ² Department of Laboratory, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, Nanchang 330006, China

Received: 12 March 2012 / Revised: 20 April 2012 / Accepted: 15 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Objective: The present study was designed to investigate whether quercetin exerts increasing chemosensitivity on human lung adenocarcinoma cells when quercetin combined with cisplatin (DDP) and vincristine (VCR) *in vitro* respectively and its possible antitumor mechanism. To provide experimental proof for clinical combination application. **Methods:** Using intermittent administration of high dose VCR, human lung adenocarcinoma sensitive cell line (A549/S) was induced to VCR-resistant human lung adenocarcinoma cell line (A549/VCR). MTT assay was adapted for examing the 50% inhibition (IC₅₀) value of DDP and VCR on A549/S and A549/VCR when quercetin combined with DDP and VCR respectively. **Results:** IC₅₀ of DDP on A549/S and A549/VCR was 10.18 and 12.35 mg/L, and the IC₅₀ of VCR on the two cell lines was 1.21 and 12.77 mg/L, respectively. The resistance fold of A549/VCR on VCR and DDP was 10.55 and 1.21, respectively. When quercetin at concentration of 50, 100 and 200 µmol/L in combination with DDP and VCR respectively, the IC₅₀ of DDP and VCR on A549/S and A549/VCR were obvious decreased (P < 0.05 - P < 0.01). **Conclusion:** The experiment results suggested that quercetin could increase the chemosensitivity and partly revise the resistance of A549/VCR.

Key words quercetin (Que); A549 lung adenocarcinoma cell line; cisplatin (DDP); vincristine (VCR); increase chemosensitivity

Quercetin (Que) distribute widely fruit, vegetable, beverage, tea and various Chinese herbal medicine. It has definite multiple biological activities and pharmacological actions including to dilate coronary artery, reduce blood-lipid, anti-platelet aggregation, anti-oxidization and free radicle removing, anti-inflamation, ananaphylaxis and so on ^[1,2]. Besides, Que is known as yet to be one of the most powerful effective ingredient of anti-cancer Chinese medicine^[3]. Lung cancer is the incidence higher of respiratory tract tumor in China. Chemotherapy is one of the majory treatment for lung cancer. But failure of chemotherapy greatly results from the resistance against chemotherapeutic reagents in lung cancer cells. The purpose of the experiment is to observate the effects of Que combination two chemotherapeutics [cisplatin (DDP) or vincristine (VCR)] on human lung adenocarcinoma sensitive cell line (A549/S) and VCR resistant cell line (A549/ VCR), and investigate whether Que increase the chemosensitivity of A549 adenocarcinoma cells in vitro.

Materials and methods

Reagents and instruments

PRMI 1640 medium was purchased from Hydone USA.; bovine calf serum (Fcs) from Sijiqing Bioengineering Co. Ltd. (China); Que from Jiukang Chemical industry Co. Ltd. (China); VCR sulfate for injection from Haizheng Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (China); DDP injection from Gejiu Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (China); methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium (MTT) from Junyao Bio-technology Co. Ltd. (China); 96-wells tissue culture plate from JET Biochemicals Int'I., Inc. (Canada); Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) from Shanghai. ST-36 ELISA Reader from Shanghai; Model 6000 water jacket CO₂ incubator from USA.

Tumor cells culture and establishment of resistance cell line

Human lung adenocarcinoma sensitive cell line (A549/ S) was gifted from Professor Keng Yuan of Jiangxi Institute of Medical Science, China.

Correspondence to: Xuejun Zhan. Email: zhanxuejun@yahoo.com.cn * Supported by a grant from the Health Department of Jiangxi Province for Science Technical Program Foundation (No. 2005-22A).

A549/S cells were subcultured in PRMI 1640 medium with 10% Fcs, penicilin 1.0×10^5 U/L, streptomycin 100 mg/L and maintained in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37 °C with 95% humidity after the cells recovered. The cells were divided bottles subcultured after trypsinization when the cells grew well.

A549/S was induced to vincristine-resistant cell line (A549/VCR) by using intermittent administration of high dose VCR ^[4]. When A549/S cells were in the logarithmic growth phase, VCR was added to the medium to a final concentration of 5 mg/L. After one h incubation, supernatants of containing VCR were discarded. Centrifugation (1000 rpm/min) for collecting cells and adjust cells number to 1.0×10^6 /L after 0.25% trypsinization. The cells were anew suspended in PRMI 1640 medium without VCR and continuing culture for several generations. When the cells grew well, the above-mentioned trails were replicated until the cells could be growth stably in 0.6 mg/L VCR complete medium and continual subculturing. The cell line was used for experiments after two weeks of culture in drug-free.

Increasing chemosensitivity of Que on A549/S and A549/VCR cell lines using MTT assay

Experiment grouping A549/S and A549/VCR cells suspension $(1.0 \times 10^8/L, 160 \,\mu\text{L})$ in the logarithmic growth phase were inoculated in 96-well plate. After the cells were adherent, five groups were assigned.

(1) DDP group was treated with DDP at concentrations of 0.6, 1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/L, respectively.

(2) Combined Que with DDP group was treated with Que and DDP. The final concentration of Que was 25, 50, 100 and 200 μ mol/L, respectively and concentration of DDP was the same as DDP group.

(3) VCR group was treated with VCR at concentrations of 1.0, 3.0, 5.0 and 10.0 mg/L, respectively.

(4) Combined Que with VCR group was treated with Que and VCR. The final concentration of Que was the same as combined Que with DDP group and concentration of VCR was the same as VCR group.

(5) Tumor cell control group was treated with PRMI 1640 medium.

Three parallel bores were designed in each concentration of the above every group. PRMI 1640 medium that the tumor cells had not been inoculated was added in adjustment zero bore.

Above every group cells were incubated maintaining in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37 °C with 95% humidity. After 68 hours, 20 μ L MTT (5 mg/L) was added each bore for 4-h incubation. Then 150 μ L DMSO was added. The plate was oscillated for 10 min by micro-oscillator in order to dissolve formazan fully.

The optical density at 570 nm (OD_{570}) were measured using a ELISA Reader. IC₅₀ was calculated according as

linear regression equation.

Cells growth inhibition rate = 1 – [(Drug bore OD value – adjustment zero bore OD value) / (Control bore OD value – adjustment zero bore OD value)].

Increasing chemosensitivity fold = IC_{50} of chemotherapeutic group / IC_{50} of (Que + chemotherapeutic group).

Statistical analysis

The significance of difference between chemotherapeutic group and combined Que with chemotherapeutic group was determined by the coverage *t*-test using the SPSS 11.5 software. A value of P < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Establishment of VCR resistance cell line (A549/VCR)

A VCR-resistance cell line A549/VCR (resistant to VCR 0.6 mg/L) was established by intermittent administration of high dose VCR after 6 months. The VCR-resistant cell line (A549/VCR) could long subcultured maintaining in 0.6 mg/L VCR and the cells grew well. The resistance fold of A549/VCR to VCR and DDP was 10.55 and 1.21, respectively.

Que increasing the chemosensitivity of A549/S and A549/VCR cell lines

According to the results of MTT assay, Que in different concentration could decreased IC₅₀ value of DDP on A549/S and A549/VCR (Table 1), VCR on the two cell lines in varying degrees, respectively (Table 2). There was no significant difference of the increasing chemosensitivity folds between Que on A549/S and A549/VCR when Que of difference concentration combined with DDP (P > 0.05; Table 1). But the increasing chemosensitivity fold of Que on A549/S was significantly higher than A549/VCR when Que at concentration of 50, 100, 200 µmol/L combined with VCR (P < 0.05 - P < 0.01; Table 2).

Discussion

Small molecular natural compounds have been a hot topic of anti-tumor research in home and abroad. As natural small molecular flavonoid drug, Que has positive antitumor effects as others flavonoids drugs, for instance, casticin and celastrus orbiculatus thunb ^[1,5,6]. In recent years scholars of domestic and abroad have a lot of researched about Que anti-tumor. The research show that Que has not only chemopreventive effect on tumor ^[7], but also to inhibit the proliferation of human various tumor cells ^[8,9]. Que can to promote differentiation of tumor cells ^[10] and induce the cells apoptosis ^[11]. Que also able revise multidrug resistance of the resistant tumor cells ^[1,12]. There is a

 Table 1
 Comparing with IC₅₀ value (mg/L) between DDP group and combined Que with DDP group

Cell line		DDP group	Combined Que with DDP group					
		DDF gloup	Que 25 µmol/L		Que 100 µmol/L	Que 200 µmol/L		
A549/S	DDP IC ₅₀ value	10.18 ± 1.77	8.47 ± 1.72⊿	5.04 ± 0.14*	3.13 ± 0.18*	2.66 ± 0.78*		
	Increasing sensitivity fold		1.20	2.02	3.25	3.83		
A549/VCR	DDP IC ₅₀ value Increasing sensitivity fold	12.35 ± 0.50	10.89 ± 1.17⊿ 1.13⊿	5.84 ± 0.65* 2.11⊿	3.71 ± 0.97* 3.33⊿	3.19 ± 0.33* 3.87		

Combined Que with DDP group vs DDP group: $^{\triangle}P > 0.05$, * P < 0.05, * P < 0.01; comparing with increasing sensitivity folds, Que to A549/VCR vs Que to A549/S: $^{\triangle}P > 0.05$

Table 2	Comparing with IC ₅₀ value	e (mg/L) between VCR group	p and combined Que with VCR group

Cell line			Combined Que with VCP group					
		VCR group	Que 25 µmol/L	Que 50 µmol/L	Que 100 µmol/L	Que 200 µmol/L		
A549/S	VCR IC ₅₀ value	1.21 ± 0.25	0.93 ± 0.13⊿	0.51 ± 0.10*	0.38 ± 0.09*	0.28 ± 0.08*		
	Increasing sensitivity fold		1.30	2.37	3.18	4.32		
A549/VCR	VCR IC ₅₀ value Increasing sensitivity fold	12.77 ± 0.35	10.53 ± 0.77⊿ 1.21⊿	7.34 ± 0.64* 1.74*	5.45 ± 0.72* 2.34*	4.15 ± 0.24* 3.08*		

Combined Que with VCR group vs VCR group: $^{\triangle}P > 0.05$, $^{\star}P < 0.05$, $^{\star}P < 0.01$; comparing with increasing sensitivity folds, Que to A549/VCR vs Que to A549/S: $^{\triangle}P > 0.05$, $^{\star}P < 0.05$, $^{\star}P < 0.01$

synergistic effect when Que combined with chemotherapeutic drugs to treat tumor ^[13].

In this study the increasing the chemosensitivity of Que on A549/S and A549/VCR cell lines is assayed by MTT when Que combined with DDP or VCR. The research results show there were significant differences between the IC₅₀ value of DDP group and combined Que with DDP group on A549/S and A549/VCR, VCR group and combined Que with VCR group on the two cell lines when Que at concentration of 50, 100, 200 µmol/L combined with DDP and VCR, respectively (P < 0.05 - P < 0.01). The experiment results suggest that Que can increasing chemosensitivity of DDP and VCR on the two cell lines. Its increasing sensitivity effect is in dose-dependent manner. And Que can partly revised resistance of A549/VCR by the increasing chemosensitivity of Que on the resistant cell line.

DDP and VCR are conventional chemotherapeutic drugs of clinical treatment for tumor. The two drugs have a certain effective for middle and later period tumor. But there are some toxicity and side-effects including alimentary reaction, kidney toxicity, inhibiting marrow and acoustic nerve damage, etc ^[14, 15]. And the toxicity and side-effects are related to the drugs dose. This study reveals that the doses of DDP and VCR can be decreased when Que combine with DDP or VCR. Thereby the toxicity and side-effects of the drugs are reduced.

The possible mechanisms of the increasing chemosensitivity of Que on tumor cells are to make that tumor cells stay in cell cycle of chemotherapy sensitivity; degradation rate of drugs *in vivo* and cells are reduced; it has increased to uptake rate and target distribution of drugs to tumor tissue; it has also enhanced to resist of normal tissue to side-effect of drugs ^[16].

Because of the resource of Que is abundant and has both various biological activities and pharmacological actions. As the drugs of anti-cardiovascular disease, Que has been applied in clinic. Its toxicity is a little whether oral or intravenous injection. Que protects renal tubular epithelial cells from damage toxicity in vitro [17]. Hence it may be applied to chemotherapy of tumor when Que combines with chemotherapeutic drugs and has extensive application foreground and development values. But at present the most researches about Que anti-tumor have only staied in cell and animal experiment stage, and results of clinical study are minority. Besides, the oral absorb rate is influenced because its water-soluble is shortage. So in order to enhance the oral absorb rate of Que, it seems to be particularly important to increase its polarity by improving biological conformation of Que. It still need further study about the molecular mechanism of the combination of Que and chemotherapeutic drugs anti-tumor effects.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Department of Anti-tumor Research in Jiangxi Institute of Medical Science for technical assistance.

References

- Yang SL, Wang YX, Pan XL, *et al.* The status of Chinese medicine in reversingmulti-drug resistance of hepatocellular carcinoma. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2011, 10: 541–546
- Reiterer G, Toborek M, Hennig B. Quercetin protects against linoleic acid-induced porcine endothelial cell dysfunction. J Nutr, 2004, 134: 771–775.
- Murakami A, Ashida H, Terao J. Mutitargeted cancer prevention by quercetin. Cancer Lett, 2008, 269: 315–325.

- Zhang XD, Gong AC, Jing XW, et al. Establishment of human multidrug resistant hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HCC-7721/VCR. J Fourth Mili Med Univ (Chinese), 2005, 25: 502–504.
- Xie J, Bai J, Sheng XF, et al. Proliferation inhibition of human cervical cancer HeLa cells by Casticin in vitro. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2011, 10: 47–50.
- Wang WM, Liu YQ, Dai XJ. Apoptosis of Hela cell induced by Celastrus orbiculatus Thunb extract and primary mechanisms. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2011, 10: 666–668.
- Yang K, Lamprecht SA, Liu Y, et al. Chemoprevention studies of the flavonoids quercetin and rutin in normal and azoxymethane-treated mouse colon. Carcinogenesis, 2000, 21: 1655–1660.
- Granado-Serrano AB, Martin MA, Bravo L, *et al.* Quercetin induces apoptosis via caspase activation, regulation of Bcl-2, and inhibition of PI-3-kinase/Akt and ERK pathways in a human hepatoma cell line (HepG2). J Nutr, 2006, 136: 2715–2721.
- Nguyen TT, Tvan. E, Nguyen TH, et al. The role of activated MEK-ERK pathway in quercetin-induced growth inhibition and apoptosis in A549 lung cancer cells. Carcinogenesis, 2004, 25: 647–659.
- Weber G, Shen F, Yang H, et al. Regulation of signal transduction activity in normal and cancer cells. Anticancer Res, 1999, 19: 3703–

3709.

- Borska S, Gebarowska E, WysockaT, *et al.* The effects of quercetin vs cisplatin on proliferation and the apoptotic process in A549 and SW1271 cell lines *in vitro* conditions. Folia Morphol (Warsz), 2004, 63: 103–105.
- Chung SY, Sung MK, Kim NH, *et al.* Inhibition of P-glycoprotein by natural products in human breast cancer cells. Arch Pharm Res, 2005, 28: 823–828.
- Cipák L, Rauko P, Miadoková E, et al. Effects of flavonoids on cisplatin-induced apoptosis of HL 60 and L1210 leukemia cells. Leuk Res, 2003, 27: 65–72.
- Qi X, Liu YX, Lu H, et al. Study on ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity of cisplatin in nitric oxide. Shaanxi Med J (Chinese), 2010, 39: 265– 267.
- Silva A, Wang Q, Wang M, et al. Evidence for direct axonal toxicity in vincristine neuropithy. J Peripher Nerv Syst, 2006, 11: 211–216
- Qu YY, Zhou L, Lai YH. Research of quercetin on anti-tumor activity. J Modern Clin Med Bioeng (Chinese), 2005, 11: 18–20.
- Kuhimann MK, Horsh E, Burkhardt G, *et al.* Reduction of cisplation toxicity in cultured renal tubular cells by the bioflavonoid quercetin. Arch Toxiclo, 1998, 72: 536–540.

Effect of radical surgery combined with pre- or postoperative radiotherapy in treatment of resectable rectal cancer

Ehab Atif¹, Hanem Sakr², Saleh Teama², Dalia Zayed²

¹ Surgical Gastroenterology Center, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt
 ² Clinical Oncology and Nuclear Medicine Department, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt

Received: 15 March 2012 / Revised: 3 April 2012 / Accepted: 25 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Objective: This study was done to compare between the effect of preoperative radiotherapy and postoperative radiotherapy in treatment of resectable rectal carcinoma. The primary endpoints are local recurrence rate, overall survival (OS) and disease free survival (DFS). The secondary endpoints are to evaluate down-staging, treatment toxicity, and ability to do sphincter preservation, aiming at choosing the optimal treatment modality. Methods: This study included 100 patients with resectable rectal carcinoma who presented to Surgical Gastro Entrology Center and Clinical Oncology and Nuclear Medicine Department, Mansoura University during the period between January 2007 and September 2009. The included patients were randomized in two groups; group I: 50 patients received preoperative radiotherapy and group II: 50 patients received postoperative radiotherapy. Concurrent 5-fluorouracil-based chemotherapy was given to all patients. Two major types of surgery were done: abdomino-perineal resection with a permanent colostomy and low anterior resection with colorectal or coloanal anastomosis. Results: Preoperative radiotherapy resulted in pathologic complete response in 3 patients. T down-staging occurred in 18 out of 50 patients (36%) with statistically significant difference (P = 0.008). N down-staging occurred in 10 out of 24 patients. Sphincter preservation was more in group I. Delayed wound healing was the most common postoperative complication in group I with no significant difference. After a median follow up of 18 months, local recurrence rate and distant metastasis were higher in group II. The 2-year disease free survival was 72% and 60% in group I and II respectively with no statistically significant difference between both groups. Conclusion: This study concluded that preoperative radiotherapy is better than postoperative radiotherapy as regard local control, sphincter preservation with higher disease free survival and overall survival. No difference in treatment toxicity between both groups.

Key words resectable rectal cancer; preoperative radiotherapy; postoperative radiotherapy

Over the past 25 years, advances have been made in the multimodality management of patients with resectable rectal cancer ^[1].

Until recently surgery had remained the primary treatment modality but in spite of curative resection a significant proportion of patients develop local recurrence (20%–50%)^[2]. Loco-regional recurrence after resection of rectal cancer is difficult to treat and is associated with severe debilitating symptoms. The prognosis after a local recurrence is poor, with a median survival of 12–18 months^[3].

The goal of using radiation therapy as an adjuvant treatment for rectal cancer is to prevent local recurrence with its associated morbidity and mortality ^[1]. There is a number of potential advantage of preoperative radiation

therapy for resectable rectal cancer; decreasing tumor seeding at the time of surgery, increasing radiosensitivity due to more oxygenated cells, no post-surgical fixation of small bowel in the pelvis and down staging effect ^[4]. The major theoretical disadvantage of preoperative radiation therapy is possible over-treating 10% to 15% of patients, those with stages T1–2N0M0 who don't require adjuvant therapy ^[5].

An increase in tumor response and more sphincter preservation was demonstrated with preoperative radiation therapy in low rectal cancer ^[6, 7]. A lower incidence of side effects with preoperative versus postoperative radiotherapy was reported, with no evidence that postoperative radiotherapy improves survival ^[8].

The aim of this study was to compare the effect of preoperative and postoperative radiotherapy in management of resectable rectal carcinoma.

Correspondence to: Hanem Sakr. Email: hanimsakr@mans.edu.eg

The primary endpoint is local recurrence rate, overall survival (OS) and disease free survival (DFS). The secondary endpoint is to evaluate down-staging, treatment toxicity, and ability to do sphincter preservation, aiming at choosing the optimal treatment modality.

Patients and methods

This study included 100 patients with resectable rectal carcinoma who presented to Surgical Gastroenterology Center and Clinical Oncology and Nuclear Medicine Department, Mansoura University during the period between January 2007 and September 2009. These patients were randomly assigned in two groups:

Group I: 50 patients received preoperative radiotherapy of 45 Gy in 25 fractions followed by surgery (recommended to take place within 4–6 weeks of the last fraction of radiotherapy).

Group II: 50 patients received postoperative radiotherapy aiming at 45 Gy in 25 fractions in 5 weeks. Concurrent 5-fluorouracil (400 mg/m² IV bolus plus leucovorin 20 mg/m² IV bolus for 4 days at week 1 and 5 of radiotherapy) was given to all patients.

Eligible patients had histologically confirmed adenocarcinoma of the rectum (defined as the distal tumor less than 15 cm from the anal verge measured by recto-sigmoidoscopy) with no evidence of metastases (identified by abdominal CT scan and chest radiograph). The primary tumor had to be deemed resectable (defined as not fixed to the pelvis) as determined by digital rectal examination and preoperative abdomino-pelvic CT or MRI. Patients had Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (PS) score 0–1 and no history of previous chemotherapy or radiotherapy to the pelvis.

All patients were subjected to detailed clinical history, complete physical examination, laboratory tests (complete blood count, liver function tests, serum creatinine, CEA and CA19-9), endoscopy and pathologic examination of the biopsy. Patients were staged according to AJCC stag-ing-2002.

Radiotherapy was given by high energy photon external beam irradiation, using Co-60 or linear accelerator (6 MV photons). The target volume was defined as the sacral promontory superiorly, 3–5 cm below the inferior tumor extent, and 1 cm lateral to the most lateral aspect of the bony true pelvis. The posterior border of the lateral field must include the whole sacral canal in the target volume, and the anterior border of the lateral field must be at the anterior border of the symphysis pubis. The perineal scar was to be included postoperatively in patients with tumors less than 5 cm from the anal verge.

Three to four weeks after the end of radiotherapy in group I, abdomino-pelvic CT or MRI was done with comparison to the pre-radiotherapy study.

Surgery

Two major types of surgery were done: abdominoperineal resection (APR) with a permanent colostomy and low anterior resection (LAR) with colorectal or usually colo-anal anastomosis. Down staging was defined as a reduction in T or N stage based on pretreatment clinical staging by CT or MRI versus final pathological staging.

Patients were followed up to record early postoperative mortality and morbidity such as delayed wound healing, anastomotic leakage, bleeding, ileus and fistula which occurred during hospitalization, or within 30 days of operative procedure.

After end of treatment

Patients were followed up for detection of local recurrence or late effect every 1–2 months by clinical examination, every 3 months by tumor markers (CEA & CA19-9), abdomino-pelvic CT or MRI and endoscopy, biopsies were taken and pathologically examined for suspicious lesion.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 15. Unpaired *t* test was used for comparison between different groups. Qualitative data were presented as number & percent. Chi-Square test was used for comparison between groups, as appropriate. Survival was compared using Kaplan-Meier method with Log-rank test of significance. $P \le 0.05$ was considered to be statistically significant. Disease free survival (DFS) was calculated from the date of surgical resection till the date of recurrence (either local or distant) and overall survival (OS) was calculated from the date of diagnosis till the date of death.

Results

Table 1 showed patients characteristics of 100 patients. There was no difference in cross matching the 2 groups as regard age, sex, PS score, pathological types, site of tumor, presenting symptoms and tumor markers. There was a statistically significant difference regarding pathologic staging distribution (P = 0.021).

Regarding down-staging after preoperative radiotherapy, pathologic complete response (no detectable tumor in final histology) occurred in 3 patients without statistically significant difference (P = 0.15). T down-staging occurred in 18 out of 50 patients (36%) with statistically significant difference (P = 0.008). While N down-staging occurred in 10 out of 24 patients (whom there is positive lymph node at presentation) with highly significant difference.

Abdomino-pelvic CT or MRI, barium enema and endoscopy were diagnostic in 90.6%, 93.7% and 100% of patients respectively. CT scan or MRI findings were con-

Verieble	Group I (preoperative RT)		Group II (pos	- P value	
Variable —	n	%	n	%	<i>P</i> value
Age (years)					0.41
Range	20-	-75	22	-80	
Median	48	3	4	15	
Gender					0.169
Male	34	68	27	54	
Female	16	32	23	46	
Male : female	2.1	:1	1.	2:1	
PS score					0.98
0	31	62	30	60	
1	19	38	20	40	
Symptoms*					0.734
Bleeding/rectum	43	86	40	80	
Constipation	24	48	27	54	
Abdominal pain	27	54	17	34	
Weight loss	19	38	20	40	
Other	12	24	8	16	
Site					0.043
Upper	0	0	3	6	
Middle	9	18	9	18	
Lower	41	82	38	76	
Pathologic cell type					0.809
Adenocarcinoma	24	48	27	54	
Mucinous	17	34	19	38	
Signet ring	9	18	4	8	
Pathologic stage					0.021
Stage 0: T0N0	3	6	0	0	
Stage I: T2N0	8	16	0	0	
Stage II: T3N1	19	38	21	42	
Stage III: T3N1	14	28	12	24	
T3N2	6	12	17	34	
Tumor marker					0.53
Normal levels	33	66	19	38	
CEA (> 5 ng/mL)	4	8	8	16	
CA19-9 (> 35 µg/mL)	4	8	19	38	
Both elevated	9	18	4	8	

* One patient may complain from more than one symptom

sistent with postoperative pathologic staging in 37.5% of patients, under-estimating and over-estimating the tumor stage in 6.2% and 43.7% of patients respectively; while it wasn't diagnostic in 6.9% of patients.

Regarding types of surgical procedures done in group I and II, APR was done in 31 (62%) and 45 (90%) patients respectively. Fifteen (31%) and 5 (10%) patients underwent low anterior resection in group I and II respectively. A statistically significant difference was found between both groups (P = 0.011), as more SSP and less APR were done in group I patients. Two patients in group I underwent palliative colostomy and another 2 patients underwent surgical exploration (Table 2).

Diverting colostomy was done in 5 patients in group I who underwent AR, closure of colostomy was done after the end of treatment, while resection anastomosis was done in 4 patients.

Postoperative surgical complications for both groups are illustrated in Table 3. Delayed wound healing was the most common toxicity observed in group I which occurred in 7 patients (14%), three patients developed

 Table 2
 Types of surgical procedures

Type of surgery	Gro	oup I	Gro	Group II		
rype of surgery	n	%	n	%		
Abdomino-perineal resection (APR)	31	62	45	90		
Low anterior resection (LAR)	15	30	5	10	0.011	
Palliative colostomy Exploration	2 2	4 4	0 0	0 0		

Event	Gro	oup I	Group II		
Event	n	%	п	%	
Early					
Delayed wound healing	7	14	2	4	
Renal complication	1	2	0	0	
Anastomotic leakage	2	4	2	4	
Intestinal obstruction	3	6	1	2	
Late					
Urgency & frequency	1	2	1	2	
Anastomotic stricture	2	4	3	6	

 Table 3
 Postoperative surgical complications

adhesive intestinal obstruction, anastomotic leakage occurred in 2 patients and one patient developed renal complication.

Relation between recurrence and different prognostic factors is presented in Table 4. There was no statistically significant relation between patients' age, gender, tumor pathology, stage or type of surgery and disease recurrence in both groups. A statistically significant relation was found between site of tumor and recurrence in group II

 Table 4
 Relation between recurrence and different prognostic factors

After a follow up period that ranged from 6–28 months for all patients, with a median of 18 months and a mean of (18.2 ± 4.8) months, we studied the patterns of recurrence. In group, 5 patients (10%) experienced local recurrence, while 6 patients (12%) developed distant metastases. The incidence of failure was higher in group II, where 16 patients (32%) experienced local recurrence, while 10 patients (20%) developed distant metastases. There was a statistically significant difference between both groups regarding local recurrence (P = 0.031), however; in respect to distant metastases in both groups, the difference was not statistically significant (P = 0.083; Table 5).

At the end of this study, there were 28 patients (56%) in group I and 14 patients (28%) in group II alive with no evidence of disease (NED). There were 8 patients (16%) in group I and 5 patients (10%) in group II alive with disease. There were 8 patients (16%) in group I and

		Gro	up I				Gro	oup II		
Variable	_	ve	+	ve	Р	-	-ve	+	-ve	P
-	п	%	n	%	_	п	%	n	%	_
Age (years)					0.390					0.426
< 40	16	32	0	0		10	20	3	6	
> 40	29	58	5	10		25	50	12	24	
Gender					0.753					0.554
Male	30	60	4	8		19	38	8	16	
Female	14	28	2	4		16	32	7	14	
Site of tumor					0.454					0.045
Upper	0		0	0		3	6	0		
Middle	7	14	2	4		8	16	1	2	
Lower	38	76	3	6		24	48	14	28	
Pathologic cell type					0.823					0.698
Adenocarcinoma	20	40	4	8		20	40	7	14	
Mucinous	15	30	2	4		14	28	5	10	
Signet ring	9	18	0	0		3	6	1	2	
Pathologic stage					0.534					0.139
Stage 0: T0N0	3	6	0	0		0	0	0	0	
Stage I: T2N0	8	16	0	0		0	0	0	0	
Stage II: T3N1	17	34	2	4		17	34	4	8	
Stage III: T3N1	12	24	2	4		7	14	5	10	
T3N2	5	10	1	2		10	20	7	14	
Tumor marker					0.037					0.823
Normal levels	30	60	3	6		17	34	2	4	
CEA (> 5 ng/mL)	4	8	0	0		5	10	3	6	
CA19-9 (> 35 µg/mL)	4	8	0	0		1	2	18	36	
Both elevated	4	8	5	10		2	4	2	4	
Surgical technique*					0.221					0.164
APR	26	52	5	10		30	60	15	30	
LAR	16	32	0	0		5	10	0	0	

P value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically inoperable. * Three patients in group I were inoperable

 Table 5
 Disease recurrence

	Group I		Gro	Group II		
	п	%	п	%	- r	
Local recurrence	5	10	16	32	0.031	
Distant metastasis					0.083	
Liver	2	4	3	6		
Lung	2	4	2	4		
Bone	2	4	3	6		
Abdominal LN	0	0	2	4		

Table 6 Fate of patients at the end of follow up

Status	Gro	oup I	Gro	up II
Status	n	%	n	%
Alive with NED	28	56	14	28
Alive with disease	8	16	5	10
Died with disease	8	16	23	46
Died with unrelated causes	6	12	3	6
Lost follow up	0	0	5	10

23 patients (46%) in group II died with their disease. Six patients (12%) in group I and 3 patients (6%) in group II died of unrelated causes (Table 6).

At a median follow up period of 18 months for all patients, the 2-year actuarial overall survival (OS) was 67% and 55% with a median of 19 and 16 months in group I and II respectively. Although OS was higher in group I, the difference between both groups wasn't statistically significant (P = 0.227). Similarly, the 2-year disease free survival (DFS) was 72% and 60% with a median of 17 and 15 months in group I and II respectively, with no statistically significant difference between both groups (P = 0.592).

Discussion

Colorectal cancer is ranked as the fourth most frequently diagnosed cancer and second leading cause of cancer death in U.S., although mortality from CRC has been reduced during the past 30 years^[9].

Local tumor control remains an important aim in the treatment of rectal cancer because of devastating morbidity and unsatisfactory treatment option for local recurrence ^[10].

Local failure rates after 5-year follow up after total mesorectal excision (TME) have decreased from about 28% to 10–15% Glimeliues *et al* ^[8], Sebag-Montefiore *et al* ^[3] reported that total mesorectal excision had been achieved in 93% of patients who underwent resection after preoperative radiotherapy with local failure rate at 5 years of 4.7% versus 11.5% in postoperative radiotherapy group, the overall negativity rate for circumferential resection margin was 89%, which compares favorably with the Dutch trial reported by Peeters *et al* ^[11] in which 77% of patients in the intention-to-treat analysis had tumor-free margins without tumor spillage.

Preoperative radiotherapy at biological effective doses above 30 Gy decreases the relative risk of a local failure by more than half (50%–70%). Postoperative radiotherapy decreases the risk by 30%–40% at doses that generally are higher than those used preoperatively. There are strong evidences that preoperative radiotherapy improves survival (by about 10%) ^[8].

This present study included 100 patients with resectable rectal cancer (T3–4, N0–2, M0). They were randomly assigned into two groups; group I (50 patients), who received preoperative radiotherapy & group II (50 patients) who received postoperative radiotherapy.

The median age of patients was 48 & 45 years in group I & II respectively. This age incidence is similar to that reported by Abou-Zeid *et al*^[12] & Mohamed *et al*^[13], where the median age was 46 years in their studies. However this median age is less than that reported in Western World studies. Gerard *et al*^[14] reported a median age of 65 years. This age difference could be related to bad dietary habits with excess fat content in our country.

Bleeding per rectum was the most common presenting symptom; it was present in 86 % and 80 % of patients in group I and II respectively. Also, Mohamed *et al* (2005) found in their study that bleeding per rectum was the most common presenting symptom (83.5%). Distance of tumor from the anal verge ranged from 2–9 cm with a median of 5 cm which approximates that reported by Gerard *et al* ^[14]. They recorded a distance from the anal verge that ranged from 2–10 cm with a median of 6 cm in their study.

As regard the pathological types, adenocarcinoma was the most common type (48% & 54%), followed by Mucinous adenocarcinoma (34% & 38%), then signet ring carcinoma (18% & 8%) in group I and II respectively. This distribution approximates the figures found by Mohamed *et al*^[13] who reported 64%, 31%, and 5% incidence of adenocarcinoma, Mucinous, and signet carcinoma respectively.

In this study, pretreatment CEA level was elevated in 8% & 16% of patients studied in group I and II respectively. Twelves *et al* ^[15] reported a lower incidence in their study (8.6%); however Giacchetti *et al* ^[16] reported a higher incidence rate (68%).

As far as clinical staging in group I is concerned, we found an incidence of stage II and III in 59% & 41% of patients respectively. Mohamed *et al*^[13] reported a similar stage distribution in favor of stage II (40%). On the other hand, stage II and III tumors were found in 30% & 70% of patients in the series that was studied by Gerard *et al*^[14].

Pathological staging in group I was in favor of earlier stages (6%, 16%, 38% and 40% for stages 0, I, II, and III respectively) while Elwanis *et al* ^[17] reported similar incidences of 6.9, 17, 37.9% and 38% for stages 0, I, II, and

III respectively after neoadjuvant chemoradiation with capecitabine.

Regarding pathological staging in group II, stage II incidence was 42% and stage III was 58% which is similar to some extent to that found in Gerard *et al*^[14] series after preoperative chemoradiation with high dose radiotherapy and oxaliplatin-containing regimen.

In this study, abdomin-perineal resection was the most common surgical procedure and was done in 62% & 90% of patients in group I & II respectively. Low anterior resection was done in 15 (30%) & 5 (10%) of patients in group I & II respectively with a statistically significant difference (P = 0.011). Sauer *et al*^[18] reported a double rate of sphincter sparing procedure in preoperative chemoradiotherapy versus postoperative chemo-radiotherapy. Our figures differ from that reported by Gerard *et al*^[19], where low anterior resection was the most common procedure (55%). The difference may be due to surgical decision that prefers to do abdomino-perineal resection for more oncologic safety regardless of down-staging after preoperative radiotherapy. Also age factor affects surgical decision, sphincter preservation in younger age (age group < 40 years was present in 32% & 26% of patients in group I and II respectively) was preferable.

Diverting colostomy was done in 8 out of 15 (53.3%) patients in group I who underwent sphincter sparing procedure. Also Gerard *et al*^[19] recorded that a high percentage of diverting colostomy (72%) was done in preoperative radiotherapy arm, while Gerard *et al*^[14] reported a percentage of 36%.

In this study, there was no early postoperative mortality. The most common postoperative morbidity was delayed wound healing (14%) which is similar to some extent to that reported by Camma *et al*(18%)^[7].

Other less frequent postoperative morbidity was intestinal obstruction (6%) and anastomotic leakage (4%) which are comparable to that recorded by Read *et al*^[20] (5.8% & 8.2%), and Camma *et al*^[7] (5.2% & 5.2%) for intestinal obstruction and anastomotic leakage respectively. Also anastomotic stricture occurred in 4% of our patients which is similar to that reported by Frykholm *et al*^[21] (2%) and there were no significant changes in late toxicity between preoperative and postoperative radiotherapy.

Local recurrence (LR) was the most common site of failure in this study. It was experienced by 10% & 32% of patients in group I and II respectively, the difference was statistically significant (P= 0.031). Distant recurrence was experienced by 12% & 20% of patients in group I and II respectively with no statistically significant difference (P = 0.083). Frykholm *et al*^[21] compared preoperative with postoperative radiotherapy in resectable rectal cancer. Local recurrence was 13% vs. 22% in preoperative vs. postoperative radiotherapy respectively (P= 0.02).

At a median follow up of 18 months for all patients, the

2-year actuarial overall survival rate (OS) was 67% & 55% in group I & II respectively. Although OS was higher in group I but it didn't reach a statistically significant difference (P = 0.227). At a median follow-up of 24 months in group II, the 4-year actuarial OS was 39% while Sauer *et al*^[18] reported a 5-year OS of 76% & 74% for preoperative vs. postoperative CRT respectively c (P = 0.08). Taher *et al*^[22] reported a 10-year OS of 63% vs. 60% for postoperative chemotherapy vs. preoperative radiotherapy (P = 0.698).

In Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial (1997), 5-year OS was 58% vs. 48% for preoperative radiation therapy compared with surgery alone (P = 0.004). The difference may be due to the small sample size of our study.

In this study after a median follow-up of 18 months for all patients, the 2-year DFS was 72% & 38% in group I & II respectively without statistically significant difference (P = 0.592). At a median follow up of 24 months in group II, the 4-year DFS was 37%. Similarly Sauer *et al*^[18] found no statistically significant difference in DFS with either preoperative or postoperative chemo-radiotherapy (P = 0.32). Taher *et al*^[22] reported a 10-year DFS of 65% vs. 66% (P = 0.816) for postoperative chemo-radiotherapy vs. preoperative radiotherapy respectively.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest.

References

- Willett CG, Czito BG, Bendell JG. Radiation therapy in stage II and III rectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2007, 13: 6903s–6908s.
- Geoffrey A, Skibber J. Clinical aspects and management of rectal adenocarcinoma management options: resectable rectal carcinoma. In Abbruzzese JL, Evans DB, Willett CG, *et al.* Gastrointest Oncol, 2004, 59: 702–714.
- Sebag-Montefiore D, Stephens R, Steele RJ, et al. Preoperative radiotherapy versus selective postoperative chemoradiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer (MRC CR07 and NCIC-CTG C016): a multicentre, randomised trial. Lancet, 2009, 7: 811–820.
- Libutti S, Tepper J, Saltz L. Rectal cancer. In: De Vita V, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds). Cancer: principles and practice of oncology, 8th edn. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, 2008. 1285–1298.
- Minsky BD. Adjuvant therapy for rectal cancer-the transatlantic view. Colorectal Dis, 2003, 5: 416–422.
- Withers HR, Haustermans K. Where next with preoperative radiation therapy for rectal cancer? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2004, 58: 597–602.
- Camma C, Giunta M, fiorica F, et al. Preoperative radiotherapy for resectable rectal cancer: A meta-analysis. JAMA, 2000, 284: 1008– 1015.
- Glimelius B, Gronberg H, Jarhult J, et al. A systematic overview of radiation therapy effects in rectal cancer. Acta Oncol, 2003, 42: 476–492.
- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. Cancer statistics, 2009. CA Cancer J Clin, 2009, 59: 225–249.

- Esanaola NF, Cantor SB, Johnson ML, et al. Pain and quality of life after treatment in patients with locally recurrent rectal cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2002, 20: 4361–4367.
- Peeters KC, van de Velde CJ, Leer JW. Late side effects of shortcourse preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer: increased bowel dysfunction in irradiated patients–a Dutch colorectal cancer group study. J Clin Oncol, 2005, 23: 6199–6206.
- Abou-Zeid AA, Khafagy W, Marzouk DM, et al. Colorectal cancer in Egypt. Dis Colon Rectum, 2002, 45: 1255–1260.
- Mohamed A, Salah M, El-Saied M, et al. Patient profile and results of multimodality therapy in patients with colorectal carcinoma treated in tertiary referral hospital in Egypt. Med J Cairo Univ, 2005, 73: 43–48.
- Gerard JP, Chapet O, Nemoz C, et al. Preoperative concurrent chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer with high-dose radiation and oxaloplatin-containing regimen: the Lyon R0-04 phase II trial. J Clin Oncol, 2003, 21: 1119–1124.
- Twelves C, Wong A, Nowacki MP, et al. Capecitabine as adjuvant treatment for stage III colon cancer. N Engl J Med, 2005, 352: 2696– 2704.
- Giacchetti S, Itzhaki M, Gruia G, et al. Long-term survival of patients with unresectable colorectal cancer liver metastases following infusional chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin and

surgery. Ann Oncol, 1999, 10: 663-669.

- Abd Elwanis MA, Maximous DW, Elsayed MI, et al. Surgical treatment for locally advanced lower third rectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemoradiation with capecitabine: prospective phase II trial. World J Surg Oncol, 2009, 7: 52.
- Sauer R, Becker H, Hohenberger W, et al. Preoperative versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. N Engl J Med, 2004, 351: 1731–1740.
- Gerard JP, Conroy T, Bonnetain F, et al. Preoperative radiotherapy with or without concurrent fluorouracil and leucovorin in T3-4 rectal cancers: results of FFCD 9203. J Clin Oncol, 2006, 24: 4620–4625.
- Read TE, McNevin MS, Gross EK, *et al.* Neoadjuvant therapy for adenocarcinoma of the rectum: tumor response and acute toxicity. Dis Colon Rectum, 2001, 44: 513–522.
- Frykholm GJ, Glimelius B, Pahlman L. Preoperative or postoperative irradiation in adenocarcinoma of the rectum: final treatment results of a randomized trial and an evaluation of late secondary effects. Dis Colon Rectum, 1993, 36: 564–572.
- Taher AN, El-Baradie MM, Nasr AM, *et al.* Locally advanced rectal carcinoma: preoperative radiotherapy versus postoperative chemoradiation, 10-year follow-up results of a randomized clinical study. J Egypt Natl Cancer Inst, 2006, 18: 233–243.

Association between polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and human rectal tumor or liver cancer*

Guohong Jiang¹, Limin Lun², Liyuan Cong³

- ¹ Department of Clinical Laboratory, Qingdao Chest Hospital, Qingdao 266043, China
- ² Department of Clinical Laboratory, The Affiliated Hospital of Medical College Qingdao University, Qingdao 266101, China

³ The Community Health Service Centers of Qingdao Tongan Road, Qingdao 266012, China

Received: 20 February 2012 / Revised: 10 March 2012 / Accepted: 25 April 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in rectal carcinoma and hepatocarcinoma genesis. *Methods:* The PAHs in the human rectal cancer and liver cancer tissues, the adjacent tissues and homologous tissues without rectal cancer or liver cancer were extracted by ultrasonic wave. The extracts were then cleaned up and enriched by solid phase extraction, analyzed by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with fluorescence spectroscopy. *Results:* Four kinds of PAHs were detected in human rectal and hepatic tissues. The contents of pyrene, 2-methylanthracene and benzo (a) pyrene in both rectal cancer tissues and adjacent homologous tissues were higher than rectal tissues without rectal cancer, the differences were statistically significant (P < 0.05). The contents of phenanthrene in the three kind of tissue were not significant (P > 0.05). The differences of the content of each PAHs between rectal cancer and adjacent tissue were not significant (P > 0.05). The contents of the four PAHs in the three kinds of liver tissues were not statistically significant (P > 0.05). *Conclusion:* PAHs are found in human rectal tissues or hepatic tissues. The contents of PAHs in human rectal tissues may have an effect on the occurrence of human rectal cancer while the contents of PAHs in human hepatic tissues may have not ones.

Key words rectal cancer; liver cancer; polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs); high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Although scholars have been explored extensively the pathogenic factors of rectal carcinoma and hepatocarcinoma genesis, etiology is not definite up to now. The morbidity and mortality of rectal carcinoma has increased year by year while the cute rate is not improved ^[1]. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), is defined as two or more benzene rings arranging in the way of linear, angular or cluster-like. Carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic are the prominent features of the PAHs ^[2]. PAHs are one of the first discovered persistent organic pollutants. Now the prevention of PAHs has caused widespread attention to the world ^[3]. PAHs can be directly absorbed though respiratory tract, digestive tract, skin etc or accumulated in animals and humans though food chain ^[4]. In theory, the human rectal tissues or hepatic tissues may contain PAHs. And presumably, the occurrence of rectal carcinoma and hepatocarcinoma may have association with PAHs in the cancer tissues.

This study was designed to detect the content of the PAHs in human rectal and hepatic tissues (cancer tissue and no cancer tissue) with the method of ultrasonic extraction, solid phase extraction and clean up-high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with fluorescence spectroscopy. Then we can confirm whether the PAHs exist in human rectal or hepatic tissues whether it's responsible with rectal cancer or liver cancer.

Materials and methods

Reagents and instruments

LC-240 HPLC (Perkin–Elmer company, USA); 250 mm × 4.6 mm i.d. reverse-phase C18 column (Aydac Company, USA); solid-phase enrichment column which packed by C18 (Tianjin Enrichment Technology Co., Ltd., China);

Correspondence to: Limin Lun. Email: lunlm@yahoo.com.cn

^{*} Supported by a grant from Key Laboratory of Marine Spill Oil Identification and Damage Assessment Technology (No. 200902).

DL-I solid-phase extraction device (Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, China); H66025 Ultrasonic Cleaning Machine (Wuxi Ultrasonic Electronic Equipment Factory, China); CM1900 frozen section machine (Leica Company, Germany); benzo (a) pyrene, pyrene, phenanthrene, 2-methylanthracene, fluoranthene, chrysene, 2-methylnaphthalene were spectroscopically pure reagent (Fluka company, USA); methanol, chromatographic pure reagent; n-hexane, acetone, methylene chloride, anhydrous sodium sulfate, naphthalene were analytical reagent.

The preparation of the eight kinds of PAHs' standard solution

Eight PAHs prepared with methanol as the solvent were used for the study: naphthalene: $50 \ \mu g/mL$; 2-meth-ylanthracene: $50 \ \mu g/mL$; phenanthrene: $10 \ \mu g/mL$; fluor-anthene 5.0 $\ \mu g/mL$; pyrene: $5.0 \ \mu g/mL$; 2-methylanthracene: $5.0 \ \mu g/mL$; chrysene: $5.0 \ \mu g/mL$; benzo (a) pyrene: $1.0 \ \mu g/mL$. The standard solutions were frozen at $-20 \ ^{\circ}C$ refrigerator for later use. They can be diluted to the appropriate concentration when used.

Specimens source and groups

Specimens were collected from the Department of Pathology, The Affiliated Hospital of Medical College Qingdao University, and confirmed by pathology. The rectal experiment was divided into three groups: the human rectal cancer tissue [20 cases, 9 males and 11 females, aged (51.1 \pm 14.3) years], the adjacent tissue [20 cases, 9 males and 11 females, aged (51.1 \pm 14.3) years], and rectal tissue without rectal cancer [5 cases, 2 males and 3 females, aged



Fig. 1 Chromatogram of eight PAHs standard solution. 1: naphthalene; 2: dimethylnaphthalene; 3: phenanthrene; 4: fluoranthene; 5: pyrene; 6: 2-methyl anthracene; 7: chrysene; 8: benzo (a) pyrene



Fig. 2 Chromatogram of PAHs in rectal cancer. 1: phenanthrene; 2: pyrene; 3: 2-methyl-anthracene; 4: benzo (a) pyrene

 (43.3 ± 19.9) years].

The hepatic experiment was also divided into three groups: the human liver cancer tissue [15 cases, 9 males and 6 females, aged (55.4 ± 15.3) years], the adjacent tissue [5 cases, 3 males and 2 females, aged (45.1 ± 13.5) years]. There were no statistical significances in age, sex ratio among the above groups.

Extraction and clean up of PAHs

Samples pre-treatment

The specimens were mashed into a paste. Assay sample (1.0 g) was inserted in a glass tube with 10 mL hexane - acetone (V:V = 1:1) and placed in an ultrasonic bath for 30 min. The solution was centrifuged for 5 min at 2500 rpm; the supernatant fluid was transferred into 10 mL glass tubes. Added hexane-acetone (V:V = 1:1) 10 mL into the tubes and repeated above steps. Subsequently the specimens were washed with three aliquots of hexane and the organic phase was collected, transferred into a 20 mL separating funnel with saturated sodium sulfate solution. After 1 min shaking and 1h placing, the supernatant fluid was aspirated to spare and concentrated to 2 mL in the fume hood.

Extraction and clean up

The C18 column was washed by methylene chloride, and then 5 mL methanol and 5 mL water passed. Before the column finishing, the concentration passed and the elate was abandoned. After 5 mL n-hexane-dichloromethane (V:V = 1:1) washing, the eluate was collected and evaporated down to yellow powder. Then 1 mL methanol was added and reconstituted to a final volume of 2 mL.

HPLC condition

The mobile phase was methanol-water (V:V = 80:20); the flow rate was 1.5 mL/min; injection volume was 20 μ L; λ excitation was 407 nm and λ emission was 288 nm; the detection time was 1500 s; quantified by external standard; room temperature.

Statistical analysis

All values were expressed as mean \pm standard error. PPMS 1.5 statistics software application data processing, variance analysis, significant level $\alpha = 0.05$.

Results

Chromatogram of eight kind of PAHs standard solution was presented in Fig. 1. Phenanthrene, pyrene, 2 methyl-anthracene and benzo (a) pyrene were detected in all groups. Chromatogram of PAHs was presented in Fig. 2. Detection rate of PAHs in three rectal tissues were reported Table 1. Concentrations of PAHs in three rectal tissues were reported Table 2. From Tables 1 and 2, we could seen that the detection rate of pyrene and benzo

Groups	п	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	2-methylanthracene	Benzo (a) pyrene
Rectal cancer tissue group	20	18 (90)	20 (100)	17 (85)	20 (100)
Adjacent group	20	20 (100)	20 (100)	15 (75)	20 (100)
Non-cancer group	5	4 (80)	5 (100)	2 (40)	5 (100)

Table 1 Detection rates of PAHs in three rectal tissues [n (%)]

Table 2 Concentrations of PAHs in three rectal tissue (ng/g, $\overline{\chi} \pm s$)

Groups	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	2-methyl anthracene	Benzo (a) pyrene
Rectal cancer group	587.5 ± 121.3	907.1 ± 241.2	699.7 ± 185.7	1129.3 ± 333.9
Adjacent group Non-cancer group	570.1 ± 103.3 489.7 ± 96.6ª	820.8 ± 194.4 589.4 ± 107⁵	620.2 ± 137.8 313.3 ± 98.6 ^b	998.3 ± 245.5 655.2 ± 105.4⁵

Comparison between groups: ${}^{a}F = 1.27$, Q = 0.6821-2.2533, P > 0.05; ${}^{b}F = 4.60-5.80$, rectal cancer group, adjacent group were compared with non-cancer group: Q = 3.1018-4.7782, P < 0.05, rectal cancer group compared with the adjacent group: Q = 1.8291-2.0876, P > 0.05

Table 3 Detection rates of PAHs in three liver tissues [n (%)]

Groups	п	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	2-methylanthracene	Benzo (a) pyrene
Liver cancer group	15	13 (87)	15 (100)	12 (80)	15 (100)
Adjacent group	15	15 (100)	15 (100)	10 (67)	15 (100)
Non-cancer group	5	4 (80)	5 (100)	3 (60)	5 (100)

Table 4 Concentrations of PAHs in three liver tissue (ng/g, $\overline{\chi} \pm s$)

Groups	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	2-methylanthracene	Benzo (a) pyrene
Liver cancer group	211.2 ± 111.3	277.1 ± 186.1	189.5 ± 114.4	378.4 ± 204.5
Adjacent group Non-cancer group	167.4 ± 92.7 144.2 ± 69.6	220.5 ± 154.9 159.6 ± 117.8	150.6 ± 85.6 103.4 ± 55.2	310.7 ± 160.4 280.9 ± 108.7

Liver cancer group, adjacent group were compared with non-cancer group: F(0.83-2.11), Q(0.4633-2.7976), P > 0.05, liver cancer group compared with the adjacent group: Q(1.3247-1.7172), P > 0.05

(a) pyrene were all 100%, in rectal cancer tissues, adjacent cancer tissues, and non-cancer tissues. Philippine's detection rates were 90%, 100% and 80%. 2-methyl anthracite's detection rates were 85%, 75% and 40%. Content of phenanthrene was no significant difference (P >0.05); pyrene, 2-methyl-anthracene and benzo (a) pyrene in rectal cancer tissues and adjacent tissues were higher than non-cancer tissues, the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05); four PAHs was no significant differences in rectal cancer and adjacent tissues (P > 0.05). Detection rate of PAHs in three liver tissues were reported Table 3. Concentrations of PAHs in three liver tissues were reported Table 4. From Table 4, four PAHs was no significant difference in liver cancer, adjacent tissues and non-cancer tissues (P > 0.05).

Discussion

PAHs has a trace content in the environment, but epidemiological studies ^[4, 5] show that PAHs is endued with a magnified biological function and toxic effect as a result of biologically cumulative effect in food chain. In our previous studies ^[6, 7], we detect PAHs in human gastric cancer and lung cancer, and all the cancer tissues have a significantly higher content than the non-cancer ones. In this study, we prove that PAHs can be detected in human rectal cancer tissues and it might play an important role in the development and progression of human rectal cancer.

The results show that PAHs are not found with the incidence of liver cancer related, which may be due to hepatic degradation of PAHs dictates, from the papers ^[8, 9], PAHs are due to enzymatic hydrolysis of aromatic epoxides by liver microsomal cytochrome P450 (CYP450) enzymes in the CYP1A1, 1A2 and 1B1 oxidase enzyme such as monoaminoxidase, then turn under the action of hydrolytic enzymes into the cis, trans-glycol-type compounds, and further oxidize to dihydroxy epoxides by CYP enzyme. Then epoxides can be catalyzed by phase II enzymes such as glutathione S-transferase enzymes and combine with glutathione covalent inactivation and detoxification, form into water-soluble sulfate and glucuronide and excrete through the urine and feces .

PAHs is thought to be activated by CYP4501A1, a member of CYP450 enzyme system, and then evolve into carcinogenic electrophilic epoxides after enter the body.

So the activity of CYP4501A1 isoenzyme becomes the key to decide the carcinogenicity of PAHs^[8]. The activity of CYP4501A1 isoenzyme can be induced by PAHs, and the activity increases significantly in peoples with long-term exposure to PAHs^[9]. Previous study indicates that people with high PAHs inductivity genotype have a higher risk of suffering from colorectal cancer and lung cancer than non-high-inductivity genotype ^[10,11]. But no definite mechanisms of PAHs' carcinogenicity are founded in our study and farther experiments about this are needed.

By present, all the detections about PAHs are limited in environment, food, animals and plants, and few researches about the human body tissues can be founded. In this study, we prove that PAHs exist in human rectal and liver tissues with the methods of ultrasonic extraction, solid phase extraction and HPLC. Further analysis shows that PAHs content are higher in rectal cancer tissues than non cancer ones, and there is a significant difference between each other (P < 0.05). This indicates that PAHs may be associated with the occurrence of rectal cancer and it may be one of the most important reasons to generate human rectal cancer. Therefore, controlling PAHs contamination and reducing PAHs exposure have an important meaning for cancer prevention.

References

 Xu YC, Xu AG. Epidemiology and etiology of colorectal cancer research. Med Recap (Chinese), 2005, 11: 615–616.

- Liu Y, Chen L, Huang QH, *et al.* Source apportionment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in surface sediments of the Huangpu River, Shanghai, China. Sci Total Environ, 2009, 407: 2931–2938.
- Sun P, Weavers L K, Taerakul P, et al. Characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) on lime spray dryer (LSD) ash using different extraction methods. Chemosphere, 2006, 62: 265–274.
- Lei AP, Hu ZL, Wong YS, et al. Bioconcentration and metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by algae. J Wuhan Bot Res, 2005, 23: 291–299.
- Lun LM, Wang XL. Determination of aromatic hydrocarbons in marine phytoplankton by solid phase extraction coupled with high performance liquid chro-matography. Modern Prev Med (Chinese), 2009, 36: 310–323.
- Wang J, Lun LM. Association between polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and human gastric tumor. Shandong Med J (Chinese), 2008, 48: 20–21.
- Zhang T, Lun LM. The detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in human lung cancer. Med J Qilu (Chinese), 2009, 24: 202–04.
- Tao WH, Jin YT, Yu ZC, *et al.* The effects of CYP1A1 gene polymorphism and p16 gene methylation on the risk of lung cancer in a Chinese population. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol (Chinese), 2007, 6: 350–356.
- N'Guyen QB, Fallone F, Seree E, et al. Serum increases CYP1A1 induction by 3-methylcholanthrene. Biochem biophys res commun, 2002, 297: 249–254.
- Rojas M, Alexandrov K, Cascorbi I, et al. High benzo[a] pyrene diolepoxide DNA adduct levels in lung and blood cells from individuals with combined CYP1A1 Mspl/Msp-GSTM1*0/*0 genotypes. Pharmacogenetics, 1998, 8: 109–118.
- Yang KY, Huabg YC, Zhao GQ, et al. The expression of PAH-DNA adducts in lung tissues of Xuanwei female lung cancer patients. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2010, 9: 497–501.

Radiobiological effect of abdominal X-ray hypo-fraction irradiation on Wistar rats liver

Peng Qi, Yongheng An, Hongsheng Yu, Xinjia He

Department of Oncology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University Medical College, Qingdao 266003, China

Received: 22 April 2012 / Revised: 10 May 2012 / Accepted: 27 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The aim of our study was to investigate the impact of abdominal hypo-fraction irradiation on liver damage in rats so as to provide a reference for its clinical application. *Methods:* A total of 100 Wistar rats were equally randomized to five groups as control, 4 Gy, 6 Gy, 8 Gy and 12 Gy group, and the corresponding fractionated doses were offered. Liver functions were examined at the 2nd, 4th, 6th, 8th and 10th week after irradiation. Morphological changes were observed by HE staining. Expressions of Bcl-2 and Bax were examined by immunohistochemical technique. *Results:* In all irradiation groups, hepatocellular swell, degeneration, necrosis and even hepatic fibrosis could be seen. The differences of the liver coefficient, Glutamyl pyruvic transaminase (GPT), Glutamyl oxaloacetic transaminase (GOT) were significant among the groups and different time points (*F* = 11.833–781.972, *F* = 20.857–264.692, *P* < 0.001). Expressions of Bcl-2 and Bax were significantly different between each group (*F* = 211.607, 116.577; *P* < 0.001), and between each time point (*F* = 54.083, 68.749; *P* < 0.001). *Conclusion:* Compare with conventional fraction, abdominal hypo-fraction irradiation may cause radiation damage to rat liver, being dose-and-time dependent. Up-regulation of activating apoptosis protein Bax and down-regulation of inhibiting apoptosis protein Bcl-2 may involve in the process.

Key words radiotherapy; dose fractionation; liver; radiobiological effects; apoptosis; Bcl-2/Bax

The liver is an important metabolic organ, and the studies of liver radiobiology were quite a lot. The liver belongs to late effective normal tissues, but previous related studies mostly concentrated on late side effects of the liver after the conventional fractionated radiotherapy. Therefore we designed to study the liver early response in the abdominal hypo-fraction irradiation. To provide the basic parameters for the clinical application of abdominal hypo-fraction radiotherapy, we study early changes in biochemical indicators and pathological features of radioactive liver injury through the abdomen hypo-fraction irradiation in rats.

Materials and methods

Experimental animals and grouping

A total of 100 SPF Wistar rats (4–5 weeks old) were chose, male and female each half. Its body weight ranged from 200 to 250 g and purchased from the Qingdao Municipal Institute for Drug Control. In natural light, we gave an adequate standard feed and water, then kept rats at room temperature of 16–20 $^{\circ}$ C. The rats were randomly

Correspondence to: Yongheng An. Email: anyongheng@126.com

divided into control group, the 4 Gy group, 6 Gy group, 8 Gy group and 12 Gy group (n = 20).

Irradiation methods

The rats were anesthetized by intra-peritoneal injection with volume fraction of 10% chloral hydrate (350 mg/kg). Then the rats were fixed at the flat panel supine. Next, we placed the fixed rats in the simulator and outlined the radiation field: the upper bound for the costal arch edge, the lower bound for the upper edge of the iliac crest. We marked the radiation field of 4 cm \times 2 cm on the surface of the body, and the remaining parts were blocked with the MLC. We located the satisfying rats under a Varian 23EX linear accelerator with 6MV X-ray irradiation. Each group exposed to the planned irradiative dose fractionation. Source-to-skin distance was set to 100 cm in another plus 1 cm organization compensation, and X-ray dose rate was 300 cGy/min.

Testing indicators and methods

Morphological observation

Four rats were selected from each group randomly after irradiation at the end of the 2nd, 4th, 6th, 8th and 10th weeks. We weighed rats body and dissected its fresh liver tissue, then calculated the liver coefficient (organ coeffi-

ing.

Detection of GPT and GOT

We selected four rats from each group randomly after irradiation at the end of the 2nd, 4th, 6th, 8th and 10th weeks. Rats were killed by cervical dislocation, then we exsanguinated 5 mL from the abdominal aorta, and leaving the liver tissue. We measured GPT and GOT in arterial blood centrifugation serum by automatic biochemical analyzer.

Bcl-2 and Bax detection

According to the kit instruction, Bcl-2 and Bax expression detected strictly by immunohistochemical method, using PBS buffer as negative control instead of primary antibody. We randomly selected five fields of vision from each slice under a microscope (400 times), counting 200 cells per field of vision, and calculated the percentage of positive cells.

Statistical analysis

We carried out data processing by the application of the SPSS 13.0 and PPMS 1.5 ^[1] statistical software. Data was analyzed by using factorial design analysis of variance (P < 0.05 for the difference was significant).

Results

Changes in liver morphology

Under microscopy the hepatic lobule of the control group showed a clear structure and rows of hepatic cords. But the rat liver in exposed group were observed in varying degrees of liver cell swelling, degeneration, necrosis, and even fibrosis. Injury of the 12 Gy group was significantly higher than the 4 Gy group.

Statistical analysis of liver coefficient, serum GPT, GOT

Compared among the groups, the results of the liver coefficient, the GPT, GOT in the blood showed significant differences (the F = 11.833-781.972, P < 0.001). Differences were significant at different times in the same group (F = 20.857-264.692, P < 0.001; Tables 1–3).

Comparison of Bcl-2 and Bax expression

The cytoplasm of Bcl-2 positive cells showed uniform diffuse claybank. Bcl-2 protein expression levels of the irradiated groups were declining. In the 12 Gy group Bcl-2 expression was weakly positive to negative. The differences of Bcl-2 expression were significant in each group, but also significant at different time points (F = 211.607,

54.083, *P* < 0. 001; Table 4).

Bax positive cells mainly showed that the cytoplasm and some nuclei were stained yellow or claybank. The control group only had a small amount of Bcl-2 protein expression, but all irradiated groups had a considerable number of positive cells. Among them, the rats liver in 12 Gy group and 8 Gy group had strong Bcl-2 protein expression and were stained to claybank. Compared between the groups, the results of Bax expression showed significant differences (F = 116.577, P < 0.001). In the same group differences were significant among to the liver dissected at different time points (F = 68.749, P < 0.001; Table 5).

Discussion

Along with clinical application of SRT, 3D-CRT, IMRT, IGRT, proton therapy, fast neutron therapy, hypofraction irradiation therapy is increasingly outstanding. Through the increase of fractionated dose, hypo-fraction irradiation therapy can kill cancer cells and hypoxic cells as much as possible to reduce tumor cell repopulation and improve local tumor control rate ^[2, 3]. However the incidence of normal tissue complications, especially the tolerance of late response tissues is a restrictively factor to improve tumor radiotherapy therapeutic ratio (TR)^[4]. In the radiotherapy of abdominal tumors such as gastrointestinal, liver and gallbladder, the liver is an important involving organ of dose-limiting, and its tolerability of radiotherapy, is a valuable discussion of radiobiology^[5]. Recent experience from a Canadian study ^[6] highlights the feasibility, safety, and efficacy of this strategy: 31 patients with HCC, Child-Pugh class A, were treated with highly conformal RT, and the 9-month in-field local control rate was 78%, with a median survival of 11.0 months. Mateen studied the feasibility of concomitant chemoradiation using gemcitabine in primary liver cancer, and confirmed that concomitant gemcitabine and ERT is a feasible option with moderate toxicity in advanced HCC^[7].

At present we search for the study of the problem, especially in basic experimental research rarely. In this study, the Wistar rats received abdominal X-ray hypo-fraction irradiation in accordance with the planned fractionated doses. We observed the changes of the liver morphology, function and apoptotic protein expression of Bcl-2 and Bax, to investigate the early radiobiological effects of rats liver and its possible mechanism.

We found morphological changes of the experiment samples: (1) With naked eyes, rat liver surface and the cut surface shows different extent of dark red. The higher the fractionated dose, the more obvious these changes; (1) under the microscope, pathological sections of 6 Gy, 8 Gy and 12 Gy group see the expansive veins and sinusoidal congestion, hepatic venous occlusive disease (VOD),

	()(/ / /	,			
Groups	2nd week	4th week	6th week	8th week	10th week
Control	1.31 ± 0.20	1.40 ± 0.28	1.26 ± 0.14	1.32 ± 0.16	1.27 ± 0.10
4 Gy	1.27 ± 0.47	1.26 ± 0.14	1.19 ± 0.07	1.09 ± 0.11	1.05 ± 0.03
6 Gy	1.28 ± 0.11	1.25 ± 0.07	1.25 ± 0.13	1.09 ± 0.02	1.04 ± 0.05
8 Gy	1.35 ± 0.52	1.29 ± 0.17	1.13 ± 0.06	1.00 ± 0.07	0.94 ± 0.05
12 Ġy	1.32 ± 0.09	1.26 ± 0.14	1.15 ± 1.00	0.96 ± 0.03	0.85 ± 0.06

Table 1 Comparison of liver coefficient $(\chi/\%, \overline{\chi} \pm s)$

Liver coefficient between groups at the same time point, F = 11.833, P < 0.001; Liver coefficient within the group at different time points, F = 28.822, P < 0.001

Table 2 Comparison of GPT (c/µmol·L⁻¹, $\overline{\chi} \pm s$)

Groups	2nd week	4th week	6th week	8th week	10th week
Control	55.63 ± 4.16	57.60 ± 3.49	57.00 ± 4.20	56.77 ± 1.07	56.65 ± 3.13
4 Gy	55.20 ± 2.77	59.00 ± 1.00	61.45 ± 6.00	63.40 ± 3.29	64.60 ± 8.46
6 Gy	63.40 ± 3.64	66.80 ± 4.49	70.40 ± 4.39	72.40 ± 5.85	76.40 ± 5.68
8 Gy	69.00 ± 3.65	72.80 ± 8.22	76.00 ± 6.89	77.20 ± 5.06	79.80 ± 5.40
12 Ğy	65.00 ± 2.55	71.20 ± 1.92	83.20 ± 5.31	86.00 ± 4.49	97.00 ± 4.30

GPT between groups, F = 77.636, P < 0.001; GPT at different time points, F = 20.857, P < 0.001

Table 3 Comparison of GOT (c/µmol·L⁻¹, $\overline{\chi} \pm s$)

Groups	2nd week	4th week	6th week	8th week	10th week
Control	6. 64 ± 0.39	6. 18 ± 0.23	6. 31 ± 0.47	6. 52 ± 0.53	6. 32 ± 0.44
4 Gy	8.64 ± 0.91	9.71 ± 0.42	10.62± 0.48	12.04 ± 0.29	13.01 ± 0.97
6 Gy	9.50 ± 0.60	10.31 ± 0.76	11.34 ± 0.42	13.14 ± 0.17	14.42 ± 1.28
8 Gy	9.85 ± 0.47	12.12 ± 0.33	13.48 ± 0.76	15.06 ± 0.40	17.39 ± 1.05
12 Ġy	10.42 ± 0.61	14.46 ± 0.49	16.42 ± 0.48	18.33 ± 0.50	20.91 ± 1.04

GOT between groups, F = 781.972, P < 0.001; GOT at different time points, F = 264.692, P < 0.001

Table 4 Comparison of Bcl-2 protein expression $(\chi/\%, \overline{\chi} \pm s)$

Groups	2nd week	4th week	6th week	8th week	10th week
Control	35.40 ± 4.16	34.60 ± 2.79	34.40 ± 4.15	36.40 ± 1.14	35.40 ± 2.60
4 Gy	32.00 ± 2.23	26.89 ± 2.05	24.60 ± 2.07	20.60 ± 2.40	19.40 ± 2.70
6 Gy	28.60 ± 2.07	24.40 ± 2.41	21.60 ± 2.80	20.60 ± 1.12	17.60 ± 2.07
8 Gy	24.00 ± 2.55	23.60 ± 1.82	21.80 ± 1.30	17.40 ± 1.81	15.20 ± 1.30
<u>12 Ġy</u>	22.80 ± 2.39	21.60 ± 1.51	17.00 ± 1.87	14.00 ± 2.00	12.00 ± 1.58

The differences of Bcl-2 expression were significant between groups (F = 211.607, P < 0.001); The differences of Bcl-2 expression were significant in each group (F = 54.083, P < 0.001)

Table 5	Comparison of Bax protein expression (χ /%, $\overline{\chi} \pm s$)
---------	---

Groups	2nd week	4th week	6th week	8th week	10th week
Control	12.80 ± 1.64	13.60 ± 1.14	13.40 ± 2.07	13.40 ± 1.67	14. 0 ± 1.87
4 Gy	14.20 ± 1.30	16.60 ± 1.81	20.40 ± 1.94	21. 2 ± 1. 92	24.40 ± 2.51
6 Gy	14.80 ± 3.19	16.00 ± 2.64	21.00 ± 1.50	24.00 ± 1.58	25.00 ± 1.58
8 Gy	19.80 ± 1.64	20.00 ± 2.00	22.00 ± 1.58	25.60 ± 3.04	29.80 ± 2.77
12 Ġy	19.40 ± 1.14	22.60 ± 2.41	24.80 ± 2.59	27.60 ± 2.07	30.20 ± 1.92

The differences of Bax expression were significant between groups (F = 116.577, P < 0.001); The differences of Bax expression were significant in each group (F = 68.749, P < 0.001)

Spotty necrosis, necrosis, the increase of collagen fibers at portal area and around the central vein. Among the exposed groups, morphological changes appeared in the 12 Gy group first. It indicated that the liver morphological injuries were aggravated with the increase of fractionated doses in the same equivalent total dose. In the same group, liver morphological change was progressively increased with the increase of total exposure. It caused by the increase of collagen fibers after liver cell necrosis. The experimental results is consistent with the four stages summary of the pathological development of radioactive liver injury ^[8]. The statistics show that the damage of the liver lobule after irradiation Presents a dose-and-time dependent curve. The fatal injury of a large number of liver cells necrosis is irreversible, leading the development of liver injury to the direction of radioactive liver fibrosis.

GPT, GOT are specific serological markers to reflect impaired liver function. Impaired liver function because of liver cell inflammation and necrosis will lead to the GPT and GOT significantly higher, and GOT change is more significant. We considered that GPT is found primarily in non-mitochondrial of the liver cells, 80% of GOT present in the mitochondria of liver cells. Larger radiation damage to the mitochondria resulted in the release of mitochondrial GOT ^[9]. In this study changes in liver function is consistent with changes in liver morphology. This indicates that a single large-dose caused liver tissue to reduce the radiation tolerance.

Bcl-2 gene family is one of the major regulatory genes of apoptosis in mammalian cells, playing an important role in the X-ray-induced apoptosis process. The ratio of anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic protein in Bcl-2 family is the key to determine the cells sensitivity to death sign ^[10]. Bcl-2 is one of the strongest anti-apoptotic effects ever found. Bax is also one of the members of the family, but its role is to induce apoptosis. Therefore, Bcl-2/bax whom displays the ratio of the pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic forces determine the sensitivity of cells to apoptotic stimuli. Many studies have shown that Bcl-2/Bax involved in irradiative damage to normal cells and was significantly related to cell apoptosis [11]. Our results show that hypofraction irradiation can up-regulate expression of Bax and down-regulate expression of bcl-2 in Wistar rat liver. The decrease of bcl-2/bax ratio suggested that hepatocyte apoptosis may be related to bcl-2/bax.

In summary, the liver tissue damage caused by the irradiation may be related to highly expressed apoptotic protein Bax and low expression of apoptosis protein Bcl-2. The severity of their damage shows a dose-and-time dependent curve. Regarding to the reduced radiation tolerance of liver tissue caused by increasing the single split dose, we should try to improve the accuracy of radiotherapy to reduce the exposure of normal liver tissue. We need pay special attention to the protection of the liver tissue especially in hypo-fraction radiotherapy.

References

- Zhou XB, Ji XQ, Xu L. PPMS 1. 5 statistical software function and its application. ACTA Acad Med Qingdao Univ (Chinese), 2009, 45: 91–93.
- Chen GY. Hypo-fraction irradiation the future of radiotherapy. Tumor, 2008, 28: 453–456.
- Fowler JF, Tome WA, Fenwick JD, et al. A challenge to traditional radiation oncology. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2004, 60:1241–1256.
- Yang RJ, Dai JR, Hu YM. Biological evaluation and optimization of Radiotherapy. Chin J Radiat Oncol (Chinese), 2006, 15: 172–175.
- Schneider U, Besserer J, Mack A. Hypofractionated radiotherapy has the potential for second cancer reduction. Theor Biol Med Model, 2010, 7: 4–10.
- Krishnan S, Dawson LA, Seong J, et al. Radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: an overview. Ann Surg Oncol, 2008, 15: 1015–1024.
- Mateen A, Javed AA, Masood AI. Concomitant chemoradiation using gemcitabine in locally advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2012, 3: 130–133.
- Wang Dewen. Radiation injury pathomorphology. Wu Dechang editor. Radiation Medicine. Beijing: Military Medical Science Press, 2001. 104–105.
- Hua P, Liang J, Shi HJ, *et al*. An experimental study of dog liver injury and recovery after semi-liver alternate three-dimensional conformal and unconventional division radiotherapy. Mod Oncol (Chinese), 2006, 14: 270–272.
- Wang WD. Bcl-2/Bax ratio and the "life or death fate". Chin J Cancer Biother (Chinese), 2007, 14: 393–396.
- Wang X, An YH, He XJ, et al. Impact of abdominal hypofractionation X2 ray irradiation on radiobiological effect in rat kidneys. Med J Qilu (Chinese), 2011, 26: 189–194.

Comparative analysis of therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stages postoperative patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma

Li Zhao, Shuyao Zuo, Guoming Wang

Department of Nuclear Medicine, The Affiliated Hospital of Medical College Qingdao University, Qingdao 266003, China

Received: 19 March 2012 / Revised: 20 April 2012 / Accepted: 5 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The aim of this study was to compare the effect of ¹³¹I therapy of different clinical stages in postoperative patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC). *Methods:* Eighty-seven PTC patients after surgery ablated with high doses of ¹³¹I from 2004 to 2010 were retrospectively reviewed. The efficacy of ¹³¹I therapy was assessed by three diagnostics that serum thyroglobulin (Tg) was normal or significantly reduced, ¹³¹I whole body scan (¹³¹I-WBS) was negative or the metastases shrank or the number of them decreased and new metastases was not found in cervical ultrasound examination. The χ^2 test was used to analyze 3 factors which might affect the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in patients of different clinical period, including different surgical ways (total or subtotal thyroidectomy along with half or double sides neck lymph node dissection), age (< 45 years and ≥ 45 years) and ablative ¹³¹I dose. *Results:* Of 87 patients, the effective rate of 46 patients I stage was 89.13% (41); the effective rate of 22 cases III stage was 77.27% (17); the effective rate of 19 cases IV stage was 36.84% (7). The corresponding intra-groups statistical difference of 3 stages was significant by χ^2 test (χ^2 = 1.72, 19.03, 6.87; *P* > 0.25, *P* < 0.005, *P* < 0.01). The effective rate was 91.67% (44) in 48 cases undergoing total thyroidectomy; the effective rate was 53.85% (21) in 39 patients undergoing subtotal thyroidectomy. There was a significant difference between the two groups above by χ^2 test (χ^2 = 16.291; *P* < 0.005). *Conclusion:* The efficacy of ¹³¹I ablation of stage I and stage III in postoperative PTC patients was almost alike, while the efficacy of stage IV descended markedly. The results was mainly determined by residual thyroid tissue size because of different surgical modus.

Key words thyroid carcinoma; surgery; operative; iodine radioisotopes; radionuclide imaging

Thyroid cancer rate appears to be rising distinctly year by year. Differentiated thyroid carcinoma (DTC) is the most common type, accounting for 89% [1, 2] of thyroid malignancy, in which papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) is the most frequent endocrine cancer. Therefore, people pay more attention to the treatment and prognosis of postoperative patients with PTC. Currently, it is general acknowledged that the radioiodine (131I) treatment is used to remove postoperative residual thyroid tissues and metastasis and recurrence. In 2002, Union International Control Cancer (UICC) published the latest edition of clinical stages. It is very necessary to understand if they are different about the effect of ¹³¹I therapy of different clinical stages in postoperative PTC patients. 87 cases who had undergone high doses of ¹³¹I therapy were retrospectively reviewed from 2004 to 2011 in our hospital. The aim of this study was to compare the effect of ¹³¹I therapy of different clinical stages in postoperative PTC patients.

Patients and methods

Patients

Eighty-seven PTC patients (21 males, 66 females; age rang: 6–74 years; mean age: 40 years) were proved pathologically after removing primary tumor and undergoing total or subtotal thyroidectomy along with neck lymph node. Forty-eight cases had undergone total thyroidectomy, and 39 cases subtotal thyroidectomy. It was 1–24 months from postoperative to the first ¹³¹I remnant ablation therapy, average 4 months. They were followed up for 2–4 years, including 2 dead cases. One case of III stage died of pancreatic cancer and 1 case of IV died of unknown causes.

Clinical stage and ablative ¹³¹I dose

According to the Sixth Edition (latest edition) TNM stage recommendations of the 2002 UICC and the operation records and pathological results, 87 patients were classified to different clinical stages, 46 cases belong to I stage, 0 case II, 22 cases III, 19 cases IV. Forty-one cases of I stage were effective and their mean therapeutic dose was 8.14 GBq (rang 3.7–18.5 GBq). Seventeen cases of III stage and 7 cases of IV stage were effective and their mean therapeutic doses were 6.56 GBq (rang 3.7–14.8 GBq), and 13.32 GBq (7.4–18.5 GBq), respectively.

Methods of radioiodine therapy

Before ¹³¹I therapy, all the patients were required to withdraw thyroxine for at least 4-6 weeks, take a noiodine diet, and stop using any drug with iodine. Some routine examinations including blood routine test, renal function, hepatic function, cervical ultrasound, serum FT₃, FT₄, TSH, TG and TgAb were performed. According to the guidelines for thyroid cancer of ¹³¹I ablation in the American Thyroid Association 2009, the first ¹³¹I ablative doses range of remnant thyroid tissue was 2.96-3.7 GBq (6 years for 2.59 GBq). The doses of ¹³¹I were given 3.7–7.4 GBq for eliminating lymph node metastases. The mean therapeutic times of all cases was 2.3 times (range 1-5 times). All the patients were observed for 5-7 days after ¹³¹I therapy and then underwent ¹³¹I whole body scan (¹³¹I-WBS) to estimate the ¹³¹I uptake of the remnant thyroid and metastases. If there were metastases, the patients would be considered to reuse ¹³¹I therapy after 3-6 months.

Assessment of therapeutic results

Negative serum Tg and ¹³¹I-WBS were marked as cured; negative serum Tg and shrink of focus or reduction of the number of metastases in ¹³¹I-WBS were looked as improved; serum Tg reduction and no changing of the size or the number of metastases in ¹³¹I-WBS and no finding new metastases in neck ultrasound were indicated stable; higher blood Tg, appearance of new metastases or the size increase of original metastases or the death were considered as treatment failure.

Statistical analysis

This retrospective study was analyzed by χ^2 test.

Results

Therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stages

The intra-stages statistical difference of 3 stages above was significant by χ^2 test ($\chi^2 = 19.558$, P < 0.005). The total effective rate of I stag was 89.13% and it was higher than that of III and IV stages. The therapeutic efficacy

Table 1 Therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stages (*n*)

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			J = ()
Charges		Effect			Effect rate
Stages	Cured	Improved	Stable	- Failure	(%)
I	22	11	8	5	89.13
III	5	10	2	5	77.27
IV	0	2	5	12	36.84
Total	27	23	15	22	

 Table 2
 Therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in surgical ways and age (n)

Surgery modus and age	n	Effect	Failure	Effect rate (%)
Surgery modus				
Total thyroidectomy (TT)	48	44	4	91.67
Simple TT	12	12	0	
TT + half side neck lymph node	24	24	0	
TT + double sides neck lymph node	12	8	4	
Subtotal thyroidectomy (STT)	39	21	18	53.81
Simple STT	17	11	6	
STT +half side neck lymph node	15	8	7	
STT+half sides neck lymph node	7	2	5	
Age (years)				
< 45	38	33	5	86.84
≥ 45	49	32	17	65.31

of ¹³¹I was no significant difference between I stages and III stages ($\chi^2 = 1.72$, P > 0.25, while there was significant difference between I and IV, III and IV ($\chi^2 = 19.03$, 6.87, P < 0.005, P < 0.01; Table 1).

Therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I and surgical ways

The effective rate was 91.67% in 48 patients undergoing total thyroidectomy. It was higher than the effective rate of the 39 cases undergoing subtotal thyroidectomy. There was statistically significant difference in surgical ways between the 2 groups above ($\chi^2 = 16.291$, P < 0.005; Table 2).

Therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I and different age

In 38 patients of < 45 years, the effective rate was 86.84%. In 49 patients of \ge 45 years, the effective rate was 65.31%. There was statistically significant difference in age between the 2 groups ($\chi^2 = 5.254$, P < 0.05; Table 2).

Discussion

PTC was characterized with distinctive features of multi-centricity ^[3–5]. 38%–87% of PTC patients were found microscopic lesions in the contralateral lobe ^[6, 7]. There are still 40%–45% ^[8] residual lesions after operation. It has been reported in the literature that 80%–87% DTC still remain normal thyroid ¹³¹I uptake function ^[9]. Local and distant metastases were also commonly found in some patients before surgery, and most of the metastasis could uptake ¹³¹I. Therefore, ¹³¹I can effectively elimi-

nate thyroid remnant and postoperative metastasis.

According to the Sixth Edition (latest edition) TNM stage recommendations of the 2002 UICC [10], PTC is divided into four stages. The therapeutic effect of ¹³¹I varies. The results of this study show ¹³¹I treatment effect is similar in I and III patients. While the curative effect of IV PTC patients was significantly lower than that of I stage and III stage. This suggests that it should be different for stage IV patients in ¹³¹I treatment method, ¹³¹I dose and treatment cycle time. It may be appropriate to increase the dose of ¹³¹I therapy and shorten interval time. Because PTC patients develop easily lymph node metastasis in early stage, II cases of \geq 45 years are less. PTC patients of < 45 years have been diagnosed and treated before the occurrence of distant metastases with enhancement of their health awareness, which is the reason of lack of II stage patients. It was also reported that II stage PTC patients had the best therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I [11] and their age and pathological types did not affect the results. Although there was no II stage in the 87 PTC patients, II stage was involved in the result of I stage and III stage. So we believe the result is in concordance with the literature above.

There are different lesion sizes, encroachment outside thyroid and lymph node metastasis or distant metastasis in different clinical stages, so their surgical ways are different. The therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I of the total thyroidectomy is superior to the efficacy of the subtotal resection (P < 0.005). In this study, the results show that the volume of residual thyroid tissues is crucial in ¹³¹I therapy. As PTC patients of stages I and III have no or light encroachment outside thyroid and lymph node metastasis is limited, the number of total thyroidectomy patients is larger and the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I is better. While IV stage patients could not undergo total thyroidectomy with distinct infiltration to surrounding tissue, vascular encroachment and lymph node metastasis or distant transfer. Therefore, it increased distantly the difficulty of ¹³¹I treatment in post-operation patients. This was an important reason that the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I of stage IV was significantly lower than that of stage I and III. We believe that the difference of the efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stages distantly correlates with operation approach. Thus, surgeons would be proposed to refer to the related reference guide to enforce surgery for PTC patients ^[12, 13] (such as the diagnosis and treatment guidelines of American Thyroid Association Thyroid nodules and DTC) and resect thyroid tissue as much as possible under the premise of no damaging to the parathyroid glands tissue. This can improve the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I.

It has been reported that the treatment effect in PTC patients of < 45 years is better than that of \ge 45 years old patients ^[11]. Some scholars also believed that age did not affect the therapeutic efficacy of high-dose ¹³¹I treatment

^[14]. In this study, the therapeutic efficacy of < 45 years old patients was good, mainly because they were all in I stage. Their total removal rate was high and residual focus was small and the treatment efficacy increased obviously. So we believe that age is not the primal influence factor in the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I treatment. In 87 cases, a 37 years old PTC patient of stage I was performed the total resection, but she began to use ¹³¹I treatment after 24 months. Although she used 5 times, she still developed pulmonary metastases and delayed efficacy. It is evident that the first ¹³¹I ablative time can also affect ¹³¹I ablative efficacy. So we propose that PTC patients, whose focus diameter is > 4 cm or < 4 cm along with external thyroid invasion or distant metastases, should use ¹³¹I treatment after operation as early as possible. This can enhance ¹³¹I treatment efficacy in some extent.

It is worth to discuss how ¹³¹I ablative dose affects the treatment effect. Some scholars have suggested that high-dose ¹³¹I was used for several times to improve the efficacy ^[15, 16], but in this study the mean total dose of ¹³¹I thyroid remnant and metastases were 8.14 GBq and 6.56 GBq in the effective patients of stage I and III. There was a better efficacy that the PTC patients were used 3.7-5.5 GBq after ¹³¹I thyroid remnant. The view is concordance with the other study ^[17]. The therapeutic mean dose of IV patients is 13.32 GBq due to big residual thyroid tissue and distant metastases. It was higher than that of I stage and III stage, but the therapeutic efficacy of stage IV was not been changed. That is to say that ¹³¹I ablative dose is not a main factor to affect ¹³¹I curative effect, but we may adjust adequately the dose of ¹³¹I to achieve the purpose of therapy according to the different feature of PTC patients.

By comparison the therapeutic efficacy of ¹³¹I in different clinical stage, the nuclear medicine workers must read carefully the operation records and consider firstly residual thyroid tissue size to make a treatment plan for patients. Thus blind treatment will be avoided.

References

- Ji H, Zhu RS, Yu YL, *et al.* Efficacy analysis of first radioiodine ablation of residual thyroid tissue in postoperative patients with thyroid cancer. Chin J Nucl Med (Chinese), 2001, 21: 91–92.
- Beierwaltes WH, Nishiyama RH, Thompson N. Survival time and "Cure" in papillary and follicular thyroid carcinoma with distant metastases: statistics following university of Michigan therapy. J Nucl Med, 1982, 23: 561–568.
- Mazzaferri EL, Jhiang SM. Long-term impact of initial surgical and medical therapy on papillary and follicular thyroid cancer. Am J Med, 1994, 97: 418–428.
- DeGroot LJ, Kaplan EL, McCormick M, *et al.* Natural history, treatment, and course of papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1990, 71: 414–424.
- 5. Shah JP, Loree TR, Dharker D, et al. Prognosis factors in differentiat-

ed carcinoma of the thyroid gland. Am J Surg, 1992, 164: 658-661.

- Pacini F, Elisei R, Capezzone M, *et al.* Contralateral papillary thyroid cancer is frequent at completion thyroidectomy with no difference in low- and high-risk patients. Thyroid, 2001, 11: 877–881.
- Rosário PW, Pereira LF, Padráo EL, et al. Comparison of completion thyroidectomy and primary surgery for differentiated thyroid carcinoma. ANZ J Surg, 2006, 76: 332–334.
- Tan JH, Ling WL, Lan QL. Effect of surgical treatment combined with 131-iodine therapy on differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Chin J Gen Surg (Chinese), 2011, 20: 439-442.
- Li XY, Wang ZM, Huang Y, *et al.* Surgical treatment of thyroid cancer (a report of 487 cases). Chin J Gener Surg (Chinese), 2002, 11: 263–266.
- Liu YW, Liu HF, Sun YL, *et al.* Accuracy of the 6th UICC TNM staging system on prognostic prediction of thyroid cancer, as compared with the 5th edition. J Surg Concepts Pract (Chinese), 2007, 12: 163–165.
- Wu JC, Wu JZ, Liu J, et al. Follow-up after ¹³¹ I therapy on thyroid carcinoma metastases. Chin J Nucl Med (Chinese), 1993, 13: 217–219.

- Shi BY. The American thyroid association in evaluation of guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules or differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Chin J Pract Inter Med (Chinese), 2007, 27: 1345–1351.
- Lian XL. Analytical reading of "the American guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules or differentiated thyroid carcinoma (2006)". Chin J Pract Surg (Chinese), 2007, 27: 933–936.
- Fu HL, Wang H, Wu JC, *et al.* Analysis on the factors affecting the efficacy of ¹³¹I remnant ablation in patients after thyroidectomy for differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Chin J Nucl Med (Chinese), 2009, 29: 149–152.
- Zhu RS, Yu YL, Lu HK, et al. The clinical summary of 312 cases of differentiated thyroid cancer metastases with 131 I treatment. Chin J Nucl Med (Chinese), 2002, 22: 325–327.
- Doi SA, Woodhouse NJ, Thalib L, *et al.* Ablation of the thyroid remnant and ¹³¹I dose in differentiated thyroid caner: a meta-analysis revisited. Clin Med Res, 2007, 5: 87–90.
- Zuo SY, Wang GM, Wang XF, *et al.* ¹³¹I therapy of inoperable lymph node metastases from differentiated thyroid cancer. Chinese J Nucl Med (Chinese), 2004, 24: 225–226.

《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》2013年征订启事

《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》(英文)系中国教育部主管,华中科技大学同济医学院主办,中德合作出版的医学学 术期刊,并作为中德医学协会与德中医学协会的联合刊物出版发行。

全国各地邮局均可订阅

也可向编辑部直接订阅(可享受优惠)

本刊为月刊,每月末25日出版,邮发代号 38-121

本刊面向国内外公开发行

国内订价¥28.00/本,国外订价\$30.00/本 国内全年订价¥336.00/套,国外全年订价\$360.00/套

- ▲开户行: 招行硚口支行 882728 ▲开户单位: 华中科技大学同济医学院附属同济医院
- ▲帐号: 270380023710001 ▲联系电话: +86-27-83662630 ▲联系人: 吴强
- ▲地址:湖北省武汉市解放大道1095号同济医院内 ▲邮编: 430030 ▲Email: dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn

Clinical outcome analysis of 98 elderly women with early-stage breast cancer undergoing modified radical mastectomy or simple mastectomy

Zhilong Jia, Baoxia Su

Department of Oncological Surgery, The Affiliated Hospital of Logistics College of Chinese People's Armed Police Force, Tianjin 300162, China

Received: 2 March 2012 / Revised: 2 April 2012 / Accepted: 25 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Objective: The aim of our study was to analyze the clinical results and prognosis for early elderly patients after surgery and to explore the rational treatment. **Methods:** Between January 1992 and December 2008, 98 early elderly breast cancer patients aged \ge 65 years were treated with surgery, of which 52 patients received modified radical mastectomy and 46 patients received simple mastectomy. **Results:** Sixty-four (65.3%) patients had comorbidities including coronary heart disease, hypertension, diabetes, etc. After a median follow up of 56 months (21 to 280 months), the 5-year cumulative survival rate of breast modified radical mastectomy group and mastectomy group were 84.0% and 82.7%, separately (P = 0.653). The 5-year recurrence rate were 3.8% and 8.1%, separately (P = 0.504). **Conclusion:** The simple mastectomy is suitable for the treatment of early elderly breast cancer patients for its lower complication and recurrence rate. Early old women with breast cancer may be safely treated by simple mastectomy. Our findings suggest that modified radical mastectomy does not significantly increase the overall survival.

Key words elderly women; modified radical mastectomy; mastectomy

Breast cancer is the most common malignant tumor in women, as the second leading cause of cancer-related death in the world. In an aging population an increasing number of breast cancers is diagnosed in elderly women. In western countries, about 43% of the newly diagnosed breast cancer patients are aged more than 65 years ^[1, 2]. Hence, breast cancer has been severely threatening the health and life of elderly women. In 2008, more than 15% of patients with breast cancer in China were aged 65 years or older at the time of diagnosis ^[3]. It is remarkable that the tumor biology, physiological and psychological features appear to be different in elderly patients with breast cancer than in younger ones, and until now, there is no adherence guideline improving breast cancer cure and care in the elderly in the same way as expected in younger population ^[4]. Therefore, it is important to recognize above mentioned facts, and eventually guide elderly patients with breast cancer toward the most appropriate treatment strategies.

Patients and methods

General data

Between January 1992 and December 2008, 98 women with breast cancer (stages I–II) were treated with surgery in our hospital (Department of Oncological Surgery, The Affiliated Hospital of Logistics College of Chinese People's Armed Police Force, Tianjin, China). Their ages ranged from 65 to 89 years (median, 71 years). The patients all had pathologically confirmed, 64 cases (65.3%) combined with cardiac-cerebral vascular disease, diabetes and chronic respiratory disease; 20 cases (20.4%) combined with two more diseases. Breast cancer was defined according to WHO Histological Classification of Breast Cancer (2003), the six edition of the tumour node metastasis (TNM) classification from AJCC. The clinical and pathological features were shown on Table 1.

Surgical methods

Fifty-two patients received modified radical mastectomy, among them, 15 cases with preservation of the pectoralis major muscle, 37 cases with preservation of both the pectoralis major and minor muscles, axillary dissection consisted of removal of the lymph nodes at level II

Clinical features	n (%)	Modified radical mastectomy group	Mastectomy group	Р
Age (years)				> 0.05
65–69	40 (40.8)	23	17	
70–79	47 (48.0)	25	22	
80–89	11 (11.2)	4	7	
TNM stage				> 0.05
I	28 (28.6)	11	17	
II	70 (71.4)	41	29	
Histologic type				> 0.05
Infiltrating ductal carcinoma	64 (65.3)	37	27	
Intraductal papillary carcinoma	10 (10.2)	4	6	
Adenocarcinoma	12 (12.2)	7	5	
Other carcinoma	12 (12.2)	5	7	
Histological grade	· · · ·			> 0.05
+	50 (86.2)	24	26	
III	8 (13.8)	6	2	
Indeterminate	40	22	18	
Estrogen receptor				> 0.05
+	66 (81.5)	36	30	
_	15 (18.5)	10	5	
Indeterminate	17` ′	6	11	
Progesterone receptor				> 0.05
Positive	55 (69.6)	30	25	
Negative	24 (30.4)	15	9	
Indeterminate	19	6	13	
Her-2	-	-	-	> 0.05
Positive	9 (13.0)	4	5	
Negative	60 (87.0)	31	19	
Indeterminate	29	11	18	
No. of positive axillary lymph nodes				
0	43 (82.7)			
1–3	8 (15.4)			
≥ 4	1 (1.9)			

 Table 1
 The clinical and pathological features of 98 elderly breast cancer patients

and III. Simple mastectomy was performed in 46 cases.

Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy

Thirty-three (33.6%) patients received adjuvant chemotherapy includes cyclophosphamide/methotrexate/5-fluorouracil (CMF), cyclophosphamide/ doxorubicin/5-Fluorouracil (CAF) or cyclophosphamide/ Epirubicin/5-Fluorouracil (CEF) regimen. Twenty-four (24.4%) patients received radiotherapy after operation or radiotherapy, 41 (41.8%) patients were treated with Tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors (oral route) for 5 years.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 13.0 statistical analysis software was used. Differences in characteristics and adherence to guidelines between the two age groups were analyzed by means of Pearson's χ^2 test. Curves for overall survival were estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method and compared using the Log-rank test. P < 0.05 was regarded as statistically significant difference.

Results

Ninety-eight patients were begun to follow-up after operation, with a median duration of follow up of 56 months (21–280 months). Two patients who received modified radical mastectomy had bone metastasis (after 23 months) and lung metastasis (after 24 months), respectively. One patient developed a local relapse 25 months after mastectomy, and then treated with local excision and endocrine therapy. There are 3 patients deaths from breast cancer, 2 patients deaths from cranial vascular disease, and other patients were survival without tumor. Among patients who received simple mastectomy, 3 cases developed a local relapse after 14, 37 and 65 months, respectively; 2 cases were treated with local excision, 1 case was treated with nothing, 1 case received letrozole; 3 patients developed lung metastasis, brain metastases and bone metasta-
sis, respectively; there are 5 patients deaths from breast cancer, 5 patients deaths from other diseases, and other patients were survival without tumor. There were no significant differences between the 2 groups in terms of age, TNM stage, histologic type, histological grade, estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and Her-2 (P > 0.05; Table 1). The 5-year cumulative survival rate of the 2 groups were 84.0% and 82.7% respectively; the 5-year recurrence rate were 3.8% and 8.1% respectively, all of them had no significant differences between the 2 groups (P = 0.653 and 0.503; Fig. 1).

Discussion

Breast cancer incidence increases with age, and as the China population ages, is becoming more common. Comparison to younger, the invasiveness of tumor cells in elderly patients is relatively weak and expression of HER-2 is lower^[5]. Noticing the disease course of elderly breast cancer, it makes slower progress than younger. According to ER and PR evaluation, the double positive rate is higher in elderly patients [6]. Similarly, our study indicated that the proportion of elderly patients with ER and PR-double positive is 70.4% (n = 69), and the proportion of double-negative is 11.2% (*n* = 11). In addition, elderly patients have a great incidence of comorbidity, including pulmonary diseases, cardiac-cerebral vascular diseases and diabetes, and therefore treatment options may differ. Much more elderly patients are less likely to receive breast cancer surgery, radiation or chemotherapy. In this work, the proportion of comorbidity in elder women patients is 65.3%. Currently, there is no standard treatment mode in elderly breast cancer therapy. To decide on the most suitable therapeutic strategy, think about many factors besides age is necessary ^[6].

The treatment of breast cancer has advanced considerably in the last two decades due to detection technique and especially with the development of alternative surgical approaches ^[7]. Primary therapy for early-stage breast cancer in elderly people should be modified radical mastectomy. The current evidence established that breast cancer is one of the systemic diseases, so local therapy is not enough. Multiple studies indicated that elderly women should receive less-aggressive surgery, including minimally invasive and fewer axillary dissections. Fisher et al [8] reported that lumpectomy followed by breast irradiation continues to be appropriate therapy for women with early breast cancer. Hughes *et al*^[9] investigated that Lumpectomy plus adjuvant therapy with tamoxifen alone is a realistic choice for the treatment of women 70 years of age or older who have early, ER-positive breast cancer. Above mentioned studies suggested that modified radical mastectomy plus systemic therapy is an effective treatment for elderly women with early breast cancer. Ge et



Fig. 1 Survival curves of elderly breast cancer patients received breast surgery

al^[10] analyzed the clinical outcome of 166 aged women with breast cancer who were all treated by operation. The overall postoperative 5-year survival rates with I stage or II stage patients were 89.1% and 60.2%, respectively. It is similar that the 5-year survival rates of patients treated with pure mastectomy is 82.7% in our study, however, the 5-year survival rates of modified radical mastectomy group is 84%. There were no statistical differences between two groups who were treated with modified radical radical mastectomy or pure mastectomy.

Axillary lymph node dissection (ALND) has been recommended treatment for breast cancer patients with early lymph node metastasis. ALND was thought to offer prognostic information, prevent axillary local recurrence, and possibly seriously influence the quality of patients' life by many other postsurgical complications. Martelli et al^[11] performed a randomized trial comparing axillary dissection to no axillary dissection in older patients with T1N0 breast cancer. Their result suggested that older patients with T1N0 breast cancer can be treated by conservative breast surgery and no axillary dissection without adversely affecting breast cancer mortality or 5-year overall survival rates. Odendaal et al [12] indicated that a conservative approach to treating breast cancer patients was adopted for those more than 70 years of age with T1-3 and small localized T4b N0-1 lesions. Tumor excision or simple mastectomy with tamoxifen offers sufficient tumor control for elderly patients. Axillary dissection and breast or chest wall radiotherapy can safely be omitted, thereby greatly reducing health care resource utilization. In our study, pathologic analysis after ALND has been shown that the negative rate of lymph node metastasis is 82.7%, and only 17.3% of all patients with lymph node metastasis. Among them, 8 patients involved 1 to 3 lymph nodes, and one patients had 4 lymph node involving. The

results suggested that the modified radical mastectomy without ALND may be an appropriate therapeutic strategy for elderly breast cancer patients.

Hormonotherapy has certain curative effects and only some slight side effects in breast cancer. Because the expression level of hormone receptor is higher in elderly patients, the hormonotherapy has showed important position of breast cancer treatment. Hughes et al [9] investigated that Lumpectomy plus adjuvant therapy with tamoxifen alone is a realistic choice for the treatment of women 70 years of age or older who have early, ER-positive breast cancer. Third-generation aromatase inhibitors have proven to be superior to tamoxifen in terms of time to disease progression in patients with hormone receptor positive status and, nowadays, are used in the adjuvant and neoadjuvant settings and first-line therapy for elderly breast cancer patients. A recent study reported that aged ER+/PR- patients who tend to be resistant to tamoxifen treatment, but has more sensitive to letrozole [13]. Selecting the appropriate chemotherapy for elderly women with resected breast cancer may be the most challenging aspect of treating this patient population. Therefore, it is paramount to weigh the treatment's potential to reduce risk with aged patients' life expectancy independent of breast cancer and the potential toxicity of the therapy. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network has recommended the hormonotherapy to breast cancer patients who aged more than 70 years old if their have hormone receptor positive tumors. But most eventually develop hormone resistance or metastatic breast cancer such as hormone receptor negative or lymph node metastasis, the systemic chemotherapy is required.

References

- Liang Y. Clinical epidemiology of elderly breast cancer. Chin J Breast Dis (Electronic version) (Chinese), 2008, 2: 493–495.
- Downey L, Livingston R, Stopeck A. Diagnosing and treating breast cancer in elderly women: a call for improved understanding. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2007, 55: 1636–1644.
- 3. Zhang BN, Zhang HM. Research status and prospect of elderly breast cancer. Chin J Oncol (Chinese), 2008, 30: 161–164.
- DeMichele A, Putt M, Zhang Y, et al. Older age predicts a decline in adjuvant chemotherapy recommendations for patients with breast carcinoma: evidence from a tertiary care cohort of chemotherapy-eligible patients. Cancer, 2003, 97: 2150–2159.
- Zhang Y, Jiang J, Yang XH, *et al.* Expressions of estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor in elderly breast cancer patients and its relationship with clinical pathology. J Third Mil Med Univ (Chinese), 2007, 29: 453–456.
- Zhang B. Breast cancer of older age. Chin Oncol (Chinese), 2005, 15: 422–425.
- Qiu XH. Clinical analysis of 65 cases elderly breast cancer. J Mod Oncol (Chinese), 2010, 18: 503–505.
- Fisher B, Aderson S, Bryant J, *et al.* Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy and radiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. N Eng J Med, 2002, 347: 1233–1241.
- Hughes KS, Sehnaper LA, Berry D, et al. Lumpectomy plus tamoxifen with or without irradiation in women 70 years of age or older with early breast cancer. N Eng Med, 2004, 351: 971–977.
- Ge GX, Gao ZH, Yang XH, et al. Clinical analysis of 166 aged women with breast cancer. Chin J Geriatr (Chinese), 2006, 25: 266–268.
- Martelli G, Boracchi P, De Palo M, et al. A randomized trial comparing axillary dissection to no axillary dissection in older patients with T1N0 breast cancer: results after 5 years of follow-up. Ann Surg, 2005, 242: 1–6.
- Odendaal Jde V, Apffelstaedt JP. Limited surgery and tamoxifen in the treatment of elderly breast cancer patients. World J Surg, 2003, 27: 125–129.
- Ye KD, Di GH, Wu L, *et al.* The predictive value of progesterone receptor status for adjuvant endocrine therapy for aged patients with breast cancer. Chin J Clin Oncol (Chinese), 2006, 33: 999–1002.

Clinical significance of the negative lymph node count after the axillary dissection of breast cancer patients

Yufeng Yao, Jinhai Tang, Jianwei Qin, Jianping Gong

Department of General Surgery, Jiangsu Cancer Hospital, Nanjing 210009, China

Received: 4 March 2012 / Revised: 20 April 2012 / Accepted: 5 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The purpose of this study was to evaluate the impact of the negative lymph node (LN) count on the survival of the breast cancer patients in early stage after the axillary dissection. *Methods:* The breast cancer patients with $T_{1-2}N_{0-1}M_0$ stage between January 2001 and December 2005 in Jiangsu Cancer Hospital, who underwent the axillary LNs dissection, were enrolled in this study. We analyzed the data of these patients including information of follow-up and postoperative pathological results. All patients were divided into two groups according to the axillary LN status and each group was divided into four subgroups according to the negative LN count. Cox regression analysis was performed to screen the pathological factor including the negative LN count on the survival and to compare the different negative LN count on the survival. *Results:* COX proportional hazard regression model showed that the survival of the breast cancer was significantly associated with the negative LN count. In $T_{1-2}N_0$ group, when the negative LN count was 3 or less, 4 to 5, 6 to 9 and 10 or more, the median survival time was (82.6 ± 4.1) months, (101.5 ± 1.3) months, (104.7 ± 1.0) months, and (110.5 ± 0.9) months respectively (P < 0.05). In $T_{1-2}N_1$ group, when the negative LN count was 6 or less, 7 to 8, 9 to 10 and 11 or more, the median survival time was (95.4 ± 1.9) months, (101.8 ± 1.1) months, (104.9 ± 1.0) months, and (106.5 ± 0.9) months respectively (P < 0.05). Conclusion: The negative LN count can reflect the adequacy of the axillary dissection. Increasing negative LN count is independently associated with improved survival in $PT_{1-2}N_0M_0$ or $PT_{1-2}N_1M_0$ staging breast cancer patients. The negative LN count should be considered for incorporation into staging for breast cancer with the axillary LN dissection.

Key words breast cancer; lymph node (LN) dissection; survival analysis

Node status is an important prognostic factor for patients with breast cancer^[1, 2]. There is a strong correlation between increasing positive lymph node (LN) count and decreasing prognosis. It is common that the pN stage is divided into four groups according to the positive axillary LN count (0, 1–3, 4–9, \geq 10 involved nodes). This classification has been introduced by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) for the primary therapy of breast cancer^[3]. But the pN staging with inadequate number of the axillary LN can not reflect the true LN status. The type of adjuvant systemic therapy and the decision for postmastectomy radiotherapy depend on the accurate pN staging. Some authors investigated the LN ratio excluding the positive LN count, and a prognostic value for the ratio has been suggested [4-7]. The negative LN count is clearly relevant with the number of the LN and the LN ratio. There is comparatively little study on the relationship between the negative LN count and the survival. To improve the understanding of the relationship between the LN count and the survival, we designed this study to examine the impact of the negative LN count on survival of the breast cancer patients with the axillary LN dissection.

Patients and methods

Patients

From January 2001 to December 2005, 1038 patients with stage $pT_{1-2}N_{0-1}$ breast cancer underwent axillary LN dissection and multidisciplinary treatment. Patients who received preoperative chemotherapy or underwent axilla-conservative surgery were excluded. The tumors were classified as $pT_{1-2}N_{0-1}M_0$ according to the TNM staging system of the AJCC. Patients within each AJCC group $(T_{1-2}N_0M_0, T_{1-2}N_1M_0)$ were divided into quartiles based on the negative lmph node count. The clinical and histopathological data of the subgroups were collected and entered into a computer database. The histopathological features included the tumor size, pathological categories, tumor differentiation, histological grade, lymphovascular permeation, expression of ER/PR, the negative LN count. All patients were followed up every three or six months

Correspondence to: Jianping Gong. Email: dripgong@yahoo.com.cn

www.springerlink.com/content/1613-9089

Characteristics	Total	AJCC s	ubstage
Characteristics	(<i>n</i> = 1038)	$T_{1-2}N_0M_0$	$T_{1-2}N_1M_0$
Tumor size			
T ₁	738	492	246
T ₂	300	162	138
Pathological categories			
Infiltrating duct carcinoma	977	500	477
Infiltrating lobular carcinoma	30	21	8
Others	31	10	21
Histological grade			
Grade I	134	99	35
Grade II	789	333	456
Grade II	115	35	80
Lymphovascular permeation			
Yes	926	381	545
No	112	62	50
Expression of ER/PR			
Negative	311	182	129
Positive	727	407	320

Table 1 Tumor characteristics for patients of breast cancer with stage $T_{1\mathchar{-}2}N_0M_0$ or $T_{1\mathchar{-}2}N_1M_0$

until December 2010.

Statistical analysis

COX proportional hazard regression model was conducted to identify the independent pathological variables that could influence the survival. The median survival time between quartiles for each substage were compared using the Kaplan-Meier method. Differences between survival curves were tested for statistical significance by the log rank test. All statistical tests were two sided, and P values over 0.05 were considered significant. SPSS Version 10.0 was used for all the statistical analyses.

Results

The study included 1038 women with stage $T_{1-2}N_{0-1}M_0$ breast carcinoma, with a median age of 52 (20–85) years. The pathological variables of each groups including tumor size, pathological categories, tumor differentiation, histological grade, lymphovascular permeation, expression of ER/PR were shown in Table 1.

The patients were divided into quartiles based on the negative LN count (3 or less, 4 to 5, 6 to 9 and 10 or more for $T_{1-2}N_0M_0$ and 6 or less, 7 to 8, 9 to 10 and 11 or more for $T_{1-2}N_1M_0$).

For $T_{1-2}N_0M_0$ staging, Cox regression analysis showed that the T staging, the negative LN count and the expression of hormone receptor were the independent pathological variables impact on the survival time. When the negative LN count was 3 or less, 4 to 5, 6 to 9 and 10 or more, the median survival time was (82.6 ± 4.1) months, (101.5 ± 1.3) months, (104.7 ± 1.0) months, and (110.5 ±



Fig. 1 Survival of $T_{1-2}N_0$ patients with different negative LN count. (a) the negative LN count was 3 or less; (b) the negative LN count was 4 to 5; (c) the negative LN count was 6 to 9; (d) the negative LN count was 10 or more



Fig. 2 Survival of $T_{1-2}N_1$ patients with different negative LN count. (a) the negative LN count was 6 or less; (b) the negative LN count was 7 to 8; (c) the negative LN count was 9 to 10; (d) the negative LN count was 11 or more

0.9) months respectively (P < 0.05, Fig. 1).

For $T_{1-2}N_1M_0$ staging, Cox regression analysis also showed that the T staging, the negative LN count and the expression of hormone receptor were the independent pathological variables impact on the survival time. When the negative LN count was 6 or less, 7 to 8, 9 to 10 and 11 or more, the median survival time was (95.4 ± 1.9) months, (101.8 ± 1.1) months, (104.9 ± 1.0) months, and (106.5 ± 0.9) months respectively (P < 0.05, Fig. 2).

Discussion

LN status is well known to be one of the most significant factors influencing prognosis in women with breast cancer ^[1, 2]. Accurate axillary LN staging can guide the reasonable adjuvant therapy after breast cancer surgery. Although there is an abundance of data to suggest that removal of LN does not affect survival, there is also a wealth of evidence to suggest that inadequate axillary LN dissection (ALND) in node-positive patients may lead to understaging of the axilla ^[8, 9]. The adequacy of LN dissection has been touted as a quality measure for breast cancer. A minimum of 10–15 LN is thought to be required to accurately stage the axilla in node-positive patients ^[10–12]. Although the AJCC has utilized a quantitative classification with 1–3 positive nodes being termed pN₁, 4–9 positive nodes being termed pN₂, and 10 or more positive nodes being termed pN₃ ^[3], this classification neglects the role of the total LN count and the negative LN count, which also provides additional prognostic information independent of traditional pathologic factors.

We found that for both the subgroups $(pT_{1-2}N_0M_0 \text{ or } pT_{1-2}N_1M_0)$, the negative LN count has prognostic value independent of the T staging and the hormone receptor. Increasing negative LN count was independently associated with improved survival in each subgroup. The negative LN count may be able to augment the prognostic ability of the current staging system. Patients underwent ALND not only for local surgical treatment but also to determine disease severity, predict prognosis and influence treatment decision. When the positive LN count was uniform, the negative LN count could provide more accurate prognostic information.

Though the mechanism underlying the relationship between the negative LN count and the survival has not been determined, stage migration may be one of the important reasons. The recently reported American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z-0011 trial found that 27.3% of non-sentinel LN in the ALND group harbored metastasis ^[13]. So the LN count can be a marker for the adequacy of surgical treatment. Inadequacy LN count may induce the understaging and would be less likely to receive the proper adjuvant therapies, which would result in the worsening of outcome. Also based on anatomic studies for colon cancer, the LN count is influenced by disease state [14, 15]. It is therefore plausible that interactions between tumor and host might influence the number of assessable LN. Tumor may stimulate the LN to increase in size, which facilitate the ability of the pathologists to detect the nodes. If true, the number of the LN or the negative LN would be a marker of tumor-host interactions, which may have an effect on the survival. It was consistent with our study.

Our study clearly has a number of limitations. Patients in this study were treated in the pre-sentinel LN biopsy era. Some may argue that in the sentinel LN biopsy era, if the sentinel LN is negative, ALND should not be conducted. Although this study did not include patients treated with axilla-conservative surgery, one would anticipate that the negative LN count would be a significant prognostic indicator over and above the current AJCC LN classification alone in the ALND patients. We think that the negative LN count can give more information influencing the prognosis especially for the LN positive patients. We did not evaluate the LN ratio (the proportion of positive LN) as a prognostic variable in our study. Many authors have demonstrated that the LN ratio is an important predictor of survival in breast cancer patients ^[4–7]. LN ratio and the negative LN count are clearly related and both appear to be important in terms of prognosis. We were not able to incorporate treatment variables which could influence prognosis. Although all the patients received the multi-disciplinary treatment, it would be ideal to evaluate the relationship between the prognosis and the negative LN count in the subgroups with the uniform treatment. These data were not available for this analysis.

In conclusion, we found that increasing negative LN count was independently associated with improved survival in $pT_{1-2}N_0M_0$ or $pT_{1-2}N_1M_0$ staging breast cancer patients. The negative LN count should be considered an alternative to pN staging in ALND breast cancer patients.

Conflicts of interest

All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Jatoi I, Hilsenbeck SG, Clark GM, et al. Significance of axillary lymph node metastasis in primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 1999, 17: 2334–2340.
- Fisher B, Bauer M, Wickerham DL, *et al.* Relation of number of positive axillary nodes to the prognosis of patients with primary breast cancer. An NSABP update. Cancer, 1983, 52: 1551–1557.
- Singletary SE, Allred C, Ashley P, et al. Revision of the American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging system for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2002, 20: 3628–3636.
- Kim JY, Ryu MR, Choi BO, *et al*. The prognostic significance of the lymph node ratio in axillary lymph node positive breast cancer. J Breast Cancer, 2002, 14: 204–212.
- Chagpar AB, Camp RL, Rimm DL. Lymph node ratio should be considered for incorporation into staging for breast cancer. Ann Surg Oncol, 18: 3143–3148.
- Tausch C, Taucher S, Dubsky P, *et al.* Prognostic value of number of removed lymph nodes, number of involved lymph nodes, and lymph node ratio in 7502 breast cancer patients enrolled onto trials of the Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group (ABCSG). Ann Surg Oncol, 2012, 19: 1808–1817.
- Ahn SH, Kim HJ, Lee JW, et al. Lymph node ratio and pN staging in patients with node-positive breast cancer: a report from the Korean breast cancer society. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 130: 507–515.
- Schaapveld M, Otter R, de Vries EG, et al. Variability in axillary lymph node dissection for breast cancer. J Surg Oncol, 2004, 87: 4–12.
- Saha S, Farrar WB, Young DC, et al. Variation in axillary node dissection influences the degree of nodal involvement in breast cancer patients. J Surg Oncol, 2000, 73: 134–137.
- Chagpar AB, Scoggins CR, Martin RC 2nd, et al. Factors determining adequacy of axillary node dissection in breast cancer patients. Breast J, 2007, 13: 233–237.

- Axelsson CK, Mouridsen HT, Zedeler K. Axillary dissection of level I and II lymph nodes is important in breast cancer classification. The Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group (DBCG). Eur J Cancer, 1992, 28: 1415–1418.
- Kiricuta CI, Tausch J. A mathematical model of axillary lymph node involvement based on 1446 complete axillary dissections in patients with breast carcinoma. Cancer, 1992, 69: 2496–2501.
- Giuliano AE, McCall L, Beitsch P, et al. Locoregional recurrence after sentinel lymph node dissection with or without axillary dissection in

patients with sentinel lymph node metastases: the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z0011 randomized trial. Ann Surg, 252: 426–432; discussion 432–423.

- 14. Canessa CE, Badía F, Fierro S, *et al.* Anatomic study of the lymph nodes of the mesorectum. Dis Colon Rectum, 2001, 44: 1333–1336.
- Topor B, Acland R, Kolodko V, *et al.* Mesorectal lymph nodes: their location and distribution within the mesorectum. Dis Colon Rectum, 2003, 46: 779–785.

《Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology》诚聘审稿专家

《Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology (中德临床肿瘤学杂志)》是中国与德国施普林格出版社合作出版的全英文国际性学术刊物。主要刊登肿瘤学领域的优秀科研成果和临床诊疗经验及基础理论研究方面的论文。

本刊于2002年正式进入SpringerLink,实现了印刷版和电子版的同时出版。同时,已实现在线优先出版(Online First),通过审理的稿件最快可在15天内正式发表。本刊已开通国际网上投稿及审稿系统,作者直接登陆http://www.editorialmanager.com/tcgj进行注册后,便可投稿及查询稿件处理情况;审稿人也可直接通过此系统进行稿件审阅工作。

本刊已被收录为"中国科技论文统计源期刊"(中国科技核心期刊),并为EMBASE、Index Copernicus、德国 SpringerLink数据库、中国核心期刊数据库、中国期刊全文数据库、万方数据资源系统数字化期刊群、维普资讯 网科技期刊数据库、中国学术期刊综合评价数据库收录。

随着杂志的不断发展,为了进一步保证文章的学术质量和先进性,本刊特公开招聘优秀的肿瘤学专业及其相关各专业审稿专家。

如您符合下列条件,您可将您的个人简历(包括姓名、出生年月、职称、职务、审稿范围、工作单位、通讯地址、Email、移动电话及传真号码等)一起通过电子邮件发送到本编辑部邮箱。

审稿专家的基本条件: 1) 热爱审稿工作。2) 具有副高及以上职称,或者已获博士学位的中级职称人员。3) 同意并能够接受Email及网上审稿系统审稿。4) 能够按时认真审阅稿件。

您的材料经审核同意聘用后,您将会收到我刊向您颁发的审稿专家聘用证书。同时,您将享受以下待遇: 1)每期获赠杂志的电子版本,根据您的要求可获赠杂志印刷本一册;2)您撰写及推荐的论文免收处理费;可只送一审,以加快处理速度;通过审理将优先刊登。

在此,本刊希望能与广大的读者、作者及专家们保持密切联系、齐心协力,为肿瘤事业的发展而努力。

编辑部电话: +86-27-83662630, 电子邮件: dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn; dmedizin@sina.com 回执请寄往: 430030, 武汉市解放大道1095号同济医院《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》编辑部

Recent achievements and acute toxicity after TP concurrent chemoradiotherapy for the advanced cervical cancer

Qinghua Ke, Shiqiong Zhou, Wei Du, Yong Lei, Min Huang, Fei Luo, Jiyuan Yang

Department of Oncology, Jingzhou Cancer Hospital, Jingzhou 434000, China

Received: 28 September 2011 / Revised: 29 January 2012 / Accepted: 25 February 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The aim of our study was to investigate the early outcome of the taxotere and cisplatin chemoradiotherapy to the advanced cervical cancer. *Methods:* Fifty-six cases with cervical cancer (FIGO IIb to IVa) were divided randomly into two groups in the oncology hospital of Jingzhou from September 2009 to October 2010, radiotherapy alone (28 cases) and radiation plus chemotherapy (TP) group. There was no difference of radiotherapy between the two groups, the RT + C cases who accepted TP regimen during the radiation, and DDP once weekly injection of vain, according to 20 mg/m² and taxotere once weekly i.v. according to 35 mg/m². These regimen were given for 4–5 weeks, and some medicine for vomiting was given to the RT + C cases. Two groups were received an oral medicine MA 160 mg every day during the treatment. *Results:* The early outcome: the complete remission rate was 64.3% and partial remission rate was 35.7% in RT + C. The complete remission rate was 32.1% and partial remission rate was 39.3% in RT. The total response rate and complete remission of RT + C group was higher than that of the RT group. There was significant difference between the two groups. In RT + C group, 1-year survive rate was 100.00% (28/28); in RT group, 1-year survive rate was 85.71% (24/28). There was significant difference between the two groups ($\chi^2 = 4.31 > 3.84$, P < 0.05). *Conclusion:* The taxotere and cisplatin chemoradiotherapy can improve the early outcome of the advanced cervical cancer, and the adverse effect are raised, but that can be endured.

Key words cervical cancer; taxotere; cisplatin; chemoradiotherapy

Cervical cancer is the most common gynecologic cancer. Surgery or radiotherapy can achieve satisfactory effect for early stage cervical cancer, while in the late stage (IIb–IVa period) the main treatment therapy is radiation. At present, many studies all over the world reported that radiotherapy combined with chemotherapy can improve the survival rate of patients with cervical cancer. Fifty-six patients with cervical cancer in IIb–IV stage, who hospitalized in oncology unit from September 2009 to October 2010, were randomly divided into chemoradiotherapy group and radiotherapy group. The comparison of two groups is as follows.

Materials and the methods

Samples

All cases were pathologically confirmed in IIb–IV stage, according to FIGO staging ^[1] and in their initial treatment. They all had KPS \geq 70 points. Before treatment, their blood routine, liver and kidney function and

ECG were normal. These 56 patients were randomly divided into two groups: radiotherapy (RT group) 28 cases, concurrent chemoradiotherapy group (RT + C group) 28 cases in the oncology hospital of jingzhou from September 2009 to October 2010 with the Ethical Approval. Patients' characteristics were shown in Table 1. There is no statistically significant in the difference between the two groups on general characteristics, past history and clinical performance.

Treatment

They all accepted the 15 Mv X-ray of 23-EX Varian linear accelerator and Ir^{192} high dose rate brachytherapy. The treatment to the pelvic was the first. The brachytherapy and the 4 beams radiotherapy to the pelvic were fulfilled simultaneously after the center of the pelvic got 40 Gy/20 f/4 weeks. The brachytherapy was fulfilled once a week, which gave the A point 6 Gy, the total doses 18–30 Gy. At the same time, the 4 beams to the pelvic gave the parauterus 10–16 Gy, 2 Gy every time. And the two methods didn't happen on the same day. The upper bound of the exobody radiotherapy was L4–L5, the low

Correspondence to: Jiyuan Yang. Email: yangjiyuanchina@163.com.cn

Group	Cases	Age (years)		Pat	thological type	Clinical stage			
	Cases	Range	Median	SCC	Adenocarcinoma	llb	Illa	IIIb	IVa
RT	28	34–65	54	20	8	6	12	6	4
RT + C	28	33–64	53	21	7	7	13	5	3

Table 1 Characteristics of samples

SCC: squamous cell carcinoma

 Table 2
 Comparison of treatment effect

Group n -		CR		PR		NC			F ff: all a set (0/)
	п	%	n	%	п	%	PD	Efficient (%)	
RT	28	9	32.1	11	39.3	8	28.6	0	71.4
RT + C	28	18	64.3	10	35.7	0	0	0	100.0

 $\chi^2 = 9.33 > 3.84; P < 0.05$

upper bound was lower margin of the obturator foramen, and the outer margin was 2 cm to the real pelvic.

RT + C group began with a weekly radiation therapy used cisplatin 20 mg/m² i.v. drop d1 and docetaxel 35 mg/m² intravenously d1 for 4–5 weeks. Routinely antiemetic drugs and proper hydration used and oral dexamethasone used for anti-allergic reaction.

Both two groups of patients were taking megestrol acetate 160 mg everyday from the start of treatment to the end of treatment.

Monitoring

The items need to be evaluated and monitored are clinical symptoms and signs, adverse reactions, blood tests every week, vaginal speculum examination once a week, electrocardiogram before and after treatment, liver and kidney function and related imaging tests before and after treatment, record tumor size (maximum diameter and the anteroposterior diameter), parametrial invasion; Tumor shrinkage percentage = (Volume before radiotherapy – Radiotherapy volume) / Volume before radiotherapy, after three months of treatment, efficacy and toxicity.

Statistics analysis

 χ^2 test was used to compare efficient and incidence of side effects in two groups.

Results

Effect of treatment

According to general standard for solid tumor treatment efficacy ^[1], the outcome of treatment divided into complete remission (CR), partial remission (PR), stable (NC) and deterioration (PD). Recent cancer treatment efficacy was shown in Table 2.

In RT group: CR 9 cases are squamous cell carcinoma, PR 11 cases are squamous cell carcinoma, NC 8 cases are adenocarcinomas; in RT + C group: CR 17 cases are squamous cell carcinoma, 1 case of adenocarcinoma. PR 4 cases are squamous cell carcinoma, 6 cases of adenocarcinoma; two groups compared, RT + C group's squamous cell carcinoma CR was significantly higher than that of RT group, the difference was statistically significant (χ^2 = 5.71> 3.84; *P* < 0.05); RT + C group's adenocarcinoma effective rate (CR + PR) was significantly higher than the RT group, the difference was statistically significant (χ^2 = 15 > 3.84; *P* <0.05). In RT + C group, 1-year survive rate was 100.00% (28/28); in RT group, 1-year survive rate was 85.71% (24/28). There was significant difference between the two groups (χ^2 = 4.31> 3.84; *P* < 0.05).

Acute toxicity

(1) Mainly reaction are fatigue, loss of appetite, stool frequency increased. Few cases have nausea, vomiting, stool sense of falling, urinary urgency, frequent urination. (2) Hematological toxicity: according to common grading criteria of anticancer drugs toxicity ^[2]. RT group has 8 patients with grade I myelosuppression and no grade II, III degree, IV myelosuppression, RT + C group has 14 cases with grade I myelosuppression, 7 cases with grade II myelosuppression and no grade II myelosuppression in, 2 cases with grade III myelosuppression and no grade IV myelosuppression, (χ^2 = 16.29 > 3.84, *P* < 0.05). Subcutaneous injection of recombinant human granulocyte colony stimulating factor were given for grade I, II, III myelosuppression. Before and after treatment, patients within both two group have their liver and renal function, ECG normal.

Discussion

Cervical cancer is one of the common gynecologic malignancies. It is a very important issue in gynecology. Radiation therapy is an effective choice for advanced cervical cancer treatment, but radiotherapy effect itself is not satisfactory, therefore, the U.S. National Cancer Institute (NCI) in February 1999 announced to the world, that the combination of radiotherapy and chemotherapy treatment at the same time in advanced cervical cancer have good effect and suggested for patients who received radiotherapy, chemotherapy should be given the same time ^[3]. Recent studies confirmed that concurrent radiotherapy and chemotherapy in advanced cervical cancer is safe and feasible, have good effect.

Chemotherapy drug cisplatin is not only has the ability to kill tumor cells, but also can sensitize the effect of radiation and inhibit the repair of radiation damaging cells. The American National Cancer Institute stated cisplatin-based concurrent chemoradiotherapy as the standard treatment for locally advanced cervical cancer and early stage high-risk cervical cancer [4]. Pignata [5] used paclitaxel and cisplatin with concurrent chemoradiotherapy achieved initial results. Docetaxel and cisplatin used with concurrent chemoradiotherapy in this study get more effective sensitized, the reason is the radiotherapy major role in the G1, M phase, while the chemotherapy drug cisplatin is non-specific drugs for cell cycle, which could kill cells in all stages, specific drugs Taxotere major role in the M phase, these three have synergistic effect. Two groups have radiation in the same manner. RT + C group had the recent efficacy rate at 100.0%, RT group was 71.4%. Specially in CR cases, RT + C had 18 patients, RT group had 9 patients with significant difference ($\chi^2 = 9.33 > 3.84$; P < 0.05). Compared the two groups, RT + C group was significantly higher at squamous cell carcinoma CR than that of RT group, the difference was statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 5.71 > 3.84$; *P* < 0.05); RT + C group for adenocarcinoma effective (CR + PR) was significantly higher than RT group, the difference was statistically significant $(\chi^2 = 15 > 3.84; P < 0.05)$. In RT + C group, 1-year survive rate was 100.00% (28/28); in RT group, 1-year survive rate was 85.71% (24/28). There was significant difference between the two groups ($\chi^2 = 4.31 > 3.84$; *P* < 0.05).

Paclitaxel and cisplatin used in concurrent chemoradiation for cervical squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma were increased efficacy, particularly more pronounced sensitizing effect of cancer, but in this study a small number of cases with adenocarcinoma may make the limitation. Study on large number of cases still needs to be done. Toxicity compared two groups: the recent reaction of fatigue, loss of appetite, RT + C group emphasis without statistically significant, which did not affect the treatment. Hematological toxicity: the incidence in RT + C group was 82.1%, grade I, grade II and grade III myelosuppression required recombinant human granulocyte colony stimulating factor treatment, but no grade IV myelosuppression; RT group had light hematologic toxicity, the incidence was 28.6% with grade I myelosuppression. Compared two groups, the difference between incidence was statistically significant (χ^2 = 16.29 > 3.84; P < 0.05). The toxicity in two groups could be tolerated, which may be related to taking progesterone, researches have shown that megestrol acetate significantly assisted the role of cancer chemotherapy to increase food taken, reduce gastrointestinal side effects of chemotherapy, improve the role of quality of life ^[6]. This study shows that docetaxel and cisplatin in concurrent chemoradiotherapy in advanced cervical cancer has a good short-term effect, but also increased the toxicity, but it can be tolerated after taking megestrol acetate. The sample size in this study is small with a short time follow up. The long-term effect needs further observation.

References

- Sun Y, Zhou JC. Manual of medical oncology. 4th Edition. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House, 2002. 106–418.
- Wang HQ. Malignant tumor chemotherapy regimens norms. Shenyang: Liaoning Science and Technology Publishing House, 2002. 16.
- Rose PG, Bundy BN, Watkins EB, *et al.* Concurrent cisplatin-based radiotherapy and chemotherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer. N Engl J Med, 1999, 340: 1144–1153.
- Green JA, Kirwan JM, Tierney JF, et al. Survival and recurrence after concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy for cancer of the uterine cervix: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet, 2001, 358: 781–786.
- Pignata S, Frezza P, Tramontana S, et al. Phase I study with weekly cisplatin-paclitaxel and concurrent radiotherapy in patients with carcinoma of the cervix uteri. Ann Oncol, 2000, 11: 455–459.
- Zhao Z, Bai XK. The clinic investigation of the effectiveness of medicine MA on the survival condition of cancer patients in chemotherapy period. Shanxi Oncol Med (Chinese), 2001, 9: 161–162.

Hematologic toxicity of gemcitabine: a comparison between fixed-dose rate infusion and thirty-minute infusion in the treatment of malignancy*

Chunyan Li¹, Li Chu¹ (Co-first author), Hui Han¹, Xi Liu¹, Yuping Shen¹, Mantang Qiu², Qing Xu¹

¹ Department of Medical Oncology, Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University, Shanghai 200072, China
 ² First Clinical College of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing 210029, China

Received: 2 March 2012 / Revised: 20 March 2012 / Accepted: 25 April 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Objective: The aim of the study was to compare the hematologic toxicity of gemcitabine between fixed-dose rate (FDR) infusion and 30-minute standard infusion in the treatment of malignancy. **Methods:** The 25 malignancy patients confirmed by histopathology or cytology received single-agent gemcitabine or gemcitabine in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents. These patients were randomly divided into gemcitabine 1000 mg/m² on d1, d8 at a rate of 10 mg/m²/min arm (FDR arm) or 30 min arm (standard arm), every 21 days one cycle. Hematologic toxicity was evaluated at the end of each cycle. **Results:** The 13 of 25 patients received gemcitabine FDR therapy, a total of 28 cycles was completed, and 32 cycles in the others (12 of 25 patients) with the standard arm. All patients were evaluable for hematologic toxicity. The result showed that the grades 3–4 leucopenia was significantly different between the two arms (14.3% vs 0, P < 0.05), and no significant differences of neutropenia, thrombocytopenia and hemoglobin suppression of grades 3–4 (14.3% vs 3.1%, 10.7% vs 3.1%, 3.6% vs 9.4%, P > 0.05, respectively) were observed between the two arms, no grade 4 of hemoglobin suppression was observed. **Conclusion:** Hematologic toxicity of gemcitabine therapy at a fixed-dose rate for malignancy is tolerable.

Key words gemcitabine; fixed-dose rate (FDR); malignancy; hematologic toxicity

As a commonly used chemotherapeutic agent, gemcitabine is usually given at a dose of 1000 mg/m²/30 minutes intravenously. Single-agent gemcitabine and in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents were effective in lung cancer, head and neck neoplasms, breast cancer, ovarian cancer, pancreatic cancer and sarcoma, etc. In 1997, gemcitabine was approval to patients with advanced pancreatic cancer by the FDA of United States, and then as well as patients with advanced breast cancer, lung cancer and ovarian cancer.

The pharmacokinetics study shows that with the increased plasma level of gemcitabine by the increased administration cycles and the administration time the efficacy improves. In recent years, an increasing number of clinical trials researched the efficacy and side effects of gemcitabine with fixed-dose rate (FDR) infusion in various malignancy, most of the studies show that FDR infusion can improve the efficacy of gemcitabine through prolonged administration time, but meantime, the side effect increased, especially the grade 3 hematological toxicity. Our research compared the hematological toxicities between fixed-dose rate infusion arm and thirty-minute infusion arm of gemcitabine during treating with malignancy.

Patients and methods

Clinical data

A total of 25 patients with histopathologic or cytologic diagnosis of malignancy were enrolled between February 2009 with May 2010 in our Hospital (Tenth People's Hospital, Tongji University, Shanghai, China) and had received prior at least one cycle gemcitabine treatment. All of them were evaluated for eligibility. The 13 of 25 patients received gemcitabine FDR therapy, a total of 28 cycles was completed, and 32 cycles in the others (12 of 25 patients) with the standard arm. More details of these 25 patients were outlined in Table 1.

Correspondence to: Qing Xu . Email: xuqingmd@yahoo.com.cn

^{*} Supported by the grants of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 30872591) and Shanghai Science and Technology Commission (No. 02.04.11.006).

	Table	1	Patient characteristics
--	-------	---	-------------------------

Characteristics	FDR arm (n)	Standard arm (n)
Patients entered	13	12
Cycle number	28	32
Sex		
Male	5	11
Female	8	1
Age (years)		
Median	56	60.5
Range	48-86	34–80
Diagnosis		
Lung cancer	6	6
Nasopharyngeal carcinoma	1	2
Pancreatic cancer	0	2
Gallbladder carcinoma	1	0
Bladder cancer	1	2
Ovarian cancer	1	0
Endometrial carcinoma	1	0
Peritoneal carcinoma	1	0
Salivary gland carcinoma	1	0
Clinical stage		
Stage I	1	0
Stage II	1	1
Stage III	2	1
Stage IV	9	10

Treatments

All patients received chemotherapeutic regimens which contained gemcitabine, given at the dose of 1000 mg/m² intravenously on d1, d8. The fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine (FDR GEM) was at a rate of 10 mg/m²/ min. The standard arm was with a total time of 30 minutes. The cycle was repeated every 21 days. Before the treatment, the antiemetic agents, such as the ondansetron hydrochloride injection or tropisetron hydrochloride injection were used. Those who received the gemcitabine in combination with cisplatin regimen were treated with the dexamethasone. During the chemotherapy, the grades 3-4 bone marrow suppression would be treated by G-CSF or IL-11, blood transfusion would be treated if necessary. The severe bone marrow suppression was dangerous, if the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) was at the range of $0.5 \times 10^9/L$ – $1.0 \times 10^9/L$ or platelet count was at the range of 50×10^9 /L-100 × 10⁹/L, the dose of gemcitabine was reduced by 25%; if the absolute neutrophil count < 0.5 \times 10^9 /L or platelet count < 50 × 10^9 /L, the gemcitabine was omitted.

Hematologic toxicity

Response to treatment was assessed according to World Health Organization (WHO) criteria. Hematologic toxicity was evaluated at the end of each cycle.

Statistical analysis

Applying χ^2 inspection and FISHER exact test to analysis the data, and *P* value < 0.05 was defined statistical significance.

Results

There were 25 patients with histopathologic or cytologic diagnosis of malignancy. The 13 of 25 patients received gemcitabine FDR therapy, a total of 28 cycles was completed, and 32 cycles in the others (12 of 25 patients) with the standard arm. Hematologic toxicity was evaluated at the end of each cycle.

In FDR GEM arm, the grades 3–4 adverse events were the grade 3 leukopenia 10.7% (3/13), the grade 4 leukopenia 3.6% (1/13), the grade 3 neutropenia 7.1% (2/13), and the grade 4 neutropenia 7.1% (2/13). While in the standard arm, no grades 3–4 leukopenia was reported, and the grade 3 neutropenia only 3.1% (1/12). In FDR arm, the rates of leukopenia and neutropenia were obviously higher than those of the standard arm (P < 0.05). In addition, In FDR GEM arm, 10.7% (3/13) patients received the platelet transfusion because of the grade 4 thrombocytopenia, and no treatment-related death. In the standard arm, 3.1% (1/12) patients had the grade 3 thrombocytopenia. But there was no differences between the two arms in the level of anemia and thrombocytopenia (Table 2).

The result showed that the two arms met the pre-specified criteria (the significance level of 5%) for significance (14.3% vs 0%, P < 0.05) in the rates of grades 3–4 leukopenia, while the rates of neutropenia (14.3% vs 3.1%, P >0.05), anemia (10.7% vs 3.1%, P > 0.05), thrombocytopenia (3.6% vs 9.4%, P > 0.05). Neither of these differences met the pre-specified criteria for significance (Table 3).

Discussion

Gemcitabine is a nucleoside analog that has therapeutic activity against lung, breast, pancreatic, bladder, ovarian and hematological malignancies. Gemcitabine diphosphate blocks DNA synthesis by inhibiting ribonucleotide reductase, the enzyme responsible for production of deoxynucleotides required for DNA replication and repair. This inhibition results in lower level of deoxycytidine triphosphate (dCTP) and high level of gemcitabine triphosphate (dFdCTP) accumulation. Gemcitabine triphosphate is then incorporated into newly synthesized DNA, thereby causing masked-chain termination that interferes with excision repair of the gemcitabine monophosphate from the DNA ^[1].

The phosphorylation of gemcitabine triphosphate by deoxycytidine kinase is a rate-limiting step ^[1–3], and

Rono morrow europroceion	Grade 0		Grade 1		Grade 2		Grade 3		Grade 4		.2	D
Bone marrow suppression	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	$-\chi^2$	Ρ
Leukopenia											13.915	0.008
FDR-A	10	35.7	8	28.6	6	21.4	3	10.7	1	3.6		
Standard-A	25	78.1	2	6.2	5	15.6	0	0	0	0		
Low hemoglobin											1.035	0.793
FDR-A	12	42.9	9	31.2	6	21.4	1	3.6	0	0		
Standard-A	14	43.8	10	52.6	5	15.6	3	9.4	0	0		
Thrombocytopenia											6.144	0.189
FDR-A	23	82.1	0	0	2	7.1	0	0	3	10.7		
Standard-A	26	81.2	2	6.2	3	9.4	1	3.1	0	0		
Neutropenia											12.689	0.013
FDR-A	14	50.0	5	17.9	5	17.9	2	7.1	2	7.1		
Standard-A	29	90.6	1	3.1	1	3.1	1	3.1	0	0		

 Table 2
 The comparison between FDR arm and the standard arm in bone marrow suppression

 Table 3
 The comparison between FDR arm and the standard arm in bone marrow suppression with FISHER exact test

	Grades 0–2		Grad	- P	
	n	%	п	%	- P
Leukopenia					0.042
FDR-A	24	85.7	4	14.3	
Standard-A	32	100.0	0	0	
Low hemoglobin					0.616
FDR-A	27	96.4	1	3.6	
Standard-A	29	90.6	3	9.4	
Thrombocytopenia					0.331
FDR-A	25	89.3	3	10.7	
Standard-A	31	96.9	1	3.1	
Neutropenia					0.175
FDR-A	24	85.7	4	14.3	
Standard-A	31	96.9	1	3.1	

deoxycytidine kinase had reached saturation when gemcitabine was in a low concentration. These studies found that the maximal triphosphate accumulation in the monocytes and leukemia cells was associated with the plasma concentration of gemcitabine, which was 20 mol/ L in the FDR (10 mg/m²/min) infusion patients. Based on these studies, the relationship between treatment time and cycles with clinical efficacy was explored in more and more clinical trails.

In the Version 1, 2009 of NCCN Guideline for Pancreatic Cancer, the regimen of fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine (FDR GEM) was also recommended as the prior regimen to gemcitabine thirty-minute infusion (standard arm) by the panel (2B) ^[4]. Many studies exploring gemcitabine treatment with patients of pancreatic cancer can be found. Tempero *et al* ^[5] randomly divided 92 pancreatic cancer patients who were enrolled onto this study into one of the following two arms: fixed-dose rate infusion and thirty-minute infusion. The results showed the cells of patients who received the FDR infusions accumulated gemcitabine triphosphate to approximately twice the concentration generated by the standard arm, though the dose of FDR GEM was only 68% of the standard arm's. The clinical results showed that higher proportion patients experiencing improvement in PS in the FDR arm (27.3% vs 9.1%), but with more hematologic toxicity. Not one, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Arm compared the overall survival and side effects among three teams: gemcitabine in combination with oxaliplatin, the fixeddose rate infusion arm (FDR arm) and thirty-minute infusion arm (standard arm) in a phase III clinical trial of 832 patients ^[6]. The results showed that the median survival times of the combination arm and the FDR arm were slightly higher than that of the standard arm, but there is not the statistically significant difference. In the FDR arm, the proportion of grades 3-4 leukopenia and thrombocytopenia was the highest. Another study [7] in 2009, 259 patients were randomly assigned to one of the following four arms: gemcitabine in combination with cisplatin, fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine arm, gemcitabine in combination with docetaxel and gemcitabine in combination with irinotecan. Comparing the response rate, toxicity and the survival time, the results showed neither of their differences met the pre-specified criteria for significance among the four arms. A study [8] in 2010 recommended the regimens of fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine as a first-line option in advanced pancreatic and biliary tract cancer.

In two phase II clinical trials about the fixed-dose rate infusion regimen (FDR GEM arm) or thirty-minute infusion regimen (standard arm) in treatment with the non-small cell lung cancer, their results were opposite. One study ^[9] showed the FDR GEM was more effective, but the other study showed their efficacy was similar ^[10]. Moreover, the proportion of grades 3–4 neutropenia in the FDR GEM was obviously higher than standard arm (49.2% vs 17.9%), grades 3–4 thrombocytopenia in the FDR GEM also was higher (9.9% vs 1.8%). The efficacy and toxicity of the fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine

in combination with oxaliplatin (GEMOX) in treating 40 non small lung cancer patients were observed in a study of 2008 ^[11]. The result showed the regimen was active and well tolerable. The most common grades 3–4 hematological toxicity was leukopenia, nearly 20%. Caffo *et al* ^[12] observed the pharmacokinetics of the fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine in combination with cisplatin in advanced non small cell lung cancer patients. Studies showed a higher accumulation of gemcitabine metabolite in peripheral blood mononuclear cells was observed when the longer infusion time was employed.

In the past two years, the efficacy and side effects of many clinical trails of gemcitabine in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents had also been observed. Such as, the fixed-dose rate infusion of gemcitabine (FDR GEM) in combination with erlotinib in the pancreatic cancer patients was active and well tolerable [13]. The FDR GEM in combination with paclitaxel was active and safe regimen for advanced breast cancer patients pretreated with anthracyclines ^[14]. The FDR GEM in combination with carboplatin in relapsed, platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer patients also was active [15]. The FDR GEM in combination with pemetrexed was active in a broad range of advanced solid tumors types, including gastric cancer, pancreatic cancer, biliary tract cancer, colon cancer, nonsmall cell lung cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, bladder cancer and others [16].

Our research compared the hematologic toxicity between gemcitabine in fixed-dose rate infusion (10 mg/m²/ min) with thirty-minute infusion during treatment with lung cancer, gallbladder cancer, cardiac cancer, salivary gland cancer, ureter cancer, and bladder cancer. The result showed that the two arms met the pre-specified criteria (the significance level of 5%) for significance (14.3% vs 0%, P < 0.05) in the rates of grades 3–4 leukopenia. While neither of the differences of neutropenia (14.3% vs 3.1%, P > 0.05), anemia (10.7% vs 3.1%, P > 0.05), thrombocytopenia (3.6% vs 9.4%, P > 0.05) met the pre-specified criteria for significance. In FDR arm, 10.7% (3/13) patients received the platelet transfusion because of the grade 4 thrombocytopenia.

In the present study, grade 4 thrombocytopenia in the FDR GEM arm was observed in 3 patients. Respectively, patient 1 is a gallbladder cancer patient, female, accepting a long-term traditional Chinese medicine without chemotherapeutic agents in another hospital. She received the FDR GEM in combination with oxaliplatin in our hospital after recurrence and metastasis in our department. After the chemotherapy, a severe thrombocytopenia was observed, the lowest platelet level was 4×10^9 /L. After treatment of the platelet transfusion and IL-11 intramuscular injection, the platelet account recovered.

Patient 2 was an advanced lung cancer patient, female, who had receiving several cycles of TP regimen and the

radiation therapy about her brain and lung. After adrenal gland and liver metastasis, she received the FDR GEM in combination with cisplatin regimen. After the treatment, severe thrombocytopenia of the lowest platelet count 3 × 10⁹/L and the leukopenia of 0.7 × 10⁹/L with urinary occult blood (2+) were observed, without subcutaneous petechia/ecchymosis and nasal bleeding. After the IL-11, GSF intramuscular injection and the platelet transfusion, the hemogram recovered.

Patient 3 was an ovarian cancer patient, female, who had received nine cycles of paclitaxel in combination with cisplatin regimen in all, the chemotherapeutic regimens swifted to the FDR GEM in combination with nedaplatin because of the severe sacral pain. After the treatment, a severe thrombocytopenia was also observed, the lowest platelet count was 10×10^9 /L, with a slight vaginal bleeding, urinary occult blood test (1+), without subcutaneous bleeding or gross hematuria. After the IL-11 intramuscular injection and the platelet transfusion, the hemogram also recovered.

Before the combination chemotherapy, the three patients had received long-term Chinese medicine treatment or chemotherapy to be the weak bone marrow function. There was no sufficient evidence for the conclusion that the grade 4 thrombocytopenia was directly related with the FDR GEM regimen. Besides, treatment-related death had not been found.

In summary, the hematologic toxicity of gemcitabine at the fixed-dose rate infusion is tolerable. The efficacy of single-agent gemcitabine and in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents still need the further observation. In consideration of the grade 4 thrombocytopenia, dose reduction can be made, but further study is needed to determine the efficacy of the milder regimen.

References

- Luu Th, Chow W, Lim D, et al. Phase I trial of fixed-dose rate gemcitabine in combination with bortezomib in advanced solid tumors. Anticancer Res, 2010, 30: 167–174.
- Grunewald R, Kantarjian H, Keating MJ, et al. Pharmacologically directed design of the dose rate and schedule of 2',2'-difluorodeoxycytidine (gemcitabine) administration in leukemia. Cancer Res, 1990, 50: 6823–6826.
- Abbruzzese JL, Grunewald R, Weeks EA, et al. A phase I clinical, plasma, and cellular pharmacology study of gemcitabine. J Clin Oncol, 1991, 9: 491–498.
- The National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma. V.1. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2009.
- Tempero M, Plunkett W, Ruiz van Haperen V, et al. Randomized phase II comparison of dose-intense gemcitabine: thirty-minute infusion and fixed dose rate infusion in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol, 2003, 21: 3402–3408.
- Poplin E, Feng Y, Berlin J, et al. Phase III, randomized study of gemcitabine and oxaliplatin versus gemcitabine (fixed-dose rate in-

fusion) compared with gemcitabine (30-minute infusion) in patients with pancreatic carcinoma E6201: a trial of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol, 2009, 27: 3778–3785.

- Kulke MH, Tempero MA, Niedzwiecki D, *et al.* Randomized phase II study of gemcitabine administered at a fixed dose rate or in combination with cisplatin, docetaxel, or irinotecan in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer: CALGB 89904. J Clin Oncol, 2009, 27: 5506–5512.
- Milella M, Gelibter AJ, Pino MS, *et al.* Fixed-dose-rate gemcitabine: a viable first-line treatment option for advanced pancreatic and biliary tract cancer. Oncologist, 2010, 15: e1–e4.
- Ceribelli A, Gridelli C, De Marinis F, *et al.* Prolonged gemcitabine infusion in advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma. A randomized phase II study of two different schedules in combination with cisplatin. Cancer, 2003, 98: 337–343.
- Cappuzzo F, Novello S, De Marinis F, et al. A randomized phase II trial evaluating standard (50 mg/min) versus low (10 mg/min) infusion duration of gemcitabine as first-line treatment in advanced non-smallcell lung cancer patients who are not eligible for platinum-based chemotherapy. Lung Cancer, 2006, 52: 319–325.
- 11. Früh M, Gillessen S, Cerny T, et al. Two-weekly gemcitabine fixed

dose rate and oxaliplatin combination chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer, 2008, 62: 344–350.

- 12. Caffo O, Fallani S, Marangon E, *et al.* Pharmacokinetic study of gemcitabine, given as prolonged infusion at fixed dose rate, in combination with cisplatin in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 2010, 65: 1197–1202.
- Feliu J, Borrega P, León A, et al. Phase II study of a fixed dose-rate infusion of gemcitabine associated with erlotinib in advanced pancreatic cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 2011, 67: 215–221.
- Vici P, Fabi A, Metro G, et al. Phase I–II trial of prolonged gemcitabine infusion plus paclitaxel as a biweekly schedule for advanced breast cancer patients pretreated with anthracyclines. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 2011, 67: 687–693.
- Alvarez RD, Mannel R, García AA, *et al.* Fixed-dose rate gemcitabine plus carboplatin in relapsed, platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer patients: results of a three-arm phase I study. Gynecol Oncol, 2009, 115: 389–395.
- Yuan Y, Cohen DJ, Love E, *et al.* Phase I dose-escalating study of biweekly fixed-dose rate gemcitabine plus pemetrexed in patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 2011, 68: 371–378.

Clinical application of OxyContin hydrochloride controlled release tablets in treatment of pain suffered from advanced cancer

Wenwu Wang, Xuenong OuYang, Zongyang Yu, Zhangshu Chen

Department of Oncology, Fuzhou General Hospital of Nanjing Military Command, Fuzhou 350025, China

Received: 2 April 2012 / Revised: 10 May 2012 / Accepted: 25 May 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract *Objective:* The aim of this study was to evaluate the efficacy and adverse reactions of OxyContin hydrochloride controlled release tablets in the treatment of moderate or severe pain in patients with terminal cancer and to observe any improvement on the cancer patients' quality of life. *Methods:* Sixty-eight patients with moderate or severe cancer pain were treated with OxyContin hydrochloride controlled release tablets. The initial dose was 5 mg/12h, or 1/2 that of the standard morphine regimen. During the course of treatment, the dosage was adjusted according to the patients' condition until the pain completely disappeared or nearly did so. Each patient received a treatment for at least 15 days. At the same time, adverse reactions, the quality of life and scores for the intensity of pain were observed and recorded ^[1]. *Results:* The final titrated dosage of OxyContin was as follows: the patients in 30 cases (44.1%) received a dosage of \leq 30 mg/d, those in 16 cases (23.5%) received a dosage of 31 to 60 mg/d, those in 18 cases (26.5%) received a dosage of 61 to 120 mg/d and those in 4 cases (5.9%) received a dosage of \geq 120 mg/d. The overall rate of relief from pain was 95.6%, among which the rates of excellent, effective and moderate relief were respectively 39.7%, 48.5% and 7.4%. OxyContin had mild adverse reactions and patients' quality of life was markedly improved. *Conclusion:* OxyContin is effective in treatment of moderate and severe cancer pain. The adverse reactions of OxyContin are mild, and the drug can significantly improve the quality of life of patients with cancer pain.

Key words advanced cancer; pain; OxyContin

Pain is a common symptom for patients with advanced cancer, with its incidence of as high as 60%–90%. There are nearly 9 million people suffering from cancer pain each year in the world. Prior to 2021 the said number of people will be increased to 15 million. Cancer pain tremendously influences patients' quality of life (QOL). Thus, analgesia treatment is of great significance ^[1]. Oxy-Contin hydrochloride controlled release tablets (trade name: OxyContin) is a new type of potent narcotic analgesics of opium types, the main characteristics of which lies in its immediate-release and controlled release. It possesses the function of a rapid effect and a whole course controlled release [2]. The hospital used OxyContin in the treatment of 68 cases of moderate or severe pain in patients with cancer from August 2005 to November 2006 and achieved a satisfactory analgetic effect.

Correspondence to: Wenwu Wang. Email: wangwenwu2003@yahoo.com.cn

Materials and methods

Clinical data

In the group, there were 36 males and 32 females, aged from 29–72 years, with median age of 51.4 years. All patients were at phase IV according to TNM classification. The primary tumor of various kinds were as follows: 22 cases of breast cancer, 18 cases of lung cancer, 12 cases of gastric cancer, 10 cases of colorectal cancer, 4 cases of liver cancer and 2 cases of pancreatic cancer.

Pain intensity and nature determination

Pain intensity was determined by numeric rating scale (NRS) ^[3]. A number between 0–10 was selected by patients themselves in order to determine the corresponding pain intensity. All the cases of pain prior to treatment were assessed to be moderate or severe, of which there were 18 cases of moderate pain (26.5%) and 50 cases of severe pain (73.5%). The pain intensity was classified in the light of clinical symptoms and physical examinations into somatic pain, visceral pain, neuralgia and two

or more than two kinds of mixed pain, with respectively 20 cases (29.4%), 38 cases (55.9%), 2 cases (2.9%) and 8 cases (11.8%).

Methods of treatment

OxyContin controlled release tablets: 10 mg/tablet. For those patients who had not used any analgesics or those who had used weak opium analgesics, the initial dose was 10 mg, 2 times per day. For those patients who were using morphine analgesics, the initial dose was 1/2 that of the standard morphine regimen. Afterwards, the drug dosage to be used was adjusted in accordance with the condition of the disease until the ideal analgesics effect was obtained. Each patient was treated that way for at least more than 15 days.

Determination of therapeutic effects

(1) Pain remission degree and pain relief rate.

Pain remission degree: 0 degree: pain was not relieved; 1 degree: mild remission (about 1/4); 2 degree: moderate remission (about 1/2); 3 degree: obvious relief (pain relieved about over 3/4); 4 degree: complete remission (pain disappeared).

Pain relief rate: the rate referred to the moderate and the above moderate pain relief rate (the percentage of the No. of patients whose pain was relieved by 2 degree or above in the all cases)

(2) The score of the QOL.

A scoring was conducted of the QOL of cancer patients by reference to the score draft which had recorded such score methods in five aspects as appetite, sleep, daily life, mental status and interpersonal intercourse before and after medication, and a subsequent comparison was carried out accordingly.

(3) Observation and records of adverse reactions.

Statistical analysis

All the data was analyzed with SPSS statistical software. P < 0.05 was of statistical difference.

Results

Titration analysis of different dosage

The initial dose of OxyContin was 10-120 mg/d. For 45 cases (66.2%) the dose was $\leq 30 \text{ mg/d}$, for 12 cases (17.6%) 31–60 mg/d, and for 11 cases (16.2%) 61–120 mg/d. There were 38 cases (55.9%) among the above where the dosage required to be adjusted, with an adjustment range of from 10 mg to 80 mg. It was so found out that after the dosage adjustment most of the patients obtained satisfactory analgetic effect. The final titrated dosage of oxyeodone was as follows: the patients in 30 cases (44.1%) received a dosage of $\leq 30 \text{ mg/d}$, those in 16 cases (23.5%) received a dosage of 31 to 60 mg/d, those in 18 cases (26.5%)

Table 1 The cancer pain remission degree of patients (*n*)

							()
Pain degree	Cases -	Pa	ain ren	nissio	Pain relief rate		
Faill degree	Cases -	0	1	2	3	4	(%)
Moderate	18	0	0	1	5	12	100.0
Severe	50	1	2	4	28	15	94.0
Total	68	1	2	5	33	27	95.6

Table 2 The changes of QOL pre- and post treatment ($\overline{\chi} \pm s$)

QOL	Pre- treatment	Post treatment	Р
Appetite	1.95 ± 0.51	3.08 ± 0.45	< 0.01
Sleep	1.96 ± 0.56	3.48 ± 0.67	< 0.01
Daily life	1.78 ± 0.51	3.12 ± 0.61	< 0.01
Mental status	1.69 ± 0.51	3.18 ± 0.64	< 0.01
Interpersonal intercourse	2.01 ± 0.45	3.15 ± 0.67	< 0.01

a dosage of 61 to 120 mg/d and those in 4 cases (5.9%) received a dosage of \geq 120 mg/d.

Analysis of therapeutic effect

A summary and statistics of the rapeutic effect for all the patients on the 15th day of medication was shown in Table 1 .

After medication of OxyContin in treatment, moderate or more remission (100.0%) was observed in patients with moderate cancer pain in 18 cases, of which 12 cases (66.7%) were of a complete remission and 5 cases (27.8%) of obvious relief. While in the 50 cases where the patients suffered from severe pain, moderate or more remission (100.0%) of cancer pain were obtained in 47 cases (94.0%), of which 15 cases (30.0%) saw a complete remission and an obvious pain relief was acquired in 28 cases (56.0%). The clinical data showed that OxyContin had a good therapeutic effect on remission of the pain originated from breast cancer, lung cancer, gastric cancer, colorectal cancer, liver cancer and pancreatic cancer. Also, the said drug had a good effect on the various types of cancer pain in the forms of visceral pain, somatic pain, neuralgia and mixed pain, etc.

Analysis of the QOL

A scoring of the patients' QOL after treatment with OxyContin for 15 days was conducted and a comparison was carried out with the score recorded before the treatment (Table 2).

The patients' appetite, sleep, daily life, mental status and interpersonal intercourse markedly improved, with a significant difference before and after treatment (P < 0.01).

Observation of adverse reactions

Such adverse reactions as constipation, nausea and vomiting, dizziness and dysuria, etc. were observed in the patients under treatment. Except for constipation, the ad-

verse reactions were of low occurrence probability. After symptomatic treatment, constipation was alleviated and the other adverse reactions gradually disappeared with the time prolonging with medication. Psychological dependence, serious adverse events or drug abuse were not observed in any of the above.

Discussion

Three-step analgesic ladder to treat cancer pain recommended by WHO has put forwarded that the main method for treatment of cancer pain is analgesia treatment with drugs. Opioids are the main drugs in treatment of cancer pain [4-8]. OxyContin hydrochloride is metabolized by 0-demethylation to oxymorphone and nor-Oxy-Contin, with a significant opium agonist activity and the highest bioavailability among the commonly-used opioid drugs. The strength of analgesia of OxyContin hydrochloride is about two times that of morphine ^[9, 10]. OxyContin is the perfect combination of the Acrocontin Company's technology and OxyContin hydrochloride. The immediate release that accounts for 38% in the drug composition makes an analgesia effect obvious within one hour after it is taken, while the control release accounting for 62% in the composition makes the analgesia effect sustained and ensures a stable pain control for twelve hours with a durable plasma concentration. We have used OxyContin in treatment of 68 cases of moderate or severe cancer pain with a severe pain relief rate of 94% (47/50) and a total pain relief rate of 95.6% (65/68), among which complete remission was acquired in 27 cases (39.7%), significant relief in 33 cases (48.5%) and moderate relief in 5 cases (7.4%). So we hold that a satisfactory analgesia effect ties in a strict control of the individual dosage titration. In treatment of 68 cases, 38 cases (55.9%) is required for dosage adjustment, the dosage adjustment range being controlled from 10 mg to 80 mg. By means of the dosage adjustment in a timely manner, 40 cases (58.8%) achieve to a marked analgetic effect one day after medication and 58 cases (85.3%) to a sustained stable analgetic effect five days after drug usage. The half-life of OxyContin is relatively short so that a steady-state concentration is acquired after drug usage 2–3 times, rendering the dosage titration an easy job. In view of OxyContin consisting of the immediate release that accounts for 38% in its composition, the plasma concentration is made elevated very quickly with the drug resulting in a relatively shorter time between drug-taking and effect-gaining than with other opioid analgesics so as for the application of morphine injection to be cut back. In addition, the usage of OxyContin can cause patients to increase their confidence in orally administered drugs in treatment and also lighten their suffering. It may be noted that in regard to different cancers or natures of cancer pain, OxyContin is always of a good therapeutic effect in clinical treatment of tumors and cancer pain of various kinds. The present study shows that OxyContin is an effective drug for cancer pain with a satisfactory therapeutic result in that the patients not only experience a considerable alleviation of pain but also acquire an enhancement of their QOL, especially, an improvement of sleep quality. Furthermore, there are fewer adverse reactions with OxyContin treatment, which mostly occurs during the initial stage of medication. With the prolonging of time when the drug is gradually tolerated by the body, the incidence of the adverse reactions

reduced by degrees. The occurrence of adverse reactions is not in direct proportion to drug dosage. Of the adverse reactions, constipation is rather stubborn and tricky, but it can be significantly relieved with a concurrent usage of Chinese medicine for constipation.

In summary, OxyContin is a high efficient analgesic in treatment of moderate or severe cancer pain with a satisfactory efficacy because of its practicality, simplicity, convenience and safety in use and fewer adverse reactions. It can also improve patients' QOL and heighten patients' confidence in further treatment. Therefore, OxyContin is worth popularizing in clinical therapy.

References

- Li XM, Liu RQ, Li HY, et al. A retrospective study on analgesia therapy with opiate drugs for dying patients with malignant tumor. Chin J Clin Oncol (Chinese), 2005, 32: 11358–1363.
- Kapil R, Nolting A, Roy P, et al. Pharmacokinetic properties of combination OxyContin plus racemic ibuprofen: two randomized, openlabel, crossover studies in healthy adult volunteers. Clin Ther, 2004, 26: 2015–2025.
- Sun Y, Gu WP. The guiding principle of cancer pain three-step analgesic ladder. Second edition. Beijing: Peking University Medical Press, 2002. 15–17.
- Yu SY, Qiu H, Ma ZS, *et al.* Effects of sustained release morphine hydrochloride tablets in management of cancer: a survey of 567 patients. Natl Med J China (Chinese), 2004, 86: 450–454.
- Sun Y. Medical Oncology. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House (PMPH), (Chinese), 2001. 996–997.
- Liu H, Wang W, Zheng CZ, et al. The effectives of three step analgesic ladder therapy in 563 cases of cancer pain. Chin J Clin Oncol (Chinese), 2004, 31: 11346–1348.
- Yu SY, Jiang ZF, et al. Chinese expert consensus statement on clinical diagnosis and treatment of malignant tumor bone metastasis and bone related diseases. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2010, 9:1–12.
- Yu SY, Yan S, Zhang HC, *et al.* Transdermal fentanyl for management of cancer pain in elderly patients in China. Chinese-German J Clin Oncol, 2004, 3: 85–89.
- Nielsen CK, Ross FB, Lotfipour S, et al. OxyContin and morphine have distinctly different pharmacological profiles: radioligand binding and behavioral studies in two rat models of neuropathic pain. Pain, 2007, 132: 289–300.
- Hermos JA, Young MM, Gagnon DR, et al. Characterizations of longterm OxyContin/acetaminophen prescriptions in veteran patients. J Clin Psychopharmacol, 2005, 25: 600–604.

Right iliac fossa abscess as first manifestation of perforated adenocarcinoma of sigmoid: a rare case report

Mohammad Hossein Hajisadeghizadeh¹, Hamid Reza Soltani. G², Seyed Mohammad Reza Mortazavizadeh³, Fatemeh Akhiri A²

¹ General Surgery, Yazd Branch, Islamic Azad University, Yazd, Iran

² Scientific Society of Medicine, Yazd Branch, Islamic Azad University, Yazd, Iran

³ Hematology and Oncology, Yazd Branch, Islamic Azad University, Yazd, Iran

Received: 3 February 2012 / Revised: 20 March 2012 / Accepted: 25 April 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Colorectal cancer usually present with known symptoms while there are less common manifestation including abscess formation which can be intra or extra peritoneal. A 60-year-old Caucasian male with a history of RLQ abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting and anorexia from 15 days ago referred to surgery ward. Ultrasound showed a hypoachoic lesion with diameters 50 mm × 70 mm in RLQ of abdomen and a round echogenic area in right lobe of liver with diameter 15 mm. The findings were revealed an abscess located in right iliac fossa then local drainage of abscess was performed. Four days later the patient was re-admitted because of severe abdominal distention and lack of bowel movement. Laparoscopy was performed before proceeding with further examinations, due to the poor general condition of the patient. The sigmoid was adherent into the abdominal wall and mild intestinal loop distention and apple-core view was observed during operation. Cancer of sigmoid complicated by a right iliac fossa abscess was diagnosed and Hartman colestomy was undertaken. At the last follow-up examination 3 months after operation, the patient was in good health with no clinical evidence of recurrence.

Key words colorectal cancer; adenocarcinoma; abdominal abscesses

Colorectal cancer usually present with known symptoms such as rectal bleeding, abdominal pain and anemia ^[1] while there are less common manifestation including abscess formation which can be intra or extra peritoneal. In similar studies abscess formation is reported in 0.3 to 0.4 of colonic carcinoma that is the second most common complication of perforated lesions ^[2–6] while in a single report perforation is pointed as the most lethal complication of perforated lesions ^[7]. This report presents a case of abdominal wall abscess secondary to colorectal cancer.

Case report

A 60-year-old Caucasian male with a history of RLQ abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting and anorexia from 15 days ago referred to surgery ward. Past medical history was unremarkable. The patient presented a fever of 38.5 and remarkable tenderness on RLQ of his abdomen. The abdomen was soft and without organomegaly. Thrombocytosis level of 456 000 cell/mm³ and left-shifted leu-

kocytosis were noted. Total and direct bilirubin and alkaline phosphatase reported higher than normal range. Ultrasound showed a hypoachoic lesion with diameters 50 mm \times 70 mm in RLQ of abdomen (Fig. 1) and a round echogenic area in right lobe of liver with diameter 15 mm (Fig. 2). Plain and upright abdomen X-ray was normal. The findings were revealed an abscess located in right iliac fossa then local drainage of abscess was performed. Cultures obtained from the abscess grew E. coli. Postoperatively the patient was treated with antibiotics and abscess reduction and was discharged home after 4 days. Four days later the patient was re-admitted because of severe abdominal distention and lack of bowel movement. He was complained of anorexia, weakness, fatigue and he presented decreased stool caliber. He has developed watery and dark diarrhea and stool incontinence at first day of his admission. On examination his sclera was sub icteric. Abdominal examination revealed severe distention, increased bowel sound and RLQ tenderness. Abdominal percussion showed tympan. There were no abnormalities on rectal exam. CBC revealed leukocytosis and thrombocytosis. On plain and upright abdomen X-ray, multiple

Correspondence to: Hamid Reza Soltani. G. Email: hrsgmed@yahoo.com



Fig. 1 Ultrasound showing a hypoachoic lesion with diameters 50 × 70 mm in RLQ of abdomen



Fig. 2 Ultrasound showing a round echogenic area in right lobe of liver with diameter 15 mm

air-fluid level and dilation of intestinal loops were seen. Ascites fluid in lower portion of abdomen was seen. Laparoscopy was performed before proceeding with further examinations, due to the poor general condition of the patient. The sigmoid was adherent in to the abdominal wall and mild intestinal loop distention and apple-core view was observed during operation. Cancer of sigmoid complicated by a right iliac fossa abscess was diagnosed and Hartman colestomy was undertaken. There was no evidence of distant metastasis. Macroscopic findings (Fig. 3) demonstrated a creamy-gray tumor measuring 5 cm in length with no nodal involvement and TNM staging was T₁N₀M₀. Tumor distance from one margin was 0.5 cm. Pathology revealed a well-differentiated adenocarcinoma of sigmoid and there was microscopic evidence (Fig. 4) of penetrating tumor through the muscularis propria and stage B₂ in Astler-Coller classification was noted. The patient was discharged after 8 days and he had uneventful post-operative course. At the last follow-up examination 3 months after operation, the patient was in good health with no clinical evidence of recurrence.

Discussion

Colorectal cancers may have invasions to adjoining organs but it is rarely seen as perforation While most of



Fig. 3 Macroscopic findings demonstrated a creamy-gray tumor measuring 5 cm in length with no nodal involvement



Fig. 4 Pathology revealed a well-differentiated adenocarcinoma of sigmoid

perforation of colorectal cancers in the intra-abdominal cavity Mucinous carcinomas had higher prevalence in colorectal cancers with abdominal abscess [8]. Our case was an adenocarcinoma, a common type of colorectal cancer presenting as right iliac fossa abscess. Some authors have pointed that abscess formation in abdominal wall is a presenting sign of colorectal cancers ^[9, 10]. However Merrill et al [8] reported that only 2.4% of colorectal cancer are associated with anterior involvement. In histologically review Merrill et al reported that 36.7% of colon cancers with anterior abdominal wall abscesses were mucinous carcinoma^[8] while Rankin^[11] believes describes this high prevalence because of slow growing and direct extension spreading of this type of tumors. In conclusion we presented a patient with sigmoid cancer who presented with an abscess in iliac fossa. CT-Scan proved useful for an abscess assessing the statue of tumor, also for patients with anterior abdominal wall abscess due to colorectal cancer a deep excision of the full thickness of anterior abdominal wall including the abscess should be performed [12-14], if this procedure is not possible because of any complication such as large size tumors or wide and extensive abscess, palliative resection of tumor is considerable to save and improve the quality of life of these patients as good as possible.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to Dr. Mandana Dargahi, pathologist and Dr. Seyed Mostafa Bagheipoor and Dr. Sharareh Baradaran radiologists of Shohadaye Kargar Hospital of Tamin Ejtemaei organization for their kind assistance and also Vesta Gostar Novin research group for their superb guidelines.

Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from patient's relatives for printing this report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Author's contribution

MHH interpreted patient's data and was the supervisor of this report. MRM performed the histopathological examination. HRSG was the major contributor to writing this manuscript and FA and BM collected data and collaborated in authors connection. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Maglinte DD, Pollack HM. Retroperitoneal abscess: a presentation of colon carcinoma. Gastrointest Radiol, 1983, 8: 177–181.
- 2. Donaldson GA. The management of perforative carcinoma of the co-

lon. N Engl J Med, 1958, 258: 201-207.

- Miller LD, Boruchow IB, Fitts WT Jr. An analysis of 284 patients with perforative carcinoma of the colon. Surg Gynecol Obstet, 1966, 123: 1212–1218.
- 4. Devitt JE, Roth-Moyo LA, Brown FN. Perforation complicating adenocarcinoma of colon and rectum. Can J Surg, 1970, 13: 9–12.
- Welch JP, Donaldson GA. Perforative carcinoma of colon and rectum. Ann Surg, 1974, 180: 734–740.
- Kobayashi H, Sakurai Y, Shoji M, et al. Psoas abscess and cellulitis of the right gluteal region resulting from carcinoma of the rectum. J Gastroenterol, 2001, 36: 623–628.
- Kelley WE Jr, Brown PW, Lawrence W Jr. Penetrating, obstructing, and perforating carcinomas of the colon and rectum. Arch Surg, 1981, 116: 381–384.
- Merrill JG, Dockerty MB, Waugh JM. Carcinoma of the colon perforating onto the anterior abdominal wall. Surgery, 1950, 28: 662–671.
- Shucksmith HS. Subcutaneous abscess as the first evidence of carcinoma of the colon. Br J Surg, 1963, 50: 514–515.
- White AF, Haskin BJ, Jenkins CK, *et al.* Abscess of the abdominal wall as the presenting sign in carcinoma of the colon. Cancer, 1973, 32: 142–146.
- Souei Mhiri M, Rouatbi I, Tlili Graies K, et al. Abdominal wall abscess as the presenting sign in carcinoma of the colon: report of 4 cases. J Radiol, 2005, 86: 1699–1703.
- Tajima T, McDonald JC. Adjuncts to the abdominal wall reconstruction following extensive cancer surgery. Surgery, 1974, 76: 259–262.
- el-Domeiri A, Whiteley HW Jr. Prognostic significance of abdominal wall involvement in carcinoma of cecum. Cancer, 1970, 26: 552– 556.
- Andaz S, Heald RJ. Abdominal wall abscess–an unusual primary presentation of a transverse colonic carcinoma. Postgrad Med J, 1993, 69: 826–828.

Adamantinoma of the pelvic bone, a difficult diagnosis with fatal outcome

Binesh F¹, Abrisham J², Sobhan M³, Navabii H⁴, Vahidfar MR⁵, Ashrafi K³

¹ Department of Pathology, Yazd Shahid Sadoghi University, Yazd, Iran

² Department of Orthopedy, Yazd Shahid Sadoghi University, Yazd, Iran

³ Department of Radiology, Yazd Shahid Sadoghi University, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Yazd Shahid Sadoghi University, Yazd, Iran

⁵ Department of Hematology, Yazd Shahid Sadoghi University, Yazd, Iran

Received: 16 February 2012 / Revised: 20 March 2012 / Accepted: 25 April 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

Abstract Adamantinoma is a primary low grade malignant bone tumor that is predominantly located in the mid-portion of the tibia. The tumor is of interest for two reasons: first, there still exists considerable dispute as to the origin of the lesion and recent reports reveal that the condition is more malignant than had previously been supposed. Although cases of adamantinoma located to the axial skeleton have been reported, this is the first case of adamantinoma located to pelvic bone in Iran. Here we present the clinical, radiological & histopathological features of a 19 year-old male with painful lesion located to the right pelvic bone which was morphologically and immunohistochemically diagnosed as adamantinoma. In general, metastasis is seen in 15%–20% of patients. The spread can occur to regional nodes, lung and infrequently to skeleton, liver and brain ^[1]. Several weeks after surgery, our patient's condition gradually worsened. A CT-scan of abdomen revealed widespread liver metastasis and the patient died due to acute liver failure. This case demonstrates that the mortality rate from adamantinoma is not always low.

Key words adamantinoma; pelvic bone; diagnosis

Adamantinoma is a primary, low grade, malignant bone tumor of unknown histogenesis. It is a rare neoplasm comprise only 0.1%-0.5% of all primary bone tumor ^[2]. The first reported example is attributed to Marier in 1900^[3]. In 1913 Fischer^[4] named the lesion "primary adamantinoma of the tibia" because of its striking histologic resemblance to the jaw adamantinoma. In general, adamantinoma is a slow growing tumor and tends to be locally aggressive and rarely metastasizes ^[5]. The rate of metastasis is approximately 15%-20% and usually occurs in the first two years following diagnosis [6, 7]. The most common sites of metastasis are bone, lung and regional lymph nodes [6]. To our knowledge, until now, adamantinoma has been reported only in few locations in the appendicular skeleton. Here we present a patient with an adamantinoma of the pelvic bone who subsequently developed widespread liver metastasis and died due to acute liver failure.

Correspondence to: Binesh F. Email: binesh44@yahoo.com

Case presentation

A 19 year-old Iranian male complained of pain in the right pelvic area and limping from one year ago. The pain persisted and did not decline over the following several months. There was no history of previous trauma. One month ago he consulted an orthopaedist in the community hospital. According to his medical records, active and passive range of motion of right hip joint were reduced, but neurovascular examination were normal. X-ray and CT scan showed slight sclerosis, cortical thickening, cortical destruction and periosteal reaction (vertical spicules) of right iliac bone with soft tissue thickening of gluteus and iliacus muscles (Fig. 1 and 2). Except for alkaline phosphatase which was 700 U/L (normal value = 80-306U/L), and all of the laboratory data were unremarkable. Needle biopsy from right anterior iliac bone was performed and a definite pathologic diagnosis could not be made from that specimen, but metastatic adenocarcinoma was considered possibility. Extensive metastasis work up including chest and abdominal CT-scans, Tc-sintigraphy, endoscopy, colonoscopy and tumor markers evaluation were negative. Then the patient referred to our center



Fig. 1 X-ray showed slight sclerosis, cortical thickening



Fig. 3 Microscopic examination showed a biphasic tumor, composed of epithelial and osteofibrous components (× 10)

and underwent open surgery. At surgery, the tumor partly was removed for histologic examination, but a through enucleation was postponded to the next step due to lack of necessary facilities. The resected tissue, which was of hard consistency, paraffin blocks and glass slides related to previous surgery were sent to our department for examination and consultation. Microscopic examination showed a biphasic tumor, composed of epithelial and osteofibrous components. Epithelial cells were medium to large in size with finely dispersed chromatin and an overall bland appearance. Mitotic figures were infrequent. These cells had arranged in nests and tubular or glangular appearance. Islands of epithelial cells were surrounded by spindle cells. The spindle cells had interlacing fascicles and there was no matrix production (Fig. 3). Our diagnosis was classic adamantinoma. IHC studies revealed that the epithelial cells expressed keratins and staining for vimentin was strongly positive in epithelial nests and fibroblast-like stroma (Fig. 4). Tumor cells were negative for S100, CEA and CD99. The diagnosis of adamantinoma was confirmed.

Discussion

This case is of interest because of the lesion located to the pelvic bone and early liver metastasis. Adamantinoma of the long bones is an uncommon, primary low growing malignant bone tumor. Adamantinoma presents



Fig. 2 CT scans showed cortical destruction and periosteal reaction (vertical spicules) of right iliac bone with soft tissue thickening of gluteus and iliacus muscles



Fig. 4 Epithelial and spindle cells were positive in vimentin staining (× 40)

a wide variety of histologic type with malignant biologic behavior. Adamantinoma mostly occurs in the second to fifth decade. The mean patient age is 25-35 years with a range from 2 years to 86 years. It is slightly more common in men than women, with a ratio of 5:4 [8]. Our patient was a 19 year-old Iranian male. The tumor has striking predilection for the long bone (97% of cases) and specifically, the tibia (80%-85% of cases). Other bones that are involved in order of decreasing frequency including humorous [9], ulna [10], femur [11], fibula [12], radius [13], innominate bone ^[14, 15], rib ^[16], spine ^[17] and rarely small bones of the hand and foot [18]. The present case is unique in that the patient had a novel site of appearance of adamantinoma. A history of significant trauma has been noted in about 60% of 200 cases reviewed by Moon and Mori ^[8]. The presented patient had no history of trauma. The initial symptom are often indolent and non specific. Our case complained of pain in the right pelvic area for one year ago. As far as radiologic features are concerned, the most common appearance is that of multiple sharply circumscribed lucent zones of various size, with sclerotic bone interspersed between the zones and extend above and below the lucent zone. Sometimes the radiographic accepts of adamantinoma are similar to the those of osteofibrous dysplasia of tibia ^[19]. MRI is useful in differentiating between adamantinoma from osteofibrous dysplasia. On plain radiograph, both of them may show polycyclic osteolysis refereed to as soap-bubble appearance. MRI can give information not only on the extend of the tu-

mor, but also about its origin ^[20]. In the presented case CT scan showed slight sclerosis, cortical thickening, cortical destruction and periosteal reaction (vertical spicules) of right iliac bone with soft tissue thickening of gluteus and iliacus muscles. The main differential diagnosis of adamantinoma is epithelial metastatic neoplasm. However the bland cytological growth along with the soap-bubble like appearance of adamantinoma would be quite unusual for a metastatic epithelial neoplasm. The presented patient underwent extensive metastases work-up which were negative. Adamantinoma are usually treated by excision with wide surgical resection of the tumor and insertion of a segment of intercalary bone allograft or osteoarticular segment ^[21–23]. Amputation is the treatment of choice in patients presenting with local recurrence, metastases or failure of reconstruction ^[23]. The tumor appears relatively insensitive to radiotherapy [6] and although the optimal treatment is still controversial, a need for early aggressive surgical treatment has been suggested by some authors ^[24]. Our patient died before radical surgery. Some studies reported the long term outcome of adamantinoma ^[25–28]. Male sex, pain, symptoms of < 5 years' duration and initial treatment by biopsy, curettage or resection are risk factors for recurrent or metastatic disease [26]. The rate of distant metastasis in long bone adamantinoma is about 15%–20% ^[8, 26]. This percentage may be higher because the indolent course of the disease. In 1986 Moon and Mori found 14 metastases in 109 cases [8]. Distant metastases were mainly found in patients with a history of local recurrence, mostly due to inadequate initial treatment. Lungs are most frequently affected, less frequently metastases are found in regional lymph nodes, liver and bones. Szendroi et al [28] published a long term follow-up study of 11 cases of adamantinoma of long bones. The authors reported recurrences in 4 patients 20 and 16 years after initial treatment. One patient died of pulmonary metastasis, 9 years after diagnosis. Although adamantinoma is a low grade, slow growing malignant bone tumor, a lifelong follow-up of the patient is necessary due to the possibility of recurrences or metastasis even decades after the primary tumor. Mortality rates of 13% [26] to 18% [8] have been reported. The mean duration of survival with metastatic adamantinoma of long bones is estimated to be approximately 13 years [29]. To our knowledge liver metastasis in adamantinoma is rare and has favorable course ^[30] but in contrary the presented case is unique in that the patient had not only a novel site of appearance but also had early widespread and fatal liver metastasis. We find that the mortality rate from adamantinoma is not low and early aggressive treatment and long term follow up are mandatory. Recently, the least common variant of adamantinoma has been described as Ewing's sarcoma like adamantinoma or adamantinoma like Ewing's sarcoma. The cells exhibits features of both epithelial cells and neuroendocrine cells. IHC have shown the tumor cells to contain both epithelial and neural antigens ^[31, 32]. Bridge et al^[33] documented translucation (11, 21) in the nuclei of cytokeratin-immunoreactive cells. Identification of t (11, 21) by cytogenetic and/or molecular genetic techniques is specific in Ewing's sarcoma, however is not universally available. So IHC techniques are more popular. In about our case the tumor cells were negative for CD 99 and S100 antigens and the cells did not have "round cell" morphology. The histogenesis of this variant is not clear, however Ewing's sarcoma is considered to be derived from primitive pleuripotential stem cells that may differentiate into cells with mesenchymal, epithelial and neural features. In conclusion the diagnosis of adamantinoma requires knowledge of compatible clinical and radiologic studies as well as understanding of the variable histologic patterns that one may encounter. In addition we find that the mortality rate from adamantinoma is not always low and early aggressive treatment and long term follow up are mandatory.

Conclusion

Adamantinoma of the long bones is an uncommon, primary low growing malignant bone tumor. Although cases of adamantinoma located to the axial skeleton have been reported, but it is rare. The diagnosis of adamantinoma requires knowledge of compatible clinical and radiologic studies as well as understanding of the variable histologic patterns that one may encounter. The mortality rate from adamantinoma is not always low and early aggressive treatment and long term follow up are mandatory.

References

- Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F. W.H.O. classification of tumors – Pathology and genetics of tumors of soft tissue and bone. Lyons: I.A.R.C. Press, 2002. 332–334.
- Mirra JM. Adamantinoma & fibrous dysplasia. In: Mirra JM. Bone tumors. 1st ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1989. 1203–1231.
- Maier C. Ein primares myelogenous plattenepithelcarcinoma der ulna. Burns' Beitr Klin Chir, 1900, 26: 533.
- Fisher B. Primary adamantinoma of the tibia. Z Pathol, 1913, 12: 422–441.
- Gardner DG, Pecak AM. The treatment of ameloblastoma based on pathologic and anatomic principles. Cancer, 1980, 46: 2514–2519.
- Weiss SW, Dorfman HD. Adamantinoma of long bone. An analysis of nine new cases with emphasis on metastasizing lesions and fibrous dysplasia-like changes. Hum Pathol, 1977, 8: 141–153.
- Altmannsberger M, Poppe H, Schauer A. An unusual case of adamantinoma of long bones. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 1982, 104: 315–320.
- Moon NF, Mori H. Adamantinoma of the appendicular skeleton updated. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 1986, (204): 215–237.
- Huvos AG, Marcove RC. Adamantinoma of long bones. A clinicopathological study of fourteen cases with vascular origin suggested. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1975, 57: 148–154.

- Sherman GM, Damron TA, Yang Y. CD99 positive adamantinoma of the ulna with ipsilateral discrete osteofibrous dysplasia. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2003, (408): 256–261.
- Makhson AN, Bulycheva IV, Kuz'min IV, et al. Adamantinoma of long tubal bones. Arkh Patol (Russian), 2006, 68: 14–18.
- Baker PL, Dockerty MB, Coventry MB. Adamantinoma (so-called) of the long bones; review of the literature and report of three new cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1954, 36-A: 704–720.
- Bourne MH, Wood MB, Shives TC. Adamantinoma of the radius. A case report. Orthopedics, 1988, 11: 1565–1566.
- Lasda NA, Hughes EC Jr. Adamantinoma of the ischium. Case report. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1979, 61: 599–600.
- Vasin VA, Skotnikov VI, Khazov PD, et al. An adamantinoma located in the pelvic bones. Vrach Delo (Russian), 1990, (6): 96–98.
- Beppu H, Yamaguchi H, Yoshimura N, et al. Adamantinoma of the rib metastasizing to the liver. Intern Med, 1994, 33: 441–445.
- 17. Dini LI, Mendonça R, Adamy CA, *et al*. Adamantinoma of the spine: case report. Neurosurgery, 2006, 59: E426.
- Diepeveen WP, Hjort GH, Pock-Steen OC. Adamantinoma of the capitate bone. Acta Radiol, 1960, 53: 377–384.
- Dameron TB Jr. Adamantinoma of the appendicular skeleton. Johns Hopkins Med J, 1979, 145: 107–111.
- Judmaier W, Peer S, Krejzi T, *et al.* MR findings in tibial adamantinoma. A case report. Acta Radiol, 1998, 39: 276–278.
- Papagelopoulos PJ, Mavrogenis AF, Galanis EC, et al. Clinicopathological features, diagnosis, and treatment of adamantinoma of the long bones. Orthopedics, 2007, 30: 211–215.
- Qureshi AA, Shott S, Mallin BA, *et al.* Current trends in the management of adamantinoma of long bones. An international study. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 2000, 82-A: 1122–1131.
- 23. Gebhardt MC, Lord FC, Rosenberg AE, et al. The treatment of ada-

mantinoma of the tibia by wide resection and allograft bone transplantation. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1987, 69: 1177–1188.

- Lybeert ML, Van Belle S, Sacré R, *et al.* Adamantinoma of the tibia, a difficult diagnosis. Acta Clin Belg, 1986, 41: 417–422.
- Campanacci M, Giunti A, Bertoni F, *et al.* Adamantinoma of the long bones. The experience at the Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. Am J Surg Pathol, 1981, 5: 533–542.
- Keeney GL, Unni KK, Beabout JW, et al. Adamantinoma of long bones. A clinicopathologic study of 85 cases. Cancer, 1989, 64: 730–737.
- Filippou DK, Papadopoulos V, Kiparidou E, *et al.* Adamantinoma of tibia: a case of late local recurrence along with lung metastases. J Postgrad Med, 2003, 49: 75–77.
- Szendroi M, Antal I, Arató G. Adamantinoma of long bones: a longterm follow-up study of 11 cases. Pathol Oncol Res, 2009, 15: 209– 216.
- Hazelbag HM, Taminiau AH, Fleuren GJ, *et al.* Adamantinoma of the long bones. A clinicopathological study of thirty-two patients with emphasis on histological subtype, precursor lesion, and biological behavior. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1994, 76: 1482–1499.
- Beppu H, Yamaguchi H, Yoshimura N, *et al.* Adamantinoma of the rib metastasizing to the liver. Intern Med, 1994, 33: 441–445.
- Lipper S, Kahn LB. Case Report 235. Ewing-like adamantinoma of the left radial head and neck. Skeletal Radiol, 1983, 10: 61–66.
- Meister P, Kanrad E, Hübner G. Malignant tumor of humerus with features of "adamantinoma" and Ewing's sarcoma. Pathol Res Pract, 1979, 166: 112–122.
- Bridge JA, Dembinski A, DeBoer J, *et al.* Clonal chromosomal abnormalities in osteofibrous dysplasia. Implications for histopathogenesis and its relationship with adamantinoma. Cancer, 1994, 73: 1746–1752.

Activities Report

Cancer Pain Master Class for China, 2012 was held in Beijing, Guangzhou and Shanghai

Author/Photo: Yi Cheng, from Tongji Cancer Center, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430030, China

Received: 27 May 2012 / Revised: 10 June 2012 / Accepted: 15 June 2012 © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012



Fig. 1 Professor Bart Jan Morlion made the speech

From May 16th–18th, Cancer Pain Master Class for China, 2012, hosted by Mundipharma (China) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., was held in Beijing, Guangzhou and Shanghai. More than 1200 oncological medical staff took part in the activities.

The activities invited Professor Bart Jan Morlion, the chief of the Leuven Centre for Pain Management and president of the Belgian Pain Society, IASP. He presented an excellent speech titled as "considerations in opioid titration in cancer pain". In the speech he focused on epidemiology and aetiology of cancer pain, transition



Fig. 2 The conference in Guangzhou

from acute to chronic pain, pharmacotherapy of cancer pain, principles of opioid titration and choice of opioid. He emphasized the balance between pain alleviation and the side effects when patients took opioid drugs, and the recommendation for breakthrough pain, nausea, vomiting and dizziness. In his hospital both of titration methods were carried on: short-acting opioid drugs only and a combination of long-acting opioid drugs and short-acting opioid drugs. The latter method should be recommended, since it simplified the treatment, reduced the risk of low compliance and thereby enhanced efficacy.

The "Cancer Pain Master Class for China, 2012" activities aimed to elevate the acknowledge of cancer pain among medical staff, and they matched up with "Good Pain Management Ward" national selection hosted by Ministry of Public Health in this year. It was reported that the selection would be launched in June.

Contribution Invitation of Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology is an international professional academic periodical on oncology, being co-edited by China and Germany. The Journal, with the authors from around world, especially from China, is dominated in introducing the clinical experience of diagnosis and treatment as well as leading scientific research achievement in the tumor domain, in addition to report basic theory researches which help instruct the clinical practice of oncology and closely connect with the discipline. All the manuscripts are published in English, monthly issued both internal and external, 64 pages, 16 opens domains, art paper in offset printing, with lay-out by international customs, unified issuing number: ISSN 1610-1979 (Paper) 1613-9089 (Online) /CN 42-1654/R.

Manuscripts' arrangements are expected to meet the Uniform Requirement for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals (the 5th edition) basically, which was laid down by Internal Medical Journals Edition Committee. Any reference about this please consult Ann Intern Med, 1997, 126 (1): 36–47. Specific requirements for manuscripts are as follows:

Submission process

Manuscripts must be submitted by one of the authors of the manuscript, and should not be submitted by anyone on their behalf. The submitting author takes responsibility for the article during submission and peer review. Manuscripts should be scientific, advanced, pragmatic, concise, clear, well-arranged, well-informed and data-accurate. Provided the manuscript is to be printed, full text will be published in English. To facilitate rapid publication and to minimize administrative costs, *Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology accepts online submission, website: www.editorialmanager.com/tcgj.*

During submission you will be asked to provide a cover letter. Please use this to explain why your manuscript should be published in the journal and to elaborate on any issues relating to our editorial policies detailed in the instructions for authors.

Files can be submitted as a batch, or one by one. The submission process can be interrupted at any time – when users return to the site, they can carry on where they left off. Each manuscript should include title page, abstract, key words, text, acknowledgement, authors' disclosures of potential conflicts of interest, reference, tables, charts and captions, starting each of these sections on a new page, numbered consecutively, beginning with the title page.

Title page: It contains the title of the article, which should

be concise but informative. The names of all authors are to be placed under the title in sequence, and personal signatures in the same sequence are a must. Pay attention to accuracy of the title, the names of all authors with their affiliations and the contacting methods in English (address, postcode, telephone and fax number, Email address, etc.).

Abstract and key words: A structural abstract of no more than 250 words is to be put on the second page. It should embody four parts, objectives, methods, results and conclusion. It's desirable to employ the third person to write, not "this article" or "the author" in stead of. Supply three to eight key words or short phrases, and terms from the medical subject heading (MeSH) list Index Medicus should be adopted, each word being separated by semicolon.

Figures and Tables: Each figure and table is demanded to be numbered consecutively with the order given in the text, typed in separate sheets, and headed by a concise title. Attach all tables after the text. Place explanatory materials in footnotes below the table, and illustrate in footnotes all non-standard abbreviations used in table. The Journal takes the "Three Lines" form of table, requiring the data of the table in accordance with the significant digits of the same index (in the text). Only professional quality glossy photographs and black and white drawings are acceptable. Table numbers, subjects, names of the authors and an arrow indicating "top" should be affixed to the back of each table with soft pencil. If any images of people are involved, it must be granted by the persons in written. Magnification and staining should be indicated when pertinent (esp. pathological pictures concerned).

References: References should be listed in the order as mentioned in the text using Vancouver style. References are supposed to be sequentially listed according to GB7714-87 The Rules of References after the Manuscript, being marked by numbers in square brackets in the order as mentioned in the text. The authors must have read the references themselves. List the authors of the reference up to three and, "et al" if more than three. Names of journals should be abbreviated on the basis of the Index Medicus. Every reference should be symbolized by beginning and ending pages. Authors ought to check all references for accuracy and, at the same time, to correct text citation, listing all the citation orderly in Arabian number at the bottom of the text before submitting the articles. The following are two examples of reference style:

1 Bold RJ, Ota DM, Ajani JA, et al. Peritoneal and serum

tumor markers predict recurrence and survival of patients with respectable gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer, 1999, 2: 1–7.

2 Weinstein L, Swartz MN. Pathologic properties of invading microorganisms. In: Sodeman WA Jr, Sodeman WA, eds. Pathologic physiology: mechanisms of disease. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1974. 457–472.

Assistance with the process of manuscript preparation and submission is available from the customer support team (dmedizin@sina.com).

Publication and peer review processes

Submitted manuscripts will be sent to peer reviewers, unless they are either out of scope or below threshold for the journal, or the presentation or written English is of an unacceptably low standard. They will generally be reviewed by two experts with the aim of reaching a first decision as soon as possible. Statistical reviewers are also used where required (for a full list of our statistical advisers, please click here). Reviewers are asked to declare any competing interests and have to agree to open peer review, which works on two levels: the authors receive the signed report and, if the manuscript is published, the same report is available to the readers. Reviewers are asked whether the manuscript is scientifically sound and whether it is of sufficient significance for publication. In cases where there is strong disagreement either among peer reviewers or between the authors and peer reviewers, advice is sought from a member of the journal's Editorial Board. The journal allows a maximum of two revisions of any manuscript. All appeals should be directed to the Medical Editor. The ultimate responsibility for editorial decisions lies with the Editor-in-Chief.

Other specification

Numbers are required in Arabian. Units of measurement are to be presented in metric units, such as m, cm, mm, mmHg, μ m, nm, L, dL, mL, μ L, kg, g, mg, μ g, kcal, °C, etc. Abbreviations and terms in simplified forms should be displayed in whole words or phrases at the first time, directly followed by its abbreviation, for example, nasopharyngeal cancer (NPC), When the terms are to be mentioned the second time, the shortened forms in question are acceptable. The abbreviations ought to be standard ones. Any abbreviations in title and abstract are not allowed.

If some Funds subjects of the studies are involved in the manuscripts, be it winning national, ministerial, provincial funds or concerning the special and strategic program, all should be given clear indication in the title page (the Funds number is to be needed), and the copy of the Funds certificate a plus.

It's advisable of you to send us a English-polish certificate from foreign experts (English or American for the best), with inclusion of their personal signatures. Without such certificate, we will invite foreign specialist accordingly to examine and revise your manuscript at the cost on your part. Please indicate your approval when contribute.

Manuscripts must be accompanied by a introduction letter from the author's institution. The letter should contain (1) institution's review and remarks over the manuscript, (2) a statement of no duplicate publication or submission elsewhere of any part of the text, (3) a statement that no secretes or classified information are involved, (4) a statement of no signature or other relationships problems that might lead to a conflict of interest.

To reduce errors in typesetting and to speed up publication, authors are encouraged to submit manuscripts on disk. Disks should not be sent until the manuscript has been accepted and all revisions have been made. The revised manuscript should be saved in paper pattern as well as in pure text pattern, and the saving pattern must clearly indicated on the disk. The editors will not accept a disk without accompanying printouts of all the files on the disk nor without the original manuscript.

Under conditions prescribed by Copyright Law and under considerations of some context of the Journal, manuscripts which are acknowledged receipts but no further notice in the following 3 months may be in the course of examine. If contribution elsewhere is a want, please contact with the editor first because double contribution to different journals with the same manuscripts are not permitted. Keep all the manuscripts for no original manuscript will be returned.

Authors are responsible for the manuscripts they submitted. The Journal, on the basis of Copyright Law, is entitled to revise and abridge the manuscripts. Any amendments concerning the original meaning will be referred to the author for consideration.

Once the manuscript was adopted into the inclusion of the press, the Journal has the rights to publish the manuscript by means of electronic medium or in disc edition. Any part of the manuscript should on no condition be reprinted without our approval.

Every manuscript will be charged 50 yuans (RMB) for being taken care of. When post the manuscript, please remit the money via post office simultaneously (Do not enclose the money with the manuscript). After inclusion of the manuscript, a relevant fees for space of page is to be added. The publisher will provide three copies of the journal free of charge, if the manuscript is accepted.

Address of Editorial Office: Editorial Office of Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology, Tongji Hospital, 1095 Jiefang Dadao, Wuhan 430030, China; Tel.: +86-27-83662630; Fax: +86-27-83662645; Email: dmedizin@sina.com; dmedizin@tjh. tjmu.edu.cn.

本刊投稿须知

《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》(英文)是中国与德国施普林格出版社合作出版的国际性学术刊物。为了实现国际化, 方便全球作者投稿及加快稿件处理速度,本刊已开通国际网上投稿及审稿系统,投稿请直接登陆http://www. editorialmanager.com/tcgj进行注册、登录,便可投稿、查询及跟踪稿件处理情况。

同时,本刊已实现在线优先出版(Online First),通过审理的稿件最快可在15天内正式发表。热烈欢迎国内外 广大作者踊跃投稿!

一、网上投稿前,请作者按以下要求规范来稿:

1,所投中英文稿、图和表分开存储在3个word文档中(要求提供对应的中文稿件)。

2, 英文文题除首字母和专有名词外一律小写, 用sylfaen、加粗、小二号字体; 如系基金文章, 标题末尾加"*" 号; 正文用sylfaen、小四号字体; 正文中小标题加粗, 除首字母和专有名词外均小写; 文中所有标点符号均应在英 文状态下输入, 标点符号后空一格。

3,作者姓名的英文书写:名前姓后,只有首字母大写,每个名字间用逗号隔开。

4,作者单位参照下列格式: Department of Radiology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Dalian Medical University, Dalian 116011, China

5,通讯作者书写格式参照如下: Correspondence to: Feihong Gong. Email: fhg@sina.com, Tel: 1355555555,0521-266666666 (O)

6, 摘要为结构式摘要(包括: Objective, Methods, Results, Conclusion), 每部分另起一段书写。

7,关键词(Key words)除专有名词外均小写,每个关键词间以分号隔开。

8,参考文献(References)请参照本刊书写规范书写,并请在文章后附上全部参考文献的有关查询资料(如,外文参考文献,可附上Medline题名页;中文参考文献,可附上文章PDF资料)。

9,所有的图片制成tiff格式。表格采用word文档中的绘制表格工具制作,不要直接划线。

二、作者网上投稿步骤如下:

1,首先登陆 http://www.editorialmanager.com/tcgj。

2,首次登陆的新作者:请点击网页上部菜单中的"Register"按钮,按照提示输入信息。如注册成功,系统会把 用户名和密码发至您的邮箱。(邮箱地址至关重要,稿件处理的所有相关信件均会发至您的邮箱)。

3,已注册的作者:

1) 请点击网页上部菜单中的"Login", 输入系统发到您邮箱的用户名和密码登陆, 进入主菜单界面。

2) 点击"Submit New Manuscript", 按照提示依次输入文章题目; 选择文章类型; 输入更多作者的相关信息; 粘贴英文摘要; 输入英文关键词; 选择文章专业分类; 您可以推荐2名与您稿件专业相关的同行评审人(可填可不 填); 最后, 您还可以附上对投稿文章的评论及补充说明(可填可不填)。

3) 完成上述步骤后,您就可以开始上传您的稿件了:在Item项里选择"* Manuscript",粘贴您的中英文稿件; 如来稿附有图表,请在Item项里分别选择"Figure"、"Table",点击"浏览"选择您的图表文档,然后点击"Attach This File";粘贴完所有文档资料后,屏幕上会显示所有上传的文档,如确定所有上传的文档正确,请点击"Next"; 否则,点击"Remove",重新粘贴。

4) 最后, 点击"Build PDF for my Approval"。

5) 点击"Submissions Waiting for Author's Approval"; 等待几秒, 待"Action"里有内容后, 点击"View Submission"(一定要先点击, 才能确认文章)。您可以看到系统生成的pdf文档。

6) 确认无误后,点击"Approve Submission",然后点击"确定",这时系统会显示已成功投稿。

7) 点击"Main Menu",回到主操作界面,这时会显示有一篇文章在处理中。

8) 如要退出,点击"Logout";以后登录,点击"Login",输入用户名和密码,即可查询稿件处理情况。

如有任何疑问, 欢迎随时咨询! (Email: dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn; Tel: +86-27-83662630)

—本刊编辑部

中德临床肿瘤学杂志 Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology 第五届编辑委员会

dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn; dmedizin@sina.com

龚建平(武汉) 王华庆 (天津) 名誉主编 编委 韩本立(重庆) 王绿化(北京) W.-W. Höpker (汉堡) Norbert Arnold (基尔) 健(上海) 王世宣(武汉) 侯 吴孟超(上海) Gunther Bastert (海德堡) 胡道予(武汉) 王文武(福州) 孙 燕(北京) M.W. Beckmann (埃尔兰根) 胡夕春(上海) 魏于全(成都) H.J. Biersack (波恩) 黄慧强 (广州) 伍 钢(武汉) Hubert E. Blum (弗莱堡) 主编 黄 韬(武汉) 伍建林 (大连) Markus W. Büchler (海德堡) 陈安民(武汉) 黄志强(北京) 吴令英(北京) Joe Y. Chang (休斯顿) 于世英(武汉) 季加孚(北京) 夏良平 (广州) Charles S. Cleeland (休斯顿) 谢晓冬(沈阳) Anthony D. Ho (海德堡) 姜文奇 (广州) Jörg F. Debatin (海德堡) 江泽飞(北京) 熊建萍 (南昌) Joachim W. Dudenhausen (柏林) 常务副主编 柯昌庶(武汉) 徐兵河(北京) Gerhard Ehninger (德累斯顿) 郎锦义(成都) 徐细明(武汉) 秦叔逵(南京) Reg Gorczynski (多伦多) 雷开键(宜宾) 徐永健(武汉) Adolf Grünert (乌尔姆) 严律南(成都) 雷 霆(武汉) A. R. Hanauske (汉堡) 副主编 进(上海) 郁宝铭(上海) 李 Ch. Herfarth (海德堡) 吴一龙 (广州) 李慎江(泰安) 于 丁(武汉) Dieter Hoelzer (法兰克福) Hanxiang An (马尔堡) 李树玲(天津) 于洪升(青岛) W. Hohenberger (埃尔兰根) 邹 萍 (武汉) 李晔雄(北京) 于秀淳(济南) Arnulf H. Hölscher (科隆) 李子庭(上海) 袁光金(淮安) Ulrich T. Hopt (弗里堡) 张 力 (广州) 专家指导委员 李智勇 (大连) Karl-Walter Jauch (慕尼黑) 张 林(武汉) 刘 巍(石家庄) 储大同(北京) Gary A. Levy (多伦多) 舜(上海) 张群华(上海) 陆 龚非力(武汉) Guojun Li(休斯顿) 张清媛(哈尔滨) 卢 铀(成都) 管忠震 (广州) LeiLi(休斯顿) 罗荣城 (广州) 张义成(武汉) 郭俊渊(武汉) Zhongxing Liao (休斯顿) 马 丁(武汉) 张永学(武汉) 郝希山 (天津) Dolores J. Schendel (慕尼黑) 马红兵(西安) 支修益(北京) 蒋国梁(上海) Helmut K. Seitz (海德堡) 马 军 (哈尔滨) 周彩存(上海) 廖美琳(上海) J.R. Siewert(海德堡) 周剑峰(武汉) 马胜林 (杭州) 刘允怡(香港) Katherine A. Siminovitch (多伦多) 闵华庆 (广州) 周立强(北京) 彭淑牖(杭州) Christof von Kalle (海德堡) 牛晓辉(北京) 周清华(成都) 申文江(北京) Xin Shelley Wang (休斯顿) 任 军(北京) 周云峰(武汉) 沈镇宙(上海) Qingyi Wei (休斯顿) 沈关心(武汉) 朱广迎(北京) 宋三泰(北京) Jingyi Zhang(多伦多) 沈 琳(北京) 朱 军(北京) 汤钊猷(上海) 蔡三军(上海) 沈志祥(上海) 王红阳(上海) 陈孝平(武汉) 施琪嘉(武汉) 王鹏志(天津) 陈 元 (武汉) 石远凯(北京) 吴在德(武汉) 程 颖(长春) 师英强(上海) 杨甲梅 (上海) 陈忠华(武汉) 唐丽丽(北京) 范瑞芳 (兰州) 余子豪(北京) 王东民(北京) 曾益新 (广州) 冯威健(北京) 王国斌(武汉) 郑 树(杭州) 傅小龙 (上海)

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

1. Arms and scope

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology is an international professional academic periodical on oncology, being co-edited by China and Germany. The Journal, with the authors from around world, especially from China, is dominated in introducing the clinical experience of diagnosis and treatment as well as leading scientific research achievement in the tumor domain, in addition to report basic theory researches that help instruct the clinical practice of oncology and closely connect with the discipline.

Manuscripts submitted for publication must contain a statement to the effect that all human studies have been reviewed by the appropriate ethics committee and have therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in an appropriate version of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. It should also be stated clearly in the text that all persons gave their informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Details that might disclose the identity of the subjects under study should be omitted.

The editors reserve the right to reject manuscripts that do not comply with the above-mentioned requirements. The author will be held responsible for false statements or for failure to fulfill the above-mentioned requirements.

2. Copyright

Submission of a manuscript implies: that the work described has not been published before (except in form of an abstract or as part of a published lecture, review or thesis); that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere; that its publication has been approved by all co-authors, if any, as well as – tacitly or explicitly – by the responsible authorities at the institution where the work was carried out.

The author warrants that his/her contribution is original and that he/she has full power to make this grant. The author signs for and accepts responsibility for releasing this material on behalf of any and all coauthors. Transfer of copyright to Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer (respective to owner if other than Springer) becomes effective if and when the article is accepted for publication. After submission of the Copyright Transfer Statement signed by the corresponding author, changes of authorship or in the order of the authors listed will not be accepted by Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer. The copyright covers the exclusive right and license (for U.S. government employees: to the extent transferable) to reproduce, publish, distribute and archive the article in all forms and media of expression now known or developed in the future, including reprints, translations, photographic reproductions, microform, electronic form (offline, online) or any other reproductions of similar nature.

All articles published in this journal are protected by copyright, which covers the exclusive rights to reproduce and distribute the article (e.g., as offprints), as well as all translation rights. No material published in this journal may be reproduced photographically or stored on microfilm, in electronic data bases, video



disks, etc., without first obtaining written permission from the publisher (respective the copyright owner if other than Springer). The use of general descriptive names, trade names, trademarks, etc., in this publication, even if not specifically identified, does not imply that these names are not protected by the relevant laws and regulations.

An author may self-archive an author-created version of his/her article on his/her own website. He/she may also deposit this version on his/her institution's and funder's (funder's designated) repository at the funder's request or as a result of a legal obligation, including his/her final version, provided it is not made publicly available until 12 months after official publication. He/she may not use the publisher's PDF version which is posted on www.springerlink.com for the purpose of selfarchiving or deposit. Furthermore, the author may only post his/her version provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication and a link is inserted to the published article on Springer's website. The link must be accompanied by the following text: "The original publication is available at www.springerlink.com".

The author is requested to use the appropriate DOI for the article (go to the Linking Options in the article, then to OpenURL and use the link with the DOI). Articles disseminated via www.springerlink. com are indexed, abstracted and referenced by many abstracting and information services, bibliographic networks, subscription agencies, library networks, and consortia.

While the advice and information in this journal is believed to be true and accurate at the date of its publication, neither the authors, the editors, nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Special regulations for photocopies in the USA: Photocopies may be made for personal or in-house use beyond the limitations stipulated under Section 107 or 108 of U.S. Copyright Law, provided a fee is paid. All fees should be paid to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA, Tel.: +1-978-7508400, Fax: +1-978-6468600, http://www.copyright.com, stating the ISSN of the journal, the volume, and the first and last page numbers of each article copied. The copyright owner's consent does not include copying for general distribution, promotion, new works, or resale. In these cases, specific written permission must first be obtained from the publisher.

The Canada Institute for Scientific and Technical Information (CISTI) provides a comprehensive, worldwide document delivery service for all Springer journals. For more information, or to place an order for a copyright-cleared Springer document, please contact Client Assistant, Document Delivery, CISTI, Ottawa K1A 0S2, Canada (Tel.: +1-613-9939251, Fax: +1-613-9528243, e-mail: cisti.docdel@nrc.ca).

3. Subscription information

ISSN print edition: 1610-1979 ISSN electronic edition: 1613-9089

Subscription rates

For information on subscription rates please contact: Customer Service

North and South America:

journals-ny@springer.com

Outside North and South America:

subscriptions@springer.com

Orders and inquiries

North and South America:

Springer New York, Inc., Journal Fulfillment, P.O. Box 2485, Secaucus, NJ 07096 USA. Tel: 1-800-SPRING-ER or 1-201-348-4033, Fax: 1-201-348-4505, Email: journals-ny@springer.com

Outside North and South America:

Springer Distribution Center, Customer Service Journals, Haberstr. 7, 69126 Heidelberg, Germany. Tel: +49-6221-345-0, Fax: +49-6221-345-4229, Email: subscriptions@springer.com

Cancellations must be received by September 30 to take effect at the end of the same year.

Changes of address: Allow for six weeks for all changes to become effective. All communications should include both old and new addresses (with postal codes) and should be accompanied by a mailing label from a recent issue. According to § 4 Sect. 3 of the German Postal Services Data Protection Regulations, if a subscriber's address changes, the German Federal Post Office can inform the publisher of the new address even if the subscriber has not submitted a formal application for mail to be forwarded. Subscribers not in agreement with this procedure may send a written complaint to Customer Service Journals within 14 days of publication of this issue.

Microform editions are available from: ProQuest. Further information available at http://www.il.proquest. com/uni.

4. Electronic edition

An electronic version is available at springerlink.com.

5. Science communication

Managing directors: DONG Weiguo, XIA Jun Tongji Hospital, Jie Fang Da Dao 1095 430030 Wuhan, China Tel.: +86-27-83662630, Fax: +86-27-83662645 Email: dmedizin@tih.timu.edu.cn

6. Production

Editorial Office of

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology 430030 Wuhan, China Address for courier, express, and registered mail: Jie Fang Da Dao 1095 430030 Wuhan, China Tel.: +86-27-83662630, Fax: +86-27-83662645 Email: dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn **Typesetter:** Editorial Office of Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology **Printer:** Changjiang Spatial Information Technology Engineering Co., Ltd. (Wuhan) Hangce Information Cartorgraphy Printing Filal, Wuhan, China Printed in People's Republic of China

Ownership and copyright © Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg

中德临床肿瘤学杂志

Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology

月刊 1984年9月创刊 2002年3月改刊 第11卷 第7期 2012年7月25日出版

1

名誉主编		
WW.Höpker 吴孟超 孙燕		
主编	目次	
陈安民 于世英 Anthony D. Ho		
常务副主编	373 胸腔背阔肌移位术:恶性胸膜间皮瘤患者胸膜外全肢	肺切
秦叔逵	除术和外放射治疗后为预防支气管胸膜瘘发生的	一项
	可靠技术	
吴一龙 Hanxiang An 邹萍	380 槲皮素对人肺癌细胞株A549化疗药物增敏作用的实	验
编辑部主任 董卫国 夏军	研究	
里上四 发牛	384 术前和术后放疗结合根治性手术在治疗可切除性直线	忆喧
主管单位 : 中华人民共和国教育部		10/18
主办单位 :华中科技大学同济医学院	中的比较研究	
协办单位 :上海先声药业有限公司	391 多环芳烃水平与人类直肠癌、肝癌发生的相关性研究	
江苏恒瑞医药股份有限公司	395 低分割模式腹部X线照射对大鼠肝脏放射生物学效应	Ĺ
湖北一半天制药有限公司	的影响	
编辑出版:《中德临床肿瘤学杂志》编辑部	399 乳头状甲状腺癌不同临床分期术后大剂量 ¹³¹ I治疗效	.果
武汉市解放大道1095号	的比较分析	
同济医院内 邮政编码: 430030	403 98例老年女性早期乳腺癌行改良根治术或单纯全乳	切除
刊 号: ISSN 1610-1979 (Paper)	术的治疗比较	
1613-9089 (Online)	407 乳腺癌腋窝淋巴结清扫术后阴性淋巴结数目的临床近	音 ♥
CN 42-1654/R	411 泰素帝和顺铂联合放疗同步治疗中晚期宫颈癌56例	
印 刷:长江空间信息技术工程有限公司		1716
(武汉)航测信息制印分公司	期疗效分析	
发 行:武汉市邮政局	414 吉西他滨固定速率滴注与30分钟滴注治疗恶性肿瘤的	钓皿
邮政代号 38-121	液学毒性比较	
广告许可证号: 4201004003167	419 盐酸羟考酮控释片治疗晚期癌症疼痛的临床应用	
每册定价¥28.00, \$30.00	422 以右侧髂窝脓肿为首发表现的乙状结肠癌穿孔一例	报道
全年定价¥336.00, \$360.00	425 髋骨釉质细胞瘤:一次困难的诊断	
电话: +86-27-83662630	429 2012癌痛专家中国行在京穗沪三地举行	
传真: +86-27-83662645	432 本刊投稿须知	
Email(1): dmedizin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn	402 本刊2013年征订启事	
Email(2): dmedizin@sina.com		
网址: www.springerlink.com/content/	410 本刊诚聘审稿专家	
1613-9089		
投稿: www.editorialmanager.com/tcgj		

本期责任编辑 夏军 王叶宁 陈静 吴强 本期排版编辑 王文革